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OUR HISTORY

CQUniversity has a unique and interesting history. The University was 

originally founded in Rockhampton in 1967 and was then known as the 

Queensland Institute of Technology (Capricornia). By 1974 it was among 

only a few Australian institutes to begin delivering distance education.

Between 1978 and 1989 further campuses were established in 

Bundaberg, Emerald, Gladstone and Mackay, and in 1992 the Institute 

achieved full university status to become known as Central Queensland 

University. Along with its locations in regional Queensland, CQUniversity 

has also expanded its presence throughout Australia with campuses 

in Adelaide, Brisbane, Noosa, Melbourne and Sydney, study centres 

in Biloela, Yeppoon, Cairns, Perth and Townsville, and delivery sites in 

Edithvale, Cannonvale, Charters Towers, Cooma, Geraldton and Karratha.

On 1 July 2014, CQUniversity merged with Central Queensland TAFE 

to combine 175 years of delivering training and education to the people 

of Central Queensland and beyond. The merger also signalled the 

establishment of Queensland’s fi rst dual sector university, aimed at 

providing a more comprehensive approach to delivering education, 

training and research through its engagement agenda.

WHO WE ARE AND WHAT WE DO

With more than 20 delivery sites and 30 000 students, CQUniversity 

has one of the largest and fastest growing footprints of any university in 

Australia, with plans to open more sites in the future. Our University is 

one of the nation’s most inclusive and, following its merger with CQ TAFE 

in 2014, CQUniversity has become a more comprehensive university, 

opening its doors wider and making university even more accessible 

and relevant to more students from diverse backgrounds. Students 

can choose to study at one of CQUniversity’s many campuses across 

Australia or via distance education.

CQUniversity continues to be a leader in distance education with 

almost half of the total student cohort comprising students studying via 

distance, enabling many in regional and remote areas the opportunity 

of a university education. Compared to other universities, CQUniversity 

is also proud to have the highest ratio of students from mature age, 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander, fi rst-in-family and low socio-economic 

backgrounds. It is because of this that CQUniversity is known as 

Australia’s most inclusive university, defi ned by who it embraces rather 

than who it excludes.

CQUniversity delivers hundreds of education and training qualifi cations 

from certifi cates and diplomas to undergraduate, postgraduate and 

research higher degrees, as well as short courses and access education 

programs. Our students can choose from a variety of qualifi cations 

from areas including trade apprenticeships, business, accounting, 

law, creative and performing arts, education, humanities, engineering 

and built environment, health, information technology and digital 

media, psychology, social work and community services, science and 

environment, and various work and study preparation programs.

Providing positive graduate outcomes is one of CQUniversity’s core 

goals. Qualifi cations are developed alongside industry and based on 

fi rst-class research to equip students with graduate attributes that 

prepare them for the ‘real world’. Our teaching staff are award-winning 

professionals with a practical approach to education, training and 

research, and dedicated to improvement and innovation. CQUniversity 

students also have some of the best graduate outcomes in Australia. 

Recent data from Graduate Careers Australia (GCA) in 2013 indicated that 

CQUniversity’s overall full-time graduate employment rate of 81.1 percent 

was almost 10 percent higher than the national average of 71.3 percent.

CQUniversity has also established itself as a research-focused university, 

and in the 2012 Excellence in Research Australia rankings the University 

was rated at or above world standard in the areas of agriculture, applied 

mathematics, nursing, and medical and health sciences.

Through its delivery of comprehensive training and education, and 

excellent research, CQUniversity is among Australia’s most engaged 

universities, forming valuable partnerships throughout the years with 

government, community, and industry groups in Australia and overseas. 

CQUniversity is a member of the Regional Universities Network, a group 

of six universities working together to make a transformative difference 

to regional Australia and its people.

CQUniversity is committed to providing specialist academic, personal and 

career-oriented support and services to ensure its diverse student cohort 

achieves study success and can ‘be what they want to be’.

OUR HISTORY, WHO WE 
ARE AND WHAT WE DO

O
U

R
 H

IS
T

O
R

Y
, W

H
O

 W
E

 A
R

E
 A

N
D

 W
H

A
T

 W
E

 D
O

CQUniversity Senior Lecturer in Secondary/VET Education, Dr Bill Blayney, 
who started his career in a trade, received his Doctorate in Education at the 
2014 Graduation Ceremony.
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I am pleased to present the Annual Report 2014 for 
CQUniversity. The year has been an exciting one for 
CQUniversity with many high points throughout.

I am particularly pleased to highlight the strong fi nancial 
position of the University in respect of operating surplus, cash 
position and current ratio at year end 2014. This result follows 
decisive action taken in 2013 and since to put the University on 
a more sustainable fi nancial path. The measures taken in 2013, 
in consultation with staff and unions, have been maintained 
and further strengthened in 2014. The projected fi nancial 
position in future years is robust.

On 1 July 2014, Council members, students, staff and 
community members attended celebrations across Central 
Queensland to mark a new era for education and training, as 
CQUniversity merged with CQ TAFE to form Queensland’s fi rst 
comprehensive university.

Going forward, students won’t solely come to CQUniversity 
to complete a degree. Students will come to CQUniversity 
to complete enabling programs that provide them with the 
skills and confi dence to go on to further study; they will come 
to CQUniversity to complete trade certifi cates, diplomas and 
short courses; to study degrees fresh from leaving school; or 
to enrol in postgraduate study to take their career further. They 
will also come to CQUniversity to up-skill, gaining specialised 
qualifi cations in their area of expertise or to set the foundations 
to embark on a career change. And all of our graduates, 
whether they leave CQUniversity with a Bachelor degree, a 
Certifi cate, a Diploma or a PhD, will play an equally important 
role in building communities locally and across the globe.

This past year marks the fi nal term of a number of Council 
members. I thank Mr John Anderson, Ms Sandra Collins and 
Mr Tim Griffi n for their energetic and focused contribution to 
the Council. I would particularly like to express my thanks to Mr 
Charles Ware, who retired as Deputy Chancellor in 2014. Mr 
Ware has made an exceptional contribution to the successful 
governance and operation of the University, which has 
benefi tted enormously as a result of Mr Ware’s wise counsel, 
professionalism, valued contributions and selfl ess dedication 
of time. The University is grateful to the members of Council 
for their contributions to the important task of university 
governance.

With the newly constituted Council, I look forward to 
progressing CQUniversity’s ‘Strong to Great’ strategy and 
vision in becoming one of Australia’s truly great universities 
through partnerships with students, industry, and the 
community.

Mr R C Fritschy
Chancellor

FROM THE 
CHANCELLOR
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AT A GLANCE

More than 100 000 calls 
made to the student 
contact and admissions 
centre

2500 visits to 
2014 open day 
events

11 861 visits to the 
Academic Learning 
Services Centre  

5257 graduates in 2014

11 graduation ceremonies held 
across Australia

2991 staff members

1611 scholarships and 
fi nancial assistance 
grants awarded to 
CQUniversity students

77 000 registered alumni

75 000 online resources in the 
library collection

363 986 books in 
the library collection

393 853 visits to 
CQUniversity libraries 
in 2014

2 new campuses planned for 2015 
(Cairns and Townsville)

5 new distance education 
support sites established 
in 2014 (Townsville, 
Charters Towers, Cooma, 
Perth and Karratha)

A physical presence in 24 
locations across Australia

7855 students located in 
rural and remote areas

1111 
Indigenous 
students

1897 students 
enrolled in 
CQUniversity access 
education programs

4497 
international 
students

12 443 students 
studying by distance 
education

13 401 students 
studying on campus

761 works valued 
at approximately 
$3.18 million in the 
CQUniversity art 
collection

4877 fi rst-in-family 
students studying 
higher education 
qualifi cations

32 609 students studying 
with CQUniversity across the 
national campus footprint
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Without doubt 2014 was a monumental year for CQUniversity. Since 

achieving full university status in 1992, becoming Queensland’s fi rst 

dual sector university through a merger with Central Queensland 

TAFE in July has been the single most defi ning moment in the 

University’s history.

Being a comprehensive university means we can now meet the 

full range of post-school education and training needs ranging from 

Certifi cate I through to Doctorate qualifi cations. It has been very 

exciting to see our student demographic change since the merger to 

now include those studying trades and apprenticeships, and seeing 

our TAFE students graduating alongside our degree students. It was 

also gratifying to welcome to the University many new colleagues—

dedicated staff from CQ TAFE who have become part of the 

CQUniversity family. In so many ways, the merger has transformed 

CQUniversity into a more inclusive and engaging organisation.

For most organisations, a major merger would have been enough 

of a challenge in one year. But not at CQUniversity! In addition to 

adding fi ve new campuses to its footprint by merging with CQ 

TAFE, the University also established fi ve new centres, expanding 

its reach to more than 20 locations. During 2014, we opened sites in 

Townsville, Charters Towers, Cooma, Perth and Karratha to strengthen 

our support for students studying in those locations via distance 

education. Community support in these areas was absolutely 

overwhelming. Small, regional communities such as these are often 

underserved by educational organisations such as universities, so 

CQUniversity has been welcomed with open arms by students, 

business and industry leaders, and local politicians alike. Our model 

of supported distance education continues to exceed expectations, 

and in 2015 our study centres in Townsville and Cairns will expand 

to become full campuses to accommodate our growing student 

numbers in those cities.

Following a year of realignment and repositioning in 2013, the 

University is now realising the benefi ts and fi nancial reward of that 

diffi cult phase. The merger with CQ TAFE substantially increased the 

equity of the University, resulting in a very healthy fi nancial situation 

by the end of 2014.

CQUniversity aims to grow to 50 000 students by 2020, and this 

will be achieved by growing its domestic and international student 

numbers, improving its student completion rates, and expanding 

its presence across Australia. This is certainly an ambitious growth 

agenda, but I am confi dent we have the team at CQUniversity to get 

the job done.

I hope you enjoy reading about what a fantastic year we have had 

at CQUniversity in 2014. In addition to the merger, we achieved so 

much in research, teaching and learning, and Indigenous engagement. 

As well as celebrating the successes of our students and staff, we 

celebrated the fabulous achievements of many of our alumni this year.

It has certainly been a privilege to lead such a dedicated and 

hardworking team through what has been a year of accomplishment 

and success, and I look forward to continuing that journey in 2015.

Professor Scott Bowman
Vice-Chancellor and President

VICE-CHANCELLOR AND 
PRESIDENT’S REVIEW

V
IC

E
-C

H
A

N
C

E
L

L
O

R
 A

N
D

 P
R

E
S

ID
E

N
T

’S
 R

E
V

IE
W

7CQUNIVERSITY AUSTRALIA  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2014



OUR ORGANISATION

CAIRNS

MACKAY

CANNONVALE

TOWNSVILLE

EMERALD

BILOELA

YEPPOON
ROCKHAMPTON

GLADSTONE

BUNDABERG

NOOSA
BRISBANE

SYDNEY

MELBOURNE

ADELAIDE

GERALDTON

PERTH NEW SOUTH WALES

QUEENSLAND

TASMANIA

VICTORIA

SOUTH AUSTRALIA

NORTHERN TERRITORY

WESTERN AUSTRALIA

2

2
2

2

KARRATHA

CHARTERS TOWERS

ACT

COOMA

Following implementation 
of its Regional Leadership 
and Campus Integration 
Model in July, the 
University grouped its 
24 ‘campus’ locations 
into distinct regions. As 
a result, 10 regions were 
established, with two 
additional regions to be 
operational from early 2015.

CAIRNS AND FAR NORTH QUEENSLAND REGION

CQUniversity Cairns distance education study centre
36 Florence Street

Cairns QLD 4870 Phone: +61 7 4031 1572

This was the fi rst of the University’s study centres to be established, 

and in 2014 it continued to offer distance education students in Far 

North Queensland a place to learn, fi nd support, and engage with 

staff and other students. Throughout the year, the centre offered 

current students access to a range of facilities and services, and 

operated as an enquiry centre for prospective students to gain 

face-to-face information about qualifi cations and receive enrolment 

support. 

Residential schools were also held at the centre for selected 

paramedic science courses. The Paramedic Science qualifi cations 

have built strong ties in the local community through their 

partnership with the Queensland Ambulance Service.

In 2014, CQUniversity became the naming rights sponsor of the 

CQUniversity Cairns Taipans basketball team, providing further 

opportunities to engage with current students and the Cairns 

community more generally. 

The appointment of an Associate Vice-Chancellor in September 

and the announcement to expand the centre into a campus in 2015, 

enabling face-to-face delivery of selected courses, was well received 

by the Cairns community. 

CENTRAL HIGHLANDS REGION

CQUniversity Emerald campus
Capricorn Highway

Emerald QLD 4720 Phone: +61 7 4980 7003

Following the merger, CQUniversity Central Highlands became 

the University’s fi rst region to fully integrate its comprehensive 

operations. Formerly a distance education study centre, offering 

limited services, the University’s operations and facilities and those 

of the former CQ TAFE were combined. The campus now supports 

face-to-face as well as distance education from the former CQ TAFE 

Emerald campus.

Boasting a large vocational student base, the Emerald campus was 

again popular with students studying trade-based apprenticeships 

in 2014. The campus also has a growing distance student cohort 

across vocational and higher education qualifi cations: the Bachelor 

of Nursing and STEPS (Skills for Tertiary Education Preparatory 

Studies) program among the most popular.

Operating in the heart of Central Queensland’s resource industry, 

key courses offered during the year were primarily industry-focused 

heavy automotive qualifi cations in mobile plant and road transport, 

automotive electrical, electrical and metal fabrication. Throughout 

the year, ongoing engagement with key stakeholders supported 

educational delivery and ensured that qualifi cations continued to be 

relevant to local industry and business needs.

On-campus student experience and staff culture was a focus during 

2014 to ensure that the available services and facilities encouraged 

participation, engaged learning and social activity among staff and 

students. The University’s presence in the region will continue to 

develop in 2015 and involve greater engagement with all sectors of 

the local community, focussing particularly on tourism, allied health, 

agriculture and engineering.

GLADSTONE REGION 

CQUniversity Gladstone, City campus
Derby Street

Gladstone QLD 4680  Phone: +61 7 4970 7709

CQUniversity Gladstone, Marina campus
Bryan Jordan Drive

Gladstone QLD 4680 Phone: +61 7 4970 7277

CQUniversity, Biloela study centre
64 Valentine Plains Road

Biloela QLD 4715 Phone: +61 7 4992 4477

CQUniversity Gladstone continued to embrace the University’s 

open campus philosophy in 2014, promoting engagement with 

community and industry, and hosting a wide variety of cultural and 

training events throughout the year.

As a result of the merger, the Gladstone region was established 

incorporating the Marina campus, the City campus and the Biloela 

Campus

Campus with dedicated Distance 
Education Study Centre (DESC)

Study Centre 

DESC

Partner Study Hub 

Multiple locations per city are 
indicated with a number.

2
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study centre. Staff and students from the Gladstone City campus 

received multiple awards at the 2014 Queensland Training Awards, 

highlighting the quality of staff and students in the region. 

The region’s engagement strategy led to the development of 

training programs to support Traditional Owners in the Port Curtis 

Coral Coast Traditional Use Marine Resource Area. In addition, the 

region hosted a visiting group from Gwa’sala-’Nakwaxda’xw and 

the Kitasoo-Xai'xais Nations of Coastal British Columbia, Canada 

in a series of workshops with local Traditional Owners, the Great 

Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, and Queensland Parks and 

Wildlife. During these workshops participants shared their experience 

in developing environmental stewardship training and youth 

engagement programs: initiatives which depend on the University’s 

comprehensive education model for their future success.

Strength in the University’s engineering qualifi cations (from 

certifi cate to postgraduate level) was highlighted during the year 

at signifi cant events including the Engineers Australia Central 

Queensland Region Conference hosted on the Gladstone Marina 

campus, and in the announcement that from 2015 the full four years 

of the Bachelor of Engineering will be delivered in the region for the 

fi rst time. This expansion will also allow future delivery of diploma 

pathways from trade to degree qualifi cations.

MACKAY–WHITSUNDAY REGION

CQUniversity Mackay, City campus
Sydney Street

Mackay QLD 4740 Phone: +61 7 4940 3333

CQUniversity Mackay, Ooralea campus
Boundary Road

Mackay QLD 4740 Phone: +61 7 4940 7577

CQUniversity Cannonvale customer service centre
Shute Harbour Road

Cannonvale QLD 4802 Phone: +61 7 4940 2777

In 2014, CQUniversity transformed education and training in 

the Mackay–Whitsunday region exponentially through new 

comprehensive offerings, providing high-quality education from 

pre-apprenticeship to doctoral level.

Now a multi-campus city, Mackay has forged ahead with 

developments at its City and Ooralea campuses to provide specialised 

training aligned with industry needs. Through its multi-million dollar 

Trades Training Centre, the Ooralea campus now offers education 

and training tailored to the mining and resource industry, as well as 

other local industries. Set to further boost the University’s engineering 

offerings into the future, construction began in 2014 on a $16.6 million 

Engineering Precinct located alongside the Trades Training Centre.

CQUniversity’s Cannonvale customer service centre, hosted by 

TAFE Queensland’s North Cannonvale campus, continued to provide 

support to CQUniversity students studying in the Whitsundays in 2014.

Looking ahead, the Mackay–Whitsunday region plans to revitalise 

the City campus to deliver high-quality nursing and midwifery 

qualifi cations, and expanded vocational education and training across 

education, beauty, fi tness, hospitality, business and law.

NEW SOUTH WALES REGION

CQUniversity Sydney campus
400 Kent Street

Sydney NSW 2000 Phone: +61 2 9324 5000

Cooma Universities centre
38 Bombala Street

Cooma NSW 2630 Phone: +61 2 6452 3368

CQUniversity Sydney is located in the heart of the city, providing 

easy access for international and domestic students to enjoy the 

diverse and vibrant campus life. With the presence of a distance 

education study centre, the Sydney campus continued to support 

students in the greater Sydney region. CQUniversity Sydney is truly 

multicultural and is proud to provide education to students from 

more than 50 nationalities worldwide. 

In 2014 the Sydney campus celebrated its 20th anniversary after 

progressing from small beginnings in 1994 to the present, offering 

qualifi cations from diploma to doctoral level and plans to deliver 

new vocational qualifi cations in 2015.

In March 2014, CQUniversity Sydney began delivering chiropractic 

studies with 10 chiropractic beds and state-of-the-art video 

equipment. Also for the fi rst time in 2014, the campus delivered the 

STEPS access education program to provide an alternate pathway 

for students seeking to study at university. The campus plans to 

further increase its enrolments in 2015 by introducing a podiatry 

qualifi cation to complement existing allied health courses.

CQUniversity Sydney continued its strong commitment to 

engagement throughout 2014 across a range of activities. Projects 

undertaken by staff and students included volunteer work at the 

Redfern Literacy centre and, for the seventh consecutive year, 

the Sydney campus acted as a tax help centre, where students 

volunteered to provide free and confi dential services to assist low-

income earners (including other CQUniversity students) to complete 

their tax returns. 

ROCKHAMPTON REGION

CQUniversity Rockhampton, City campus
Canning Street

Rockhampton QLD 4700 Phone: +61 7 4930 9777

CQUniversity Rockhampton, North campus
Bruce Highway

North Rockhampton QLD 4702 Phone: +61 7 4930 9777

CQUniversity Yeppoon study centre
26 Tabone Street

Yeppoon QLD 4703 Phone: +61 7 4925 0333

With many key University personnel and operations located in 

Rockhampton, the Rockhampton region staff played a signifi cant 

role in the merger between CQUniversity and CQ TAFE. 

In parallel with the merger, engagement with the local community 

fl ourished in 2014. This year marked the launch of the Healthy Ageing 

Alliance, a professional development alliance involving Centacare, 

CQUniversity and Mercy Aged Care Services. The alliance will provide 

training and work-related learning opportunities for staff employed 

at all levels in the residential, aged, and community care industries in 

Central Queensland.

CQUniversity Rockhampton continued to forge links with local 

schools through a range of innovative initiatives including the 

Belmont Agriculture Education Alliance, a partnership with AgForce 

and the Rockhampton Grammar School to establish an outstanding 

agricultural education and research hub.

At the CQUniversity Rockhampton City campus, Willby’s Training 

Restaurant hosted a range of functions and events, including a 

‘Women in Leadership’ breakfast with special guest, Parliamentary 

Speaker, The Honorable Bronwyn Bishop. The restaurant also hosted 

the Federal Government’s ‘A More Skilled Labour Force’ roundtable 

chaired by Assistant Minister for Education, The Honorable Sussan 

Ley MP.  This roundtable provided CQUniversity, as Queensland’s fi rst 

dual sector university, a signifi cant opportunity for direct input into 

discussions on workforce skills.
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CQUniversity Rockhampton North hosted the National Roundtable on 

Indigenous Access Education, as part of the national research project, 

'Best practice bridging: facilitating Indigenous participation through 

regional dual sector universities’. The campus also played host 

to the inaugural ‘CQUni Creates’ exhibition to celebrate the 

exceptional artistic creativity of students and staff across 

Queensland’s fi rst comprehensive university.

SOUTH EAST QUEENSLAND REGION

CQUniversity Brisbane campus
160 Ann Street

Brisbane QLD 4000 

Phone: +61 7 3295 1188

CQUniversity Noosa campus
90 Goodchap Street

Noosaville QLD 4566 

Phone: +61 7 5440 7000

The South East Queensland region, 

with campuses at Brisbane and 

Noosa, supports approximately 1800 

international and domestic on-campus 

students and 3300 distance education 

students. Undergraduate and postgraduate 

qualifi cations are available in the region, which 

plans to deliver vocational training in 2015. The STEPS program 

is delivered at both campuses, while English language intensive 

courses for overseas students (ELICOS) are delivered in Brisbane.

The Noosa campus has established itself as a research-intensive 

campus, hosting fi ve professors and approximately 70 research 

higher degree students. During 2014, academic staff in the region 

received an Australian Research Council (ARC) linkage grant, as well 

as a number of awards for outstanding contributions to learning, 

teaching and research.

In 2014, the Bachelor of Science (Chiropractic) was launched in 

Brisbane, and the new Bachelor of Digital Media was introduced 

at both campuses. Noosa campus also introduced the Bachelor of 

Education, replacing the Bachelor of Learning Management.

The region is actively engaged in University-wide, regional, 

national and international activities. Brisbane campus hosted the 

University’s Senior Leadership Conference and hosted a range 

of community and professional groups, including Chiropractors 

Association of Australia (Queensland) and the World Congress of 

Chiropractic Students (Asia Pacifi c). 

Noosa hosted a successful series of training and networking events 

for research higher degree students, drawing participants from the 

Gold Coast to Bundaberg. Noosa campus staff were also active in the 

textbook publishing space, with several serving as judges annually 

for the Australian Publishing Awards in the textbook division. The 

campus was also a hub for local and regional engagement for those 

working on sustainability through the Noosa Biosphere Reserve, and 

in the arts though work with the Sydney Theatre Company and other 

national arts organisations.

TOWNSVILLE AND NORTH WEST QUEENSLAND 
REGION

CQUniversity Townsville distance education study centre
1 Jones Street

Townsville QLD 4810 Phone: +61 7 4721 6777

CQUniversity Charters Towers study hub
Dalrymple Trade Training Centre

1–13 MacPherson Street

Charters Towers QLD 4820 Phone: +61 7 4788 2600

CQUniversity established the Townsville distance education study 

centre in 2014 to support over 500 students in the region studying 

via distance education. The centre was opened on 12 September 

2014, and was received by the community as a welcome addition to 

education provision in the city’s CBD.

Modelled on the success of the Cairns distance education study 

centre, the Townsville centre also offered a range of services and 

facilities to support the University’s distance education students. 

Over 300 students attended the centre in the fi rst 10 weeks to 

enquire about qualifi cations and for individual or group study.

A tertiary education facility in Charters Towers was also established 

in 2014, thanks to a partnership with the Dalrymple Trade Training 

Centre. The Charters Towers study hub has library access, study 

facilities and serves as a meeting point for CQUniversity students. 

CQUniversity’s presence in Townsville is expected to continue in 

2015 with plans to establish a new campus adjacent to the Townsville 

distance education study centre to cater for growth in the region.

VICTORIA REGION 

CQUniversity Melbourne campus
108 Lonsdale Street

Melbourne VIC 3000 Phone: +61 3 8662 0555

Edithvale campus
256 Station Street

Edithvale VIC 3196 Phone: +61 3 9772 3409

In 2014, the Victoria region increased its international and domestic 

on-campus student numbers, across two campuses, and its distance 

education student numbers in the region. 

Closer links between the vocational business, Train@ CQUniversity, 

and the Higher Education Division resulted in a number of students 

articulating from vocational diploma to nursing degrees. The Train@ 

CQUniversity staff team now span the Edithvale and Melbourne CBD 

campuses, enabling greater collaboration across all endeavours.

CAIRNS

MACKAY

CANNONVALE

TOWNSVILLE

EMERALD

BILOELA

YEPPOON
ROCKHAMPTON

GLADSTONE

BUNDABERG

NOOSA
BRISBANE

SYDNEY

MELBOURNE

ADELAIDE

GERALDTON

PERTH NEW SOUTH WALES

QUEENSLAND

TASMANIA

VICTORIA

SOUTH AUSTRALIA

NORTHERN TERRITORY

WESTERN AUSTRALIA

2

2
2

2

KARRATHA

CHARTERS TOWERS

ACT

COOMA
Campus

Campus with dedicated Distance 
Education Study Centre (DESC)

Study Centre 

DESC

Partner Study Hub 

Multiple locations per city are 
indicated with a number.

2
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International students continued to be the focus for much of the 

on-campus delivery at the CBD campus with solid growth in ELICOS 

and postgraduate students. The student profi le is gradually changing 

to larger numbers of students from South East Asia and South 

America, while still strong in students from the sub-continent. This 

cultural diversity contributes to a rich mix of social activities shown 

through the celebration of cultural days throughout the year. 

On-campus support activities continued to focus heavily on career 

support and additional English language programs to assist 

students in workplace transition. The Melbourne campus played a 

lead role in social innovation and volunteering activities to provide 

students with job-ready skills, with students this year participating in 

a range of volunteering activities with the City of Melbourne, Clean 

Up Australia Day and Conservation Volunteers.

Plans are underway to relocate Campus staff and students in 2015 

to new premises at Spencer Street, which will include enhanced 

teaching facilities and greater scope for student social space and 

informal collaboration facilities.

WIDE BAY BURNETT REGION

CQUniversity Bundaberg campus
University Drive

Bundaberg QLD 4670 Phone: +61 7 4150 7177

CQUniversity Bundaberg continued to realise its vision of supporting 

resilient communities with various activities throughout 2014, including 

the valuable role that staff played in the ‘Creative Regions Afl oat’ 

project, supporting recovery from natural disaster through the arts.

Qualifi cations offered in the Wide Bay Burnett region in 2014 

continued to be successful with growth in core areas such as 

nursing, education, physiotherapy, occupational therapy and 

engineering. The Bundaberg campus was also successful in securing 

the delivery of the full Engineering Degree and University funding to 

develop infrastructure to support new qualifi cations.

The Campus Life Committee was extremely active with staff and 

students organising activities throughout the year with a particular 

focus on health and wellbeing.

Being part of a comprehensive University led to strengthened links 

with the East Coast TAFE campus. This has been particularly evident 

in nursing and education, where the Wide Bay Burnett region is 

pursuing collaborative teaching opportunities, and in leveraging 

the Streamlined Visa Partnership with East Coast TAFE to recruit 

international students to the region.

Internationalisation was also central to other initiatives in Bundaberg 

with CQUniversity taking a lead in facilitating the start of a study 

cluster ‘Study Bundaberg and Fraser Coast’ in conjunction with Trade 

and Investment Queensland, East Coast TAFE and all public and 

private high schools in the region. A relationship with Bundaberg’s 

sister city Nanning was also established, with the campus expecting 

to host a study tour from Guanxi University in 2015.

Research continued to expand in areas of strength including 

horticulture, community resilience, distance education and 

responses to problem gambling. Over 50 peer reviewed outputs 

were generated by Bundaberg academics in 2014, and close to $1 

million in Categories 1 and 2 research funding was awarded.

OTHER LOCATIONS 

In 2015 two new regions will be established: the South Australia 

region, which will include CQUniversity Adelaide, and the Western 

Australia region, which will encompass the Geraldton Universities 

centre, the Karratha study hub and the Perth distance education centre.

CQUniversity Adelaide campus
44 Greenhill Road

Wayville SA 5034 Phone: +61 8 8378 4523

CQUniversity Adelaide houses the Appleton Institute, a 

multidisciplinary research hub, specialising in research, teaching and 

community engagement in a wide range of areas including safety 

science, sleep and fatigue, human factors and safety management, 

applied psychology, human–animal interaction and cultural 

anthropology. The campus has directly supported undergraduate 

and research students since its offi cial launch in 2013, where it 

welcomed a 30-strong team dedicated to driving research excellence 

at CQUniversity. 

In 2014, staff at the Adelaide campus gained signifi cant research 

funding and contributed to innovative advancements in a variety 

of specialised research topics, nationally and internationally. Staff 

at the Adelaide campus have also contributed to raising the profi le 

of CQUniversity’s expertise in emergency services, fatigue risk 

management, occupational health and safety, psychology, rail safety 

investigation and safety science.

Geraldton Universities centre 
33 Onslow Street

Geraldton WA 6530 Phone: +61 8 9920 4400

The Geraldton Universities centre celebrated a year of growth, 

increasing its building capacity in 2014 to cater for more CQUniversity 

students. Since its partnership began with the Geraldton Universities 

centre in 2011, CQUniversity has grown its numbers in Geraldton 

from just eight part-time business students to more than 100 

students studying a range of qualifi cations in education, accounting, 

business, psychology, and in the STEPS program. 

Students are enrolled as 'distance students' with CQUniversity, 

but receive face-to-face academic tutorials as well as pastoral and 

administrative support from the centre. 

Karratha study hub
Lot 2598 Dampier Highway

Karratha WA 6714 Phone: +61 1300 304 244

In November 2014, the Karratha study hub was formed in 

partnership with the Pilbara Institute. The hub is a space for 

CQUniversity students to use facilities including a computer 

laboratory and study zones, and to explore CQUniversity’s 

comprehensive training options, while being supported in their 

studies. The study hub is part of CQUniversity’s commitment to 

expand its physical presence across Australia to support distance 

education students and to attract new students.

Perth distance education centre
10 Victoria Avenue

Perth WA 6000 Phone: +61 8 6161 9363

The Perth distance education study centre was formed in 

partnership with the Cantillon Institute, a CBD-based registered 

training organisation (RTO) established by CQUniversity alumnus, 

Parampreet Singh. Located in a newly refurbished building, the 

centre was opened in 2014 to support CQUniversity's cohort of 

distance education students who reside in the Perth region. Students 

receive face-to-face support, study resources and enhanced access 

to university systems.
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CQUNIVERSITY DIVISIONS

VICE-CHANCELLOR AND PRESIDENT’S DIVISION

The Vice-Chancellor and President’s Division comprises the Vice-

Chancellor’s Offi ce of senior advisory and administrative personnel; the 

Audit and Advisory Directorate; and the University’s Art Curator, who 

manages CQUniversity’s art collection. The Student Ombudsman also 

reports to the Vice-Chancellor and President’s Offi ce for administrative 

purposes, but functions separately as an independent review offi cer.

A major focus for the Vice-Chancellor’s Offi ce throughout 2014 was 

the Federal Government’s proposed budget reforms, which signalled 

signifi cant potential changes to the way Australian universities are 

funded. Although the Government has not yet implemented its proposed 

changes, like all Australian universities, this Offi ce will continue to closely 

monitor the situation in 2015.

In October 2014 the Vice-Chancellor and President began his role as 

appointee to the Prime Minister’s Northern Australia Advisory Group, 

which provides expert advice on developing northern Australia to 

members of a Strategic Partnership. The Partnership includes the Prime 

Minister, Deputy Prime Minister, the Premiers of Queensland and 

Western Australia, and the Chief Minister of the Northern Territory. 

Along with all other areas of the University, the Vice-Chancellor’s Offi ce 

prepared for the merger with CQ TAFE, implementing new procedures 

and processes to ensure the Division’s operations worked effectively in 

the newly integrated organisation. One of the more creative highlights 

of the merger was the highly successful ‘CQUni Creates’ exhibition, 

a celebration of the creativity of Queensland’s fi rst comprehensive 

university. Students, staff and alumni of CQUniversity and CQ TAFE 

contributed beautiful art pieces for the exhibition, which travelled 

to Rockhampton, Mackay, Bundaberg and Gladstone campuses, 

demonstrating one of the many ways in which our comprehensive 

university has and will continue to engage with students, alumni, staff 

and local communities.

Thirty-four new works of art, valued at approximately $31 000, were 

acquired for the CQUniversity art collection during 2014, bringing the total 

collection to 761 works valued at $3.18 million. Wilby’s, the Hospitality 

Training Restaurant at CQUniversity Rockhampton City campus (formerly 

CQ TAFE), installed a small exhibition area for visual arts staff and students’ 

works. The new Townsville study centre received several works by 

Townsville artists, and the Bundaberg campus received a vibrant painting 

by Gladstone artist, Geoff Head. At its Sydney campus, CQUniversity 

received a large canvas, ‘Yam seed dreaming’, by Jeannie Long Petyarre, 

adding to the campus’ distinctive collection of paintings by Indigenous 

female artists from Utopia in the Central Desert, Northern Territory.

In addition to its annual audit schedule, the Audit and Advisory Directorate 

expanded its audit program in the second half of 2014 to include audits 

of the TAFE business, such as reviews of salary expenditure, and 

conducted visits to the University Gladstone and Mackay campuses 

(formerly of CQ TAFE). Other audit activities conducted through the year 

include the Student System Implementation project; Education Services 

for Overseas Students Act compliance; procurement and tendering 

processes; and grant fund management.

The Vice-Chancellor’s Offi ce continued to support many strategic activities 

and sponsorships throughout 2014 including securing the naming rights 

for the CQUniversity Cairns Taipans and their Academy program, which 

supports young, talented basketball players studying with CQUniversity 

whilst pursuing their basketball career. CQUniversity offers annual 

scholarships for Taipans Academy players to study at the Cairns distance 

education study centre, with funding allocated to meet study expenses such 

as text books, laptops, software, study-related travel and accommodation.

HIGHER EDUCATION DIVISION

The Higher Education Division comprises the Offi ce of Learning and 

Teaching, the Offi ce of Research Services, the Offi ce of Indigenous 

Engagement, and the six Schools:

 » Business and Law

 » Education and the Arts

 » Engineering and Technology

 » Human, Health and Social Sciences

 » Medical and Applied Sciences, and

 » Nursing and Midwifery.

The Division’s mission is to grow engaged research and improve the 

quality of teaching and learning across CQUniversity. The Division has a 

particular focus on quality and inclusive education to maximise student 

success, research-led teaching, and fostering a research culture.

Committed to attracting and retaining more students and increasing 

research funding and performance outcomes, the Division takes a 

leadership role in professional development for teachers, researchers, 

and supervisors in higher education.

The Higher Education Division works in partnership with other divisions 

to achieve the University’s goals in engagement, learning and teaching, 

and research and innovation. Details of the Division’s activities and 

achievements in 2014 are included in the ‘Review of Our Performance’ 

chapter of this report. 

INTERNATIONAL AND SERVICES DIVISION

The International and Services Division helps CQUniversity to maintain 

its position as one of the largest, highly service-oriented and truly 

engagement-driven universities in Australia through its diverse corporate 

service functions. Directorates within this portfolio include some of 

CQUniversity’s major revenue drivers and cost centres, which infl uences 

and supports the entire University operation in partnership with internal 

colleagues and external organisations. The Division consists of the 

following areas:

 » Marketing

 » International

 » Facilities Management

 » Information and Technology (including Library Services)

 » People and Culture, and

 » various commercial and retail functions.

In 2014, the Division planned and implemented major infrastructure and 

building projects, largely funded by the Commonwealth Government, to 

support the University’s transition to a comprehensive university model. 

Major building construction and refurbishment projects were begun in 

Rockhampton and Mackay during 2014, as well as multiple information 

technology projects across CQUniversity to install new or integrate 

existing IT systems and to upgrade ICT infrastructure to ensure the 

merger’s success. Some projects will continue into 2015, including the 

Division’s ongoing training agenda to support staff and students with the 

new systems.

The Division’s People and Culture and Marketing Directorates also 

implemented major projects to support the merger, including the transfer 

and integration of over 400 CQ TAFE staff into a new organisational 

structure; the review of related policies and procedures; and the 

inclusion of vocational education and training (VET) into every aspect of 

CQUniversity’s marketing agenda. CQUniversity continued to experience 

strong growth in domestic and international marketing activities in 2014, 

and introduced new ways of operating in a sophisticated digital market. 

Importantly, CQUniversity launched fi ve new study hubs and centres 

across Australia though various marketing campaigns.
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INDUSTRY, VOCATIONAL TRAINING AND ACCESS 
EDUCATION DIVISION

In 2014, the Industry, Vocational Training and Access Education Division 

led the CQUniversity’s historic merger with CQ TAFE, establishing 

Queensland’s fi rst comprehensive dual sector university. With 

Commonwealth Government funding of almost $74 million, the Division 

established a project management offi ce, and funded operations across 

all areas of the University to manage and support merger-related projects. 

The merger also resulted in the transfer of $120 million of Queensland 

State assets. A key initiative led by the Division was the Academic 

Unifi cation Project, aimed at creating a new academic governance 

structure and policies, and increasing pathways between higher 

education and vocational education and training qualifi cations to improve 

student access to all levels of education at CQUniversity. Details of the 

Division’s activities and achievements in 2014 are included in the ‘Review 

of Our Performance’ chapter of this report.

In 2014, the Division’s major focus was to establish the University as a 

publically-funded VET provider, through its merger with CQ TAFE, and 

continue to expand Train@ CQUniversity’s offerings and operations as 

the University’s private VET provider. In July, CQUniversity became a 

registered training provider (no. 40939) under the National VET Regulator 

Act 2011, and is now listed on the National Register of Training Providers. 

Since the merger the Division incorporates the following directorates and 

units: 

 » TAFE Directorate

 » Business Development and Industry Engagement Directorate 

(including the Vocational Mining School)

 » Academic Learning Services Unit

 » Business Performance Directorate

 » Vocational Quality Unit 

 » VET Research, and

 » Train@ CQUniversity (which is governed by a Board separately to the 

Division).

The TAFE Directorate is led by the Pro Vice-Chancellor (TAFE), Dr Greg 

McMillan, and incorporates two schools:

 » Vocational School of Engineering and Trades, and

 » Vocational School of Business and Humanities.

ENGAGEMENT AND CAMPUSES DIVISION

The Engagement and Campuses Division, responsible for providing 

leadership across all 24 University locations, embraced the merger as 

an opportunity to integrate and strengthen management structures. This 

not only guided the University through a major organisational change, 

but also created a solid foundation to establish CQUniversity as a truly 

comprehensive, national university. To this end, the Division launched the 

Regional Leadership and Campus Integration Model simultaneous to the 

merger in July. Its aim was to guide all locations in working collaboratively 

to achieve university-wide strategic and operational objectives, whilst 

maximising local opportunities and experience. 

To support this new model, 10 Associate Vice-Chancellors were 

appointed, each within an identifi ed region across the University’s 

footprint. The Associate Vice-Chancellors are responsible for developing 

and promoting a unique strategy, maintaining a positive campus culture 

and student experience, driving engagement and identifying growth and 

development opportunities. This new region-based structure enabled 

development of a clear strategic vision for each of CQUniversity’s unique 

locations and more collaborative interactions to better support learning 

and teaching, research and service provision across each region.

The Development and Alumni Relations Directorate, which also forms 

part of the Engagement and Campuses Division, continued to build and 

strengthen mutually benefi cial partnerships with internal and external 

stakeholders in 2014, as well as providing CQUniversity alumni with a 

strong connection to the University.

As CQUniversity continues to grow its vast footprint engagement with local 

industry, business and community will be at the forefront of the Division’s 

operations to drive CQUniversity’s ‘Strong to Great’ journey in 2015. 

STUDENT EXPERIENCE AND GOVERNANCE DIVISION

The Division has three core areas of responsibility that signifi cantly contribute 

to the broader University and are structured into three directorates:

 » Student Experience and Communications Directorate

 » Student Residences Directorate, and

 » Governance Directorate.

The University is experiencing an exciting growth period with student 

numbers increasing to around 35 000 following its merger with CQ TAFE, 

and this poses diverse challenges and opportunities for the Division. As 

part of a comprehensive university, the Division is committed to leading 

the way in growing student numbers and contributing to student success.

The Student Experience and Communications Directorate oversees 

student advice and services, equity and access, corporate 

communications, and corporate and graduation events. The Directorate 

leads the way in providing a compelling and positive student experience, 

and has implemented various initiatives to contribute to student success. 

Student focus groups meet on a regular basis enabling progress to be 

tracked against a range of measures and for the Division to identify 

emerging issues as they arise. Participants represent the full diversity of 

the student body, including students who identify as on-campus, distance, 

domestic, international, school leaver, mature age, regional, metropolitan, 

Indigenous and fi rst-in-family. 

Reducing the University’s attrition rate is an important focus for the 

Division, as attrition hinders the student experience. ‘Succeed at 

CQUniversity’, a partnership with education services provider Hobsons 

aimed at improving student retention, was implemented in June 2014. 

Positive impacts of this program on student retention will be tracked 

year-on-year as it progresses; anecdotally, the program is already having 

a positive impact on student engagement with the University and initial 

signs of its success are encouraging. 

The Student Residences Directorate manages the CQUniversity student 

residences in Rockhampton and Mackay, promotes these facilities 

to potential students and manages the day-to-day operations of each 

student residence. The Directorate also plays a vital role in providing 

support to those students living on campus, and ensuring their safety 

and wellbeing while there. Through its ‘Earning While Learning’ initiative, 

the Directorate assists a number of students to undertake casual, paid 

work at the student residences in areas such as administration, catering 

and maintenance, offering these students a valuable opportunity to earn 

an income and gain work experience while completing their studies. 

Following the merger, the Directorate is now able to offer student 

residence facilities to students studying TAFE courses away from home.

The Governance Directorate continues to manage all matters related 

to University policy, procedures and compliance, including student 

governance and graduation governance, and provides essential support 

to the University’s corporate and academic governance committees. The 

Directorate also plays a vital role in supporting the CQUniversity Council 

and its members to undertake their strategic, decision-making role.

To become a university that delivers the best student experience 

possible, as well as driving effective governance standards, the years 

ahead will see the Student Experience and Governance Division 

collaborate closely with all areas of the University to create synergies and 

to empower people.
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FINANCIAL SERVICES DIVISION

The Division comprises fi ve main functions: fi nancial accounts, 

management accounts and budget, strategic planning, risk, and business 

intelligence. A key responsibility is to generate reports on CQUniversity’s 

past performance, as well as predictive reports on its future strategic 

and fi nancial directions, for the University Council and executive 

management. The Division is also responsible for providing reports 

to external stakeholders, ensuring compliance with the University’s 

statutory authority obligations and the management of risk, and works 

closely with CQUniversity’s other divisions.

During 2014, the Division underwent a number of changes, including the 

appointment of Ms Narelle Pearse as Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Finance and 

Planning) in February. Following the merger in July, the Division expanded, 

with former CQ TAFE staff joining the Division. The Division also focused 

on continuous improvement throughout the year, including a review of its 

fi nancial reporting to management and the introduction of an improved 

structure. Revised budget principles were also introduced, along with a 

new integrated forecasting system, and this will continue in 2015.

The Business Intelligence team moved into the Division in the second 

half of 2014 to better align the reporting and forecasting functions with 

the team responsible for the underlying systems. The forecasting model 

was reviewed later in the year, and improvements were implemented to 

provide a stronger, more robust but less labour-intensive system.

The merger with CQ TAFE was a major focus of the Division earlier in 

the year in terms of ensuring the University’s fi nance systems would 

seamlessly integrate on ‘day 1’. The Division’s partnership with the 

Information and Technology Directorate to achieve integration proved a great 

success. The second half of the year focused on the day-to-day integration 

of systems and processes, as well as new reporting requirements from the 

State Government in regard to the University’s TAFE operations.

The University’s Strategic Plan was also reviewed in the context of the 

new comprehensive university model, and a revised plan out to 2020 

was approved at the end of 2014. The Strategic Plan will be reviewed 

as an ongoing process in 2015, in close consultation with the University 

Council. Continuous improvement, the review of current fi nance 

processes, and the implementation of new and improved fi nancial 

systems will be important areas of focus for the Division in 2015, as well 

as the potential introduction of deregulation into the University sector. 

Edward Kasamba – MBA, 2013

‘I enrolled in an MBA at CQUni's Rockhampton campus, but later transferred 
to the Brisbane campus to complete my studies.

During my studies, I was selected to be a student mentor. I helped my 
fellow students, and developed skills like leadership, and organisational 

and people management. I was also appointed as team leader for our team 
for the 2013 Chancellor's Cup. I played Soccer and Cricket for the Brisbane 

campus squad! I extended my horizons further by becoming a Brisbane 
International Student Ambassador (BISA), representing CQUni and my 

country (Uganda).

My journey as an MBA student was one my most fulfi lling experiences so far.’

For the past three years, Aidan Booth has divided his time between CQ 
TAFE and CQUniversity on his dream pathway to becoming Central 
Queensland's newest master chef.

The North Rockhampton teenager began a traineeship employed at 
CQUniversity's Student Residences in 2011, after a successful work 
experience placement at the busy kitchens. ‘I found out I really loved it!’ 
Aidan said.

This discovery made Aidan determined to develop his skills, and this year 
he qualifi ed as a chef, earning a Certifi cate III in Hospitality (Commercial 
Cookery) from CQ TAFE and congratulations from Jenny Roberts, Deputy 
Vice-Chancellor (Student Experience and Governance).
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From left: Mr Alastair Dawson, Professor Hilary Winchester, Professor Scott Bowman, Ms Narelle Pearse, Professor Pierre Viljoen, Ms Jenny Roberts, Mr Nik Babovic

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT 

As at 31 December 2014

PROVOST

DEPUTY 
VICE-CHANCELLOR 

(INTERNATIONAL AND 
SERVICES)

DEPUTY 
VICE-CHANCELLOR 

(INDUSTRY, VOCATIONAL 
TRAINING AND ACCESS 

EDUCATION)

DEPUTY 
VICE-CHANCELLOR 

(ENGAGEMENT AND 
CAMPUSES AND 

MACKAY–WHITSUNDAY 
REGION)

DEPUTY 
VICE-CHANCELLOR 

(STUDENT EXPERIENCE 
AND GOVERNANCE)

DEPUTY 
VICE-CHANCELLOR 

(FINANCE AND 
PLANNING)

Professor 
Hilary Winchester

Mr Alastair Dawson Mr Nik Babovic Professor Pierre Viljoen Ms Jenny Roberts Ms Narelle Pearse

Higher Education 
Division

International and 
Services Division

Industry, Vocational 
Training and Access 
Education Division

Engagement and 
Campuses Division

Student Experience and 
Governance Division

Financial Services 
Division

VICE-CHANCELLOR AND PRESIDENT

Professor Scott Bowman

VICE-CHANCELLOR AND PRESIDENT

Professor Scott Bowman
TDCR, DCR, HDCR CollRadiog, FAETC City&Guilds, MArts GuildHall, 

MBusAdmin USC, PhD OpenUK, FAIM, FQAAS

The Vice-Chancellor and President, Professor Bowman, is the University’s 

Chief Executive Offi cer. Professor Bowman works in collaboration with 

the University Council, of which he is a member, and also with a wide 

range of internal and external stakeholders to provide overall leadership 

and direction for the University. Appointed by the University Council, the 

Vice-Chancellor and President is responsible to the Council, through the 

Chancellor, for leading and managing the University, and he is supported 

in this task by the University executive, comprising the following 

executive members of staff (below).

Professor Bowman began his professional life as a radiographer. As 

well as professional qualifi cations, he holds master’s degrees in Politics 

and Business Administration. He undertook a PhD in the fi eld of clinical 

decision-making. Before moving to Australia he worked at South Bank 

University and St Martins College, Lancaster. In Australia Professor 

Bowman has held senior positions at Charles Sturt University, the 

University of South Australia and James Cook University. In August 2009, 

he was appointed CQUniversity’s Vice-Chancellor and President, and in 

this position he has led an ambitious program of renewal aimed at making 

CQUniversity ‘Australia’s most engaged university’. Under his leadership 

the University became Queensland’s fi rst dual sector university on 1 July 

2014 through a merger with CQ TAFE.

PROVOST 

Professor Hilary Winchester
MA, D.Phil Oxen FAICD

As Provost, Professor Winchester is responsible for driving the 

University's academic and research strategic and operational 

agendas. Professor Winchester provides executive leadership to 
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whole-of-university strategy; operational plans and policy; and their 

associated planning, implementation, and management. Professor 

Winchester oversights and implements relevant organisational systems 

and quality assurance, budget allocation and management across the 

Division; oversees associated line management of key functional and 

business units; and facilitates communication, team work and collegial 

management among the members of the senior executive team.

Commencing at CQUniversity as Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Academic 

and Research) in 2012, Professor Winchester’s role expanded to include 

the Higher Education Division the following year. Appointed as Provost 

in 2014, her portfolio now includes learning and teaching, research and 

innovation, Indigenous engagement, and all six higher education schools.

Professor Winchester has held roles as Pro Vice-Chancellor (Strategy 

and Planning) at the University of South Australia; Pro Vice-Chancellor 

(Academic) at Flinders; and President of the Academic Senate at the 

University of Newcastle. Professor Winchester was an auditor for the 

Australian Universities Quality Agency for 10 years; has been a panel 

member for the Australian Research Council; and an assessor for the 

Australian Learning and Teaching Council. From 2010, she has managed 

her own company specialising in audit, review, registration, and quality 

assurance processes; is currently an international assessor for Hong 

Kong, Bahrain, New Zealand, Saudi Arabia, and the United Arab Emirates; 

and has audited several Australian universities for ESOS compliance.

Professor Winchester holds undergraduate and postgraduate degrees 

from the University of Oxford and has a background in social geography 

with a particular emphasis on migrant and marginal groups. She is 

an accomplished author and in 2011 received the Australian Higher 

Education Quality Award.

DEPUTY VICE-CHANCELLOR (INTERNATIONAL AND 
SERVICES) 

Mr Alastair Dawson
BA DDIAE, MBA CQU, MAICD, FAIM

The Deputy Vice-Chancellor (International and Services) is responsible 

for oversight and strategic management of the facilities and services that 

support the University’s overall operations, and is responsible as part of 

the senior executive for strategic planning, various commercial operations 

and leadership of the key business operations for the University. The 

University Services portfolio comprises the directorates of Marketing, 

Facilities Management, People and Culture, Information and Technology, 

and Commercial Services. The International portfolio incorporates 

responsibility for managing the University’s global operations, including 

recruitment, education delivery, compliance, and government relations 

through embassies across the globe. The University’s renewal and 

development agenda aims to improve service delivery through improved 

facilities and technology, better practice, and increased market share 

across a large multi-city university campus structure. The University 

Services and International portfolios plays a critical role in ensuring that 

this is delivered.

Before his appointment to the University, Mr Dawson has had extensive 

experience in leading capital-intensive, complex community-linked 

organisations, including more than 10 years in senior roles in some of 

Australia’s largest councils and water utilities, including the Brisbane 

City Council, and executive roles in Brisbane Water and Coliban Water in 

Victoria. Mr Dawson is a business turnaround and execution specialist, 

having successfully rebuilt numerous businesses across the country 

in the public and private sectors. Mr Dawson held the roles of Chief 

Executive Offi cer of the Victorian Farmers' Federation; Chief Executive 

Offi cer at Beaudesert Shire Council and at Rockhampton Regional 

Council, before taking on the Deputy Vice-Chancellor (International and 

Services) role at CQUniversity.

Mr Dawson has a Bachelor of Arts (Communication and Media) from the 

University of Southern Queensland, and a master’s degree in Business 

Administration from the University of Central Queensland. He is also a 

Fellow of the Australian Institute of Management and a Member of the 

Australian Institute of Company Directors.

DEPUTY VICE-CHANCELLOR (INDUSTRY, VOCATIONAL 
TRAINING AND ACCESS EDUCATION)

Mr Nik Babovic
BEd QUT, MBA Griffi th, DipMgt GCIT

As Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Industry, Vocational Training and Access 

Education) and a member of the senior executive, Mr Babovic is 

responsible for university-wide strategic planning, implementation and 

leadership in the areas of Industry Engagement, Vocational Education 

and Training, VET-related Business Development and Research, and 

Access Education. In 2014, his key focus was on leading the successful 

merger with CQ TAFE in July, enabling CQUniversity to become the fi rst 

dual sector (comprehensive) university in Queensland. The merger has 

been the most innovative and exciting post-secondary education and 

training initiative undertaken in Queensland and particulary the Central 

Queensland region.

Mr Babovic re-organised the Division during the merger to establish 

the new directorates of TAFE, Business Development and Industry 

Engagement, and Business Performance, integrating the majority of 

former CQ TAFE operations and personnel into the Division. New units 

have also been established—the VET Quality and VET Research units—

to ensure CQUniversity’s vocational education and training delivery 

is sustainable, high quality, industry-aligned and research-based. The 

Academic Learning Services Unit and Train@ CQUniversity continues to 

operate within this portfolio.

CQUniversity is joining AgForce Queensland and Rockhampton Grammar 
School to establish foundations for outstanding agricultural education and 

research.

The partnership aims to create a rural education hub known as the Belmont 
Agriculture Education Alliance. CQUniversity Vice-Chancellor and President 

Professor Scott Bowman said the Alliance was a great example of how the 
CQUniversity–CQ TAFE merger would benefi t local industry.
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Before assuming his role as a Deputy Vice-Chancellor at CQUniversity, 

Mr Babovic was the Institute Director of Central Queensland TAFE (CQ 

TAFE), with over 20 000 enrolments delivered in 10 campuses across 

Central Queensland. Mr Babovic also has over 17 years’ experience in 

senior executive management roles in the private, public and not-for-

profi t sectors. His experience is underpinned by postgraduate studies 

in business administration, a Bachelor of Education, and vocational 

qualifi cations in building and construction.  

DEPUTY VICE-CHANCELLOR (ENGAGEMENT AND 
CAMPUSES AND MACKAY–WHITSUNDAY REGION)

Professor Pierre Viljoen
BA, BA (Hons), MA PU for CHE, PhD (Industrial Psychology) NWU, 

Psychologist (QLD), MAPS

As Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Engagement and Campuses and Mackay–

Whitsunday Region), Professor Viljoen provides advice and leadership 

on strategies to cultivate high-quality relationships with the University’s 

internal and external stakeholders to further the University’s interests and 

strategic priorities. Professor Viljoen has executive responsibility for the 

Associate Vice-Chancellors, the University’s engagement agenda, and 

the Development and Alumni Relations Directorate. His role covers the 

University’s extensive geographical footprint and includes engagement 

with and support for a very broad range of communities. Professor Viljoen 

is also the Associate Vice-Chancellor for the Mackay–Whitsunday region, 

overseeing local engagement, growth, development, student experience 

and campus culture across three sites.

Professor Viljoen moved to Gladstone from South Africa in 2006 

where he initially served as Head of Campus for three years, before 

commencing the dual role of leading the Mackay campus and the 

engagement agenda from 2010. In July 2014, Professor Viljoen was 

appointed to his current role as Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Engagement, 

Campuses and Mackay–Whitsunday Region). 

He serves as a director on fi ve external boards, locally and nationally, 

two of which are ministerial appointments, and is the current Chair of 

Engagement Australia. Professor Viljoen holds a Doctorate degree in 

Industrial Psychology, has a passion for organisational development, 

and is committed to using CQUniversity to support the development of 

sustainable communities.

DEPUTY VICE-CHANCELLOR (STUDENT EXPERIENCE 
AND GOVERNANCE) 

Ms Jenny Roberts
BBusAdmin CQU, GAICD, MTertEdMgt Melb

The Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Student Experience and Governance) has 

executive management responsibility for the student experience and 

governance portfolio at CQUniversity. As Secretary to the University 

Council, Ms Roberts is also responsible for the University’s governance 

processes through management of the governing body, the Council, and 

its sub-committees.

Ms Roberts oversees the student journey from admission and enrolment 

through to graduation, and a comprehensive range of student services 

and corporate governance activities. With a strong focus on ensuring a 

positive student experience for all students, Ms Roberts also ensures 

provision of a student advisory service, participation and wellbeing 

support, student governance, communications and corporate events 

management.

Ms Roberts has worked at CQUniversity for almost two decades and 

is an alumnus of the University, having graduated with a Bachelor of 

Business (Administration) with Distinction in 2002. Ms Roberts has 

completed a Master of Tertiary Education Management with the University 

of Melbourne and is a member of the Australian Institute of Company 

Directors, the Governance Institute of Australia (formerly Chartered 

Secretaries Australia), the Association of Australian University Secretaries 

and Chair, QTAC Board of Directors. Her particular areas of interest include 

ensuring effective university governance and how professional staff can 

contribute towards student success.

DEPUTY VICE-CHANCELLOR (FINANCE AND PLANNING) 

Ms Narelle Pearse
BComm JCU, GradDipPsych CQU, MBA, MComm QUT, CA

The Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Finance and Planning) has executive 

responsibility for the University’s fi nancial reporting, management 

reporting, planning, risk management, and business intelligence 

activities. In this role, Ms Pearse oversights the Financial Services 

Division’s responsibility to provide reports to internal and external 

stakeholders regarding the University’s fi nancial position and its fi nancial 

reporting requirements as a statutory authority. The Division has 

numerous internal reporting obligations to Council and committees, and 

external reporting obligations to the State and Federal Governments.

Ms Pearse commenced in this role in February 2014, after serving three 

years on the CQUniversity Council. She holds a Bachelor of Commerce, 

Masters of Commerce, Executive MBA, and Graduate Diploma in 

Economic Development with Distinction from a range of universities, 

as well as a Graduate Diploma in Psychology from CQUniversity. She is 

a Chartered Accountant and a former registered Tax Agent, as well as a 

member of the Australian Institute of Management and the Australian 

Institute of Company Directors. Ms Pearse has over 20 years of 

experience in the private sector within public and corporate accounting. 

Before taking up this position, Ms Pearse was the Chief Executive Offi cer 

of the Mackay–Isaac–Whitsunday Regional Economic Development 

Corporation.

CQUniversity Civil Engineering students Angus Hughes (pictured), Jessica 
Kahl and Mattison Rose pioneered a cheap housing design using surplus 
wooden pallets. The Shelter Project won the national fi nals of The Big Idea 
competition with their concept of re-using industrial pallets to provide 
temporary housing for disaster victims.
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OUR CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

CENTRAL QUEENSLAND UNIVERSITY COUNCIL 

ESTABLISHMENT

The University was established by an Act of the Queensland Parliament, 

the Central Queensland University Act 1998.

MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

The Council is the University’s governing body, as set out in the Central 

Queensland University Act 1998. The University Council is responsible for 

managing and controlling the University’s affairs, property and fi nances. The 

Council must act in the manner that is most likely to promote the University’s 

interests and has the full power and authority to appoint and dismiss 

offi cers and employees of the University. It acts in all matters to advance the 

University’s interests and aspirations. The current Council was constituted on 

27 May 2014, and its membership is set out in sections 12 to 16 of the Act.

Council members have a duty to act honestly and with integrity; to 

exercise due care, skill and diligence in their duties; to make appropriately 

informed decisions; and to act at all times in the interests of the University.

Council membership, as at 31 December 2014, comprised:

CHANCELLOR (CHAIR) 

Mr Rennie Fritschy

VICE-CHANCELLOR AND PRESIDENT

Professor Scott Bowman

PRESIDENT, ACADEMIC BOARD

Professor Bronwyn Fredericks

MEMBERS APPOINTED BY THE GOVERNOR-IN-COUNCIL

Ms Mary Carroll

Emeritus Professor Robert Castle

Mr Peter Corones AM

Dr Robyn Minchinton (Deputy Chancellor)

Mr Desmond Pearson AO

ADDITIONAL MEMBERS APPOINTED BY COUNCIL

Mr John Abbott

Mr Graham Carpenter

Ms Meredith Papavasiliou

Mr Mark Peters

ELECTED MEMBERS OF CQUNIVERSITY

Dr John Fitzsimmons (Academic staff representative)

Mr Ken Diefenbach (Professional staff representative)

Mr David Harris (Student representative)

SECRETARY TO COUNCIL

Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Student Experience and Governance) and 

Secretary to Council

Ms Jenny Roberts, BBusAdmin CQU, MTertEdMgt Melb, GAICD

MINUTES SECRETARY

Executive Offi cer to the Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Student Experience and 

Governance)

Ms Su Jensen 

MR RENNIE FRITSCHY
BEng(Chem) Sydney, BEc WAust, FIEAust, FAICD

Mr Fritschy’s background is in mineral processing, 
petrochemicals and textiles. Mr Fritschy has been a 
member of Council since 1996 and Chancellor since 
2004. During this time he has used his expertise 
in strategy development and implementation, 
accounting and fi nancial matters, risk management 
stratagems, and high level governance expertise to 
ensure the Council performs in accordance with its 
responsibilities.

PROFESSOR SCOTT BOWMAN
TDCR, DCR, HDCR CollRadiog, FAETC City&Guilds, MArts 
GuildHall, MBusAdmin USC, PhD OpenUK, FAIM, FQAAS

In his role as Vice-Chancellor and President Professor 
Bowman drives the strategic planning, fi nancial and 
external affairs of the University across its network of 
campus and teaching locations in Australia. Professor 
Bowman is the force behind CQUniversity’s Renewal 
Plan and is committed to building a strong regional 
university. Professor Bowman’s background is in the 
fi elds of radiography and imaging.

PROFESSOR BRONWYN FREDERICKS
CertIVComCult Creative Connections, CertIVTrainAssess 
GladTrainServ, DipTeach(Sec) BCAE, BEd, MEd QUT, 
MEdStudies UTas, PhD CQU

Professor Fredericks is the President of Academic Board, 
and leads the work undertaken by the University’s Offi ce 
of Indigenous Engagement through her roles as Pro 
Vice-Chancellor (Indigenous Engagement) and BHP 
Billiton Mitsubishi Alliance (BMA) Chair in Indigenous 
Engagement. Professor Fredericks holds numerous 
qualifi cations in education and health and is a recipient of 
several highly competitive awards. Professor Fredericks 
has worked at universities in Australia and New Zealand, 
and in the health care and human service sector for the 
Commonwealth and state governments, non-government 
organisations and community-based organisations.

DR ROBYN MINCHINTON
BAppSc(MLS) RMIT, GradDipScComm CQU, PhD London

Dr Minchinton is a medical scientist specialising in 
haematology; her career has spanned 40 years in 
the public health sector in diagnostics and research 
in hospitals, the Red Cross Blood Service and higher 
education. Dr Minchinton is experienced in executive 
and laboratory management and accreditation and 
is passionate about lifelong learning, innovation and 
science communication.
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MS MARY CARROLL
MAICD

Ms Carroll is Chief Executive Offi cer of Capricorn 
Enterprise and is responsible for its overall 
management of operations including marketing, 
economic development, events and visitor servicing. 
Ms Carroll brings a combination of destination 
marketing, membership, corporate governance and 
strong relationship-building skills to the organisation, 
and has been recognised by industry with numerous 
awards and accolades for her contributions. Ms Carroll’s 
career has included a broad range of private and public 
sector roles, having worked for hospitality and tourism 
businesses and organisations, a mining engineering 
fi rm, a union and a political party. Ms Carroll represents 
the region and industry on a number of committees.

MR PETER CORONES AM
Mr Corones is an experienced businessman who has 
spent many years in local government roles, including 
serving as Mayor of Gladstone City for 14 years. Mr 
Corones has a wealth of experience and knowledge 
in industrial development, tourism, education and 
training, and environmental responsibility. Mr Corones 
was the Director of the Committee that formed 
Gladstone Area Promotion and Development Limited.

EMERITUS PROFESSOR ROBERT CASTLE
MEc Syd, DLett(hon causa) UOW, Fellow UOWD

Emeritus Professor Castle is an economist who 
has extensive experience in international education 
and academic administration. Emeritus Professor 
Castle was Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Academic) at the 
University of Wollongong and has served in many 
advisory roles in higher education.

MR DESMOND PEARSON AO
BBus, GradDipMgt, HonDBus CQU, FCPA, FIPAA, FAIM, FCA, 
FISEAM 

Mr Pearson is a non-executive Director and advisor 
on public sector governance, accountability and 
performance reporting. Previously Mr Pearson served 
as Auditor-General of Victoria and of Western Australia 
for over 21 years. Prior to that Mr Pearson held several 
senior executive positions in fi nancial management, 
program delivery and corporate support roles across 
Commonwealth, state and territory jurisdictions.

MR GRAHAM CARPENTER 
GradDipMgt CIAE, MBA CQU, FCA, FAICD

Mr Carpenter is a chartered accountant and former 
partner of BDO. Mr Carpenter is a board member 
and also chairs a number of audit/compliance/
risk committees within Queensland government 
departments and for local government entities. Mr 
Carpenter’s other past experience includes senior 
positions with Queensland and Victorian Treasuries and 
as Northern Territory Auditor-General. Mr Carpenter 
brings fi nancial management, audit and risk expertise 
as well as experience with corporate governance.

MR MARK PETERS
BA Macq, LLB Sydney, MSc Oxon, MAICD

Mr Peters has practised as a lawyer for over 30 years 
in the UK, NSW and Queensland. Mr Peters has a 
strong background in commercial litigation and now 
practises solely in employment law and workplace 
relations. Mr Peters has a passion for good corporate 
governance, particularly in education, having held 
board positions in one of Queensland’s largest group 
training apprenticeship schemes, and a leading 
independent school in North Queensland where he 
was Chairman for over 12 years.

MR JOHN ABBOTT 
BEng(Mech) QIT, LLB QUT, CPEng, RPEQ, FIEAust, MAICD

Mr Abbott is General Manager of Operations at the 
NRG Gladstone Power Station, and has had a long 
career in operations and business management 
in power generation, oil and gas, chemicals, and 
minerals processing. Mr Abbott has engineering and 
law qualifi cations, and is a fellow of the Institution 
of Engineers in Australia. Mr Abbott has had a long 
association with CQUniversity with the development 
of postgraduate courses in engineering.

MS MEREDITH PAPAVASILIOU
BA, GradDipMgt, MBA CQU

Ms Papavasiliou has almost 20 years’ experience in 
regional daily news environments. Ms Papavasiliou 
understands the social, geographic and environmental 
demands of living and doing business in regional, 
rural and remote communities. An experienced 
business executive and vocal advocate of regions, Ms 
Papavasiliou believes that at the heart of every highly 
functional, successful organisation is the ability to 
properly engage and create meaningful discussion and 
robust debate.

DR JOHN FITZSIMMONS
BA(Hons), PhD Adel, GradCertOnlineLearn ECU

Dr Fitzsimmons is the elected academic staff 
representative on Council. Dr Fitzsimmons is a senior 
lecturer at CQUniversity and teaches in literary and 
cultural studies in the School of Education and the 
Arts. Dr Fitzsimmon’s academic expertise is in online 
learning, postmodern fi ction, and narrative theory.

MR KEN DIEFENBACH
BAppSc(Comp) QUT

Mr Diefenbach is the elected professional staff 
representative on Council. Currently the Project 
Manager, Business Intelligence, his background is 
in information technology with an emphasis on data 
warehousing and data visualisation. Mr Diefenbach is a 
highly regarded speaker and a practitioner, presenting 
at university sector and technical forums nationally and 
internationally. Mr Diefenbach’s role in the Reporting and 
Business Intelligence Product Advisory Group for HEUG 
(international body of universities using the PeopleSoft 
system) included terms as chair and co-chair. Mr 
Diefenbach received the Vice-Chancellor’s Excel Award 
in 2001. This is Mr Diefenbach’s fi rst term on Council.

MR DAVID HARRIS
BBus(Mktg), GradDipMgt, MMgmt(Mktg) CQU, AMAMI, 
AIMM, GAICD

Mr Harris is the elected student representative on 
Council. Mr Harris is a sessional academic with 
the School of Business and Law and is currently 
undertaking a Doctor of Philosophy in sensory 
marketing and consumer psychology at CQUniversity. 
Mr Harris has broad and specialised knowledge 
in marketing and management, and lectures in 
marketing management, relationship marketing, digital 
marketing, consumer behaviour, and promotions 
management. Mr Harris’s research interests include 
consumer behaviour, psychology, and online and 
traditional marketing.

19CQUNIVERSITY AUSTRALIA  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2014



TABLE 1: COUNCIL MEMBERS’ ATTENDANCE AT COUNCIL 
MEETINGS

Members
No. of meetings 
attended

Total no. of 
meetings

Mr Rennie Fritschy 6 7

Professor Scott Bowman 7 7

Professor Bronwyn Fredericks 7 7

Dr Robyn Minchinton 7 7

Ms Mary Carroll 4 7

Mr Peter Corones AM 7 7

Emeritus Professor Robert Castle 
(appointed 27 May)

4 4

Mr Desmond Pearson AO 
(appointed 27 May)

3 4

Mr John Anderson 
(term of offi ce concluded 26 May)

3 3

Ms Sandra Collins 
(term of offi ce concluded 26 May)

3 3

Mr Charles Ware 
(term of offi ce concluded 26 May)

3 3

Mr Graham Carpenter 7 7

Mr Mark Peters 
(appointed 13 May)

4 4

Mr John Abbot 
(appointed 18 June)

3 3

Ms Meredith Papavasiliou 
(appointed 10 November)

1 1

Ms Narelle Pearse 
(resigned 16 February)

1 1

Mr Tim Griffi n OAM 
(term of offi ce concluded 11 July)

4 4

Dr John Fitzsimmons 7 7

Mr Ken Diefenbach 7 7

Mr David Harris 5 7

Council meetings were held on 3 February, 17 March, 12 May, 17 June, 

14 July, 25 September and 8 December 2014.

COUNCIL HIGHLIGHTS
Key achievements of Council in 2014 include:

 » a visit by several Council members and University management to 
Federation University in advance of the merger, providing valuable 
insights into the governance, operation and management of a dual 
sector university

 » a detailed focus on merger preparations and governance 
requirements, leading to approval of the conditions precedent to the 
merger, the July to December 2014 Vocational Education and Training 
Budget, a successful merger, and appropriate Council membership for 
a comprehensive university

 » consideration of the changing nature of distance education and the 
University’s response, resulting in the establishment of additional 
study hubs and study centres and an additional partnership with a 
community university centre implemented by the end of 2014

 » close monitoring of the University’s fi nancial position throughout 2014 
focussing on reporting and expenditure

 » continued priority focus at every ordinary meeting on the University’s 
workplace health and safety issues, including preparations for and 
actions after the merger

 » approval of a new academic governance model for our comprehensive 
university

 » endorsement to align risk assessment with strategic, corporate and 
operational plans, the format of risk records and the concept of a 
defi ned risk

 » an extension of the Council member’s term of offi ce on Academic 
Board to two years, further strengthening Council’s connection with 
Academic Board operations

 » approval of the University’s 2015 budget and a new, more 
comprehensive budgeting process

 » approval to establish campuses in Cairns and Townsville in 2015, and

 » alignment of Council members with specifi c regions in the University’s 
new regional network to support the Associate Vice-Chancellors 
in relation to engagement, growth and development as part of the 

University’s Regional Leadership and Campus Integration Model.

COUNCIL COMMITTEES

Council has established fi ve sub-committees, each with a specialist 

function, to support the Council in overseeing the University’s operations:

 » Academic Board

 » Audit, Compliance and Risk Committee

 » Ceremonial and Honorary Awards Committee

 » Chancellor’s Committee, which acts as an executive appointments 

committee and a council membership committee, in addition to being 

the executive committee of Council, and

 » Planning and Resources Committee.

EVALUATION AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 
OF COUNCIL

As part of its commitment to best practice corporate governance, 

CQUniversity has a coordinated committee performance evaluation 

process. At the end of every meeting a Council member conducts an 

evaluation by reviewing the meeting’s quality and effectiveness and 

the documentation provided. An online self-evaluation survey occurs 

after the fi nal meeting each year, with responses due by mid-January 

the following year. In addition, a more comprehensive evaluation is 

conducted in alternate years, and includes an evaluation of the Chancellor 

and Secretary to Council, and peer and member self-evaluations. This 

comprehensive evaluation will next be conducted in 2015.

Professional development for Council members is a key strategy of 

Council’s continuous improvement processes. Council members 

participate in professional development through regular ‘in house’ 

briefi ngs on key issues before each Council meeting and focus item 

discussions during Council meetings, as well as opportunities to attend 

sector-wide conferences and other events.

Council prepares an annual plan for professional development of 

members, each of whom who are provided with a yearly budget 

allocation to expend on professional development activities (approved by 

the Chancellor). One Council member attended the Collaborative Impact 

Conference in February 2014, and nine members attended the two-day 

National Conference on University Governance, ‘Governing the University 

of the Future’ in October. The Chancellor was a member of the organising 

committee for this conference.

During 2014, Council members received briefi ngs on a broad range of 

issues relevant to the University’s current and future operations. Topics 

included the University’s 2014 research priorities; Academic Board 

operations and responsibilities; future opportunities for CQUniversity 

Sydney; the University’s agriculture research achievements; and 

CQUniversity’s fi ve-year research strategy. In preparation for members’ 

attendance at the National Conference on University Governance, Council 

members were also briefed on ‘governing the university of the future: a 

preview capturing some outside-in and inside-out perspectives’.

A planning and strategy session was held on 13 May at which the Council 

considered the University’s plans to move from ‘strong’ to ‘great’, the 

Council’s risk appetite, and the strategic planning process. A further session 

was held on 9 December to enhance new Council members’ understanding 

of the strategic planning processes and the 2015 Strategic Plan.

REMUNERATION OF COUNCIL

CQUniversity Council members are not remunerated. However, the 

University pays for all costs relating to member attendance at meetings 

of Council and its sub-committees, and provides members with an iPad 

and internet access for accessing meeting papers. In addition, Council 

members are able to access professional development funding each year.
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The total sum expended on travel, accommodation, meals, internet access 

and professional development for Council members in 2014 was $180 429.

VOLUNTARY CODE OF BEST PRACTICE FOR THE 
GOVERNANCE OF AUSTRALIAN UNIVERSITIES 

The University Council adopted the Voluntary Code of Best Practice for 

the Governance of Australian Universities at its September 2011 meeting. 

Through its 14 principles, the Code’s purpose is to ensure members of 

Australian university governing bodies have a good understanding of their 

roles and duties, and to foster transparency and accountability in university 

governance arrangements by strengthening performance evaluation 

practices. CQUniversity undertakes an annual review of its compliance 

with the Code to ensure ongoing compliance and further strengthening of 

governance practices. At 31 December 2014, the University continued to 

be compliant with the Code’s requirements, and minor improvements are 

planned for 2015 to comply with the full spirit of the Code.

GOVERNANCE HIGHLIGHTS 

CQUniversity promotes good governance practices, and these are 

supported by a number of policy documents. These practices are 

adopted by Council and all decision-making committees in the University. 

Achievements in 2014 included:

 » expansion of the academic governance processes and policies to 

include VET operations

 » introduction of new policy and procedure templates and overarching 

policy to support our comprehensive university and improve the 

readability and usability of policy documents, and

 » enhancement of the reporting processes of Council sub-committees 

to Council and the presentation of Council meeting documentation.

FUNCTIONS OF THE UNIVERSITY AND CONSTITUTION

The University is established and derives its functions and powers by 

virtue of the Central Queensland University Act 1998 (the Act). The Act 

establishes the University as a body corporate, with a seal. It may sue 

and be sued in its corporate name.

Section 5 of the Act outlines the University’s functions, which are:

a. to provide education at university standard

b. to provide facilities for, and encourage, study and research

c. to encourage the advancement and development of knowledge, 

and its application to government, industry, commerce and the 

community

d. to provide courses of study or instruction (at the levels of achievement 

the council considers appropriate) to meet the needs of the 

community

e. to confer higher education awards

f. to disseminate knowledge and promote scholarship

g. to provide facilities and resources for the wellbeing of the university’s 

staff, students and other persons undertaking courses at the 

university

h. to exploit commercially, for the university’s benefi t, a facility or 

resource of the university, including, for example, study, research 

or knowledge, or the practical application of study, research or 

knowledge, belonging to the university, whether alone or with 

someone else, and

i. to perform other functions given to the university under this or 

another Act.

CENTRAL QUEENSLAND UNIVERSITY ACT 

Amendments were made to the Act in 2014 as a result of the TAFE 

Queensland (Dual Sector Entities) Amendment Bill 2014, which 

augmented the membership of the University Council to include a VET-

qualifi ed person.

STATUTORY OBLIGATIONS

COMMISSION FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE AND 
CHILD GUARDIAN ACT

The Commission for Children and Young People and Child Guardian 

Act 2000 establishes a regime requiring all employees and volunteers 

working with children and young people to obtain a Positive Suitability 

Notice (known as a Blue Card). CQUniversity requires all staff in certain 

categories (such as student counselling) to hold Blue Cards as a condition 

of their employment.

EDUCATION SERVICES FOR OVERSEAS STUDENTS (ESOS) ACT

Under the authority of the Commonwealth’s ESOS Act 2000, the 

reviewed and updated National Code of Practice for Registration 

Authorities and Providers of Education and Training to Overseas Students 

(The National Code) was implemented on 1 July 2007. The University 

made signifi cant policy reviews at that time to ensure compliance. 

The Code provides nationally consistent standards for the conduct of 

registered higher education providers in relation to the provision of 

education to international students and the registration of their courses. 

The University updated a number of policy documents in 2014 to 

refl ect changes to The National Code, and has established an ESOS and 

International Compliance Management Committee to ensure compliance 

is maintained.

FINANCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY ACT 

The University continues to monitor compliance with the Financial 

Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial and Performance Management 

Standard 2009. The CQUniversity Audit and Advisory Directorate 

performs a review of fi nancial policies and procedures on a quadrennial 

basis to assure the Audit, Compliance and Risk Committee of Council 

that the University is compliant with the legislation.

PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURE ACT 

The Public Interest Disclosure Act 2010 came into effect on 1 January 

2011, and requires disclosures to be reported to the Public Service 

Commission, rather than in the University’s Annual Report.

PUBLIC SECTOR ETHICS ACT

The CQUniversity Code of Conduct reaffi rms the University’s 

commitment to the ethical principles set out in the Queensland Public 

Sector Ethics Act 1994. The Code goes beyond the Act’s emphasis on 

good public administration to demonstrate how ethical principles are 

fundamental to the operations of the University; and these are also 

refl ected in the University’s value of ‘openness’. The University’s ‘Leading 

Towards Zero Tolerance’ program, implemented in 2012, covered the 

requirements of the Code of Conduct and staff obligations under the Act. 

All new staff members are required to attend a ‘Leading Towards Zero 

Tolerance’ training session upon commencement.

TAFE QUEENSLAND ACT 2013

The TAFE Queensland Act 2013 provides for the establishment of TAFE 

Queensland and the provisions for establishing dual sector entities. The 

Act also prescribes the requirements for entitles to provide an operational 

plan including its contents, when the draft must be submitted, and the 

requirement to comply with the agreed operational plan. The University 

submitted its VET Operational Plan for 1 July 2014 to 31 December 2014 

in accordance with the Act. 

This legislation refl ects machinery-of-government changes resulting in the 

transfer of Central Queensland TAFE, a Queensland Government public 

sector entity, to CQUniversity to become a dual sector university. This 

transfer of functions and responsibilities included the transfer of CQ TAFE 

staff and $120.2 million in assets, enabling CQUniversity to become the 

VET public provider in Central Queensland. The impacts of these changes 

are documented throughout this report.
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INFORMATION SYSTEMS AND RECORDKEEPING

The University’s compliance with the Public Records Act 2002; 

Information Standard 40: Recordkeeping; and Information Standard 31: 

Retention and Disposal of Public Records is at varying levels across the 

institution. Records are retained and disposed of in accordance with 

the General, University Sector and Technical and Further Education 

Institutes Retention and Disposal Schedules, for those areas of the 

University where training has been provided, or when the Records 

Management team has assisted in an archival process. The University’s 

records management policies were updated from 1 July 2014 to refl ect 

the University’s new comprehensive university context post-merger. The 

excellent recordkeeping processes from CQ TAFE have been maintained 

and incorporated into the University’s Records Management Policy and 

Procedure. Also, a large quantity of shelving was purchased in late 2014 

to increase archival capacity and support the archive facility’s operations.

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

The University’s policy documents (including policies, principles, 

procedures, plans, and codes along with related forms and templates) 

are published online for ease of access by staff, students and the general 

public. The Policy Development and Review Procedures and associated 

templates set out the requirements for developing, reviewing and 

approving University policy documents, and includes a three-yearly review 

cycle. A University-wide template for committee terms of reference 

includes a number of mandatory sections to support good governance 

practices. Committee terms of reference are reviewed every second year, 

with the review informed by the annual committee self-evaluation process.

Each year, all relevant committees are provided with a list of policy 

documents under their approval authority that are due for review in that 

year, and these are then included in the committee’s reporting schedule 

for that year.

A Policy Review Project occurred from January to June 2014, as part of 

the Operational Unifi cation Project, to identify former CQ TAFE policy 

documents to be retained and integrated into CQUniversity’s policy system. 

This project developed new templates and revised the Policy Development 

and Review Procedure to ensure they met the needs of a comprehensive 

university, and coordinated the review, re-badging or expiry of CQ TAFE 

documents and integration of relevant content into existing University policy 

documents in preparation for the merger. Policy documents continued 

to be revised and consolidated post-merger, resulting in comprehensive 

documents applicable to all staff and/or students of the University. As at 

31 December 2014, the University had a total of 578 policy documents 

and committee terms of reference, with 204 documents published and 24 

documents expired in 2014. The task of reviewing and fully integrating policy 

documents resulting from the merger will continue into 2015 through the 

University’s normal policy review schedule.

DELEGATIONS OF AUTHORITY

The policy governing the University’s delegations of authority was 

updated in 2014 to include relevant delegations required in the post-

merger period, and was re-named the Delegations of Authority Policy. 

The policy details the authorities within the University to exercise powers 

and carry out certain actions for which staff and offi cers of the University 

are accountable. The delegation of authority and powers is accompanied 

by appropriate internal control structures and systems to enable effi cient 

but controlled operation of the business. The policy and its schedules are 

updated as required and reviewed in accordance with the University’s 

policy review schedule.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND ACCOUNTABILITY

RISK MANAGEMENT FUNCTION

The function of risk management at CQUniversity is to manage risk in 

accordance with the process set out in the Australian/New Zealand Joint 

Standard on Risk Management (AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009) to benefi t the 

University and manage the cost of risk. The University has an integrated 

Risk Management and Planning Framework where strategic, corporate 

and operational risks are linked to planning. The Audit, Compliance and Risk 

Committee of Council has oversight of all enterprise risks, which are reviewed 

against their mitigation strategies. Any signifi cant operational or fi nancial risks 

are dealt with by the University’s senior executive and relevant governance 

committees. Risks are monitored through systematic reviews.

The internal audit function of the University supports the management of 

risk through periodic independent review of risk management practices 

and procedures to provide assurance on their effi ciency and relevance.

Risks associated with the Strategic Plan are reported to Council through 

the Audit, Compliance and Risk Committee of Council.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The University Council has an established Audit, Compliance and 

Risk Committee to assist the Council to discharge its responsibilities 

prescribed in the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and 

Performance Management Standard 2009 and other relevant legislation 

and prescribed requirements.

The Committee’s purpose is to assist the Council to fulfi l its oversight 

responsibilities in regard to:

 » the University’s frameworks for performance management, risk 

management and internal control

 » the performance of the internal audit and external audit functions

 » the integrity of the University’s fi nancial reporting processes

 » ensuring a healthy and safe workplace

 » the application of good corporate governance principles, and

 » ensuring strong compliance with legislative requirements.

The Committee is responsible for reviewing, discussing and promptly 

reporting, as appropriate, to the Council in relation to the above areas. Dr 

Robyn Minchinton and Mr Mark Peters assumed membership roles on 

the Committee, with Ms Narelle Pearse leaving the Committee following 

her appointment as the University’s Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Finance and 

Planning). Meeting attendance for 2014 is shown in Table 2.

TABLE 2: AUDIT, COMPLIANCE AND RISK COMMITTEE 
MEETING ATTENDANCE IN 2014 

Members
No. of meetings 
attended

Total no. of 
meetings

Mr Graham Carpenter (Chair) 5 5

Ms Sandra Collins 3 3

Dr Robyn Minchinton 2 2

Ms Narelle Pearse 0 0

Mr Desmond Pearson AO 5 5

Mr Mark Peters 2 2

Mr Charles Ware 3 3

Representatives of the University’s management regularly attend 

Committee meetings to provide members with necessary reports and 

briefi ngs. Representatives include the Vice-Chancellor and President, 

members of the University’s senior executive, and the Deputy Director 

(Audit and Advisory). A standing invitation has been extended to the 

University’s external auditors to discuss any matters with the Committee 

regarding its auditing of the University’s fi nancial statements.

During 2014, the Committee operated within the framework established 

by its terms of reference with due regard to the Audit Committee 

Guidelines issued by Queensland Treasury and Trade.
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The Committee undertook annual self-evaluation and reporting to the 

Council. To ensure a comprehensive evaluation was undertaken, the 

Committee survey instrument was aligned with the Committee’s terms 

of reference and was informed by better practice guidance previously 

published by the Queensland Audit Offi ce.

In addition, the Committee concentrated on further embedding strong 

committee practice, which had been identifi ed and implemented in recent 

years. The Committee continued to focus on high priority areas with 

considerable success; received information on key risks; continued to focus 

on the resolution of outstanding audit recommendations; and undertook 

private sessions with the external audit and internal audit functions.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

Organisationally, the Audit and Advisory Directorate forms part of the 

Vice-Chancellor and President’s offi ce, reporting to the Director of that 

offi ce for administrative purposes and to the Audit, Compliance and Risk 

Committee for functional purposes.

The Audit and Advisory Directorate operates within a University Council 

approved charter, which is consistent with the Defi nition of Internal 

Auditing, the Code of Ethics, and the International Standards for the 

Professional Practice of Internal Auditing issued by the Institute of Internal 

Auditors. The Directorate operates independently of the University’s 

structures and systems to provide meaningful assurance; its purpose is 

to assist the Council; the Audit, Compliance and Risk Committee; and 

the University’s senior executive, management and staff to effectively 

discharge their responsibilities. This is achieved by providing independent 

advice and assurance underpinned by a process of systematic, professional 

and independent audits that measure and evaluate the effi ciency, 

effectiveness, economy and compliance of existing controls and systems.

In 2014, planning, monitoring, reporting, and review processes 

occurred to ensure the Directorate operated effectively, effi ciently and 

economically. The Audit, Compliance and Risk Committee received 

regular reports from the Directorate, which undertook ongoing 

monitoring and regular reviews of audit operations.

The Audit and Advisory Directorate’s work is guided by its multi-year strategy 

(which outlines the Directorate’s objectives and strategies for a fi ve-year period) 

and its annual work plan (which operationalises the multi-year strategy for a one-

year period). In developing the respective plans a risk assessment is undertaken 

to enable rational deployment of limited resources to assure audit coverage of 

the areas identifi ed as representing the greatest current risk, while at the same 

time assuring broad coverage of the University’s business operations over time. 

Audit and Advisory staff use their combined experience and judgment, and 

input from the University’s senior executive and management, and external 

auditors to assess the overall level of risk for an area. A number of risk factors 

are considered as part of the risk assessment process. Each plan is reviewed 

by the Audit, Compliance and Risk Committee at its fi nal meeting of the year 

and recommended to the University Council for approval.

Audit and Advisory staff issued 23 audit reports on fi nancial, compliance 

and operational matters during 2014. Signifi cant review reports issued 

during 2014 related to international travel, student residences, corporate 

credit card usage, campus audits, and fi xed asset stocktakes.

The Audit and Advisory Directorate is also responsible for supporting the 

Audit, Compliance and Risk Committee and liaising with the University’s 

external auditors to ensure a properly coordinated overall audit effort. An 

annual report is provided to the Committee on the Directorate’s performance. 

In supporting the Committee’s operations, the Directorate has had due 

regard to Queensland Treasury and Trade’s Audit Committee Guidelines.

ENTITIES CONTROLLED BY THE UNIVERSITY

The University has formed a number of entities that serve to further the 

functions of the University in accordance with the Central Queensland 

University Act 1998. The University Council monitors the performance 

of these entities through its Planning and Resources Committee, which 

received quarterly fi nancial statements, an annual report on progress 

and an annual business plan. Each of the following controlled entities 

prepares a set of fi nancial statements for audit by the Queensland Audit 

Offi ce. Once certifi ed, the fi nancial information is combined with that of 

the University to produce a consolidated fi nancial position (refer to the 

fi nancial statements in this report).

AUSTRALIAN INTERNATIONAL CAMPUSES TRUST AND 
AUSTRALIAN INTERNATIONAL CAMPUSES PTY LTD 

The Australian International Campuses Trust is a unit trust and was 

established to hold the shares of C Management Services Pty Ltd on 

behalf of CQUniversity. The Australian International Campuses Pty Ltd is 

the trustee for the trust and CQUniversity is the sole benefi ciary of the trust 

and holds all units on issue. The Board comprises the following members:

CHAIR
Ms Sandra Collins, BEng(Mining) Qld, MBA Pennsylvania, GAICD

BOARD MEMBERS
Mr Graham Carpenter, GradDipMgt CIAE, MBA CQU, FCA, FAICD

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms Jenny Roberts, BBusAdmin CQU, GAICD, MTertEdMgt Melb

C MANAGEMENT SERVICES PTY LTD

C Management Services Pty Ltd is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 

CQUniversity that is currently not trading. The Chair of the Board was not 

paid a fee. The Board comprises the following members:

CHAIR
Professor Scott Bowman, TDCR, DCR, HDCR CollRadiog, FAETC 

City&Guilds, MArts GuildHall, MBusAdmin USC, PhD OpenUK, FAIM, 

FQAAS

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr Alastair Dawson, BA DDIAE, MBA CQU, MAICD, FAIM

CQU INSTITUTE OF HIGHER LEARNING PTE LTD

CQU Institute of Higher Learning Pte Ltd went into voluntary liquidation 

on 10 November 2014. The Board comprised the following members:

CHAIR
Professor Scott Bowman, TDCR, DCR, HDCR CollRadiog, FAETC 

City&Guilds, MArts GuildHall, MBusAdmin USC, PhD OpenUK, FAIM, 

FQAAS

BOARD MEMBERS 
Mr Cheng Sim Kok

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mrs Jeannete Aruldoss

CQU TRAVEL CENTRE PTY LTD

This company provides travel agency services and educational travel 

programs for University staff and students as well as the general public. 

The entity is wholly-owned by the University and the Board comprises 

the following members:

CHAIR 
Professor Scott Bowman, TDCR, DCR, HDCR CollRadiog, FAETC 

City&Guilds, MArts GuildHall, MBusAdmin USC, PhD OpenUK, FAIM, 

FQAAS

BOARD MEMBERS
Mr Alastair Dawson, BA DDIAE, MBA CQU, MAICD, FAIM

Ms Narelle Pearse, BComm JCU, GradDipPsych CQU, MBA, MComm 

QUT, CA

Ms Jenny Roberts, BBusAdmin CQU, GAICD, MTertEdMgt Melb

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms Jenny Roberts, BBusAdmin CQU, GAICD, MTertEdMgt Melb
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HEALTH TRAIN EDUCATION SERVICES PTY LTD

CQUniversity acquired a subsidiary company Health Train Education 

Services Pty Ltd and registered training organisation [ID 4017] trading as 

HealthTrain in mid-2012, as part of its commitment to developing a range 

of quality, learner-centric and industry-focussed vocational education 

and training qualifi cations. The HealthTrain trading name and brand has 

been superseded and all future marketing, business development and 

contractual arrangements will be undertaken using the trading name 

Train@ CQUniversity.

Building upon its reputation as a quality training provider, 

Train@ CQUniversity is expanding its qualifi cations to provide 

opportunities for further study at a tertiary level through the University’s 

range of undergraduate and postgraduate qualifi cations offered 

throughout Australia. While these pathways open up longer term career 

opportunities, Train@ CQUniversity is maintaining a focus on meeting 

local employment and the skills needs of businesses and industry 

sectors. The Board comprises the following members:

CHAIR
Mr Nik Babovic, BEd QUT, MBA Griffi th, DipMgt GCIT

BOARD MEMBERS
Professor Scott Bowman, TDCR, DCR, HDCR CollRadiog, FAETC 

City&Guilds, MArts GuildHall, MBusAdmin USC, PhD OpenUK, FAIM, 

FQAAS

Ms Narelle Pearse, BComm JCU, GradDipPsych CQU, MBA, MComm 

QUT, CA

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms Jenny Roberts, BBusAdmin CQU, GAICD, MTertEdMgt Melb

MASK-ED INTERNATIONAL PTY LTD

Mask-Ed International Pty Ltd aims to commercialise intellectual property 

developed through the University’s undergraduate Nursing qualifi cation. The 

intellectual property is a novel experiential learning process that provides a 

realistic and humanistic simulation experience. The entity is wholly-owned 

by the University and the Board comprises the following members:

CHAIR
Professor Hilary Winchester, MA, D.Phil Oxen FAICD

BOARD MEMBERS
Ms Narelle Pearse, BComm JCU, GradDipPsych CQU, MBA, MComm 

QUT, CA

Professor Kerry Reid-Searl, RN, RM, BHlthSc UCQ, MClinEd UNSW, PhD 

CQU, MRCNA

COMPANY SECRETARY 
Ms Jenny Roberts, BBusAdmin CQU, GAICD, MTertEdMgt Melb

OTHER BODIES (NOT CONTROLLED ENTITIES)

HORTICAL PTY LTD

This venture was initiated as a joint venture between CQUniversity and 

Colour Vision Systems (CVS) to commercialise their respective interests 

in non-invasive fruit sorting technology. To this end, CQUniversity and CVS 

granted HortiCal a licence on the intellectual property relating to the use 

of near infrared spectroscopy. HortiCal’s business is to support research 

and development and to commercialise the intellectual property it holds.

RAIL INNOVATION AUSTRALIA PTY LTD 

This company was established to hold the intellectual property generated 

by the previous cooperative research centre, the CRC for Railway 

Engineering and Technologies, which closed in 2007.

COMMITTEE STRUCTURE 

COUNCIL

VICE-CHANCELLOR AND 
PRESIDENT

Vice-Chancellor’s Advisory 
Committee

Executive Management 
Committee

ACADEMIC BOARD

Appeals Committee

Executive Committee of 
Academic Board

Research Committee of 
Academic Board

Research Higher Degrees 
Committee

Learning and Teaching 
Committee of Academic 

Board

Higher Education 
Coursework Committee

Vocational Training 
and Access Education 

Coursework Committee

CHANCELLOR’S 
COMMITTEE

AUDIT, COMPLIANCE AND 
RISK COMMITTEE

CEREMONIAL AND 
HONORARY AWARDS 

COMMITTEE

PLANNING AND 
RESOURCES COMMITTEE
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OUR OUTCOMES
When we have achieved our aspirations we will be:

1  Assured of continued growth and sustainability through our 
education and training activities which are fl exible and responsive 
to the needs of our current and future students, communities 
and employers. (Engagement; Engaged Learning and Teaching; 
Engaged Enterprise)

2  A highly inclusive organisation. Our inclusivity will incorporate 
access, support, work-integrated education and training, and 
workplace-ready graduates. International, intercultural and 
Indigenous perspectives will be evidenced in our academic 
offerings. (Engagement; Engaged Learning and Teaching; Engaged 
Enterprise)

3  Regarded as an organisation of choice by students and staff, 
recognised for our high quality teaching, training, skills assessment 
and research, and for offering qualifi cations across the full span of 
the Australian Qualifi cations Framework. (Engaged Learning and 
Teaching; Engaged Research and Innovation; Engaged Enterprise)

4  Acknowledged for our leadership in education, training and 
research. (Engaged Learning and Teaching; Engaged Research and 
Innovation)

5  Renowned for excellence in research, both fundamental and 
applied, that contributes to knowledge and innovation in priority 
areas. (Engagement; Engaged Research and Innovation)

6  Acclaimed for fi ve areas of research which are rated as world 
class, including two areas with international prestige ratings. 
(Engaged Research and Innovation)

7  Acknowledged as being a successful dual sector organisation. 
(Engaged Learning and Teaching)

8  Known as the preferred organisation for research leaders and 
students based on our quality research facilities and qualifi cations. 
Our research staff and graduates will be acknowledged as experts 
in their fi eld, supported in entrepreneurial activities, and contribute 
to the key research areas within the University. (Engagement; 
Engaged Research and Innovation; Engaged Enterprise)

9  Renowned for actively contributing to the development of the 
communities and industries in which we reside through staff 
membership and participation in community groups, committees, 
boards, professional bodies and community volunteer work. 
(Engagement; Engaged Enterprise)

10  Acknowledged for providing our facilities and resources to 
community and industry groups and events. (Engagement; 
Engaged Enterprise)

11 Well-known for creating an environment that attracts high 
quality staff, has a strong leadership culture, recognises and 
rewards good practice, and maintains an effective governance 
and management structure with clear accountabilities and 
commitment to continuous improvement. (Engaged Enterprise)

12 Leaders in the provision of quality physical infrastructure and 
information and communication technology systems that support 
the core business of the University and provide a safe and 
environmentally sustainable environment. (Engaged Enterprise)

13 Recognised for our relationships with alumni and local, national 
and internationally signifi cant partners, our ability to attract 
philanthropic support and our contribution to our communities and 
society. (Engagement; Engaged Enterprise)

OUR MISSION
Engagement will become the driving force that directs the activities 
of the University to fulfi l its vision to enable stakeholders, partners, 
communities, industry and students to ‘be what they want to be’.

Engagement underpins the relationships between CQUniversity and 
its communities (local, regional, state, national, international) for the 
mutually benefi cial exchange of knowledge and resources in a context 
of partnership and reciprocity.

Our promise is to collaborate with our communities to assure our mutual 
wellbeing. Our partnerships will address community identifi ed needs, 
wellbeing, students’ community spirit, education and training, enrich the 
organisation and lead to discovery in the co-creation of knowledge.

Ultimately, engagement at CQUniversity aims to support the 
development of communities, individuals and the University.

OUR VALUES
ENGAGEMENT

We connect to our stakeholders and communities by having strong 
relationships and productive partnerships which deliver mutually 
benefi cial outcomes.

LEADERSHIP

We lead by consistently demonstrating excellence in Learning and 
Teaching, Research, Engagement and Governance.

A CAN-DO APPROACH

We focus on and achieve our goals, we ‘think big’, aspire to greatness 
and apply innovation in everything we do.

INCLUSIVENESS

We respect and seek full participation from, and engagement with, all 
staff, students and the community without discrimination toward any 
individual or group.

OPENNESS

We promote transparency in processes, procedures and decision-making 
and emphasise consistency, fairness and probity as integral to our 
relationships, individual and collective, with all stakeholders.

OUR VISION 
Our vision is for CQUniversity Australia to become one of Australia’s 
truly great universities through partnerships with industry, students 
and the community.

Our greatness will be demonstrated through excellence in our core 
business areas of:

 » Engagement

 » Learning and Teaching

 » Research and Innovation, and

 » Engaged Enterprise.

OUR VISION, VALUES, 
MISSION AND OUTCOMES

We will be one of Australia’s great 
universities. We will be well respected 
and a role model to other tertiary 
education and training providers 
throughout the world.
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OUR STRATEGIC PLAN 
2013–2023 

ENGAGEMENT

OUR GOAL

We will engage in all areas of endeavour. Our interactions with our 

communities will drive our education and training, research and 

innovation, and enterprise. Through these interactions, we will identify 

and address the needs of our communities, industry and the University. 

They will deepen our students’ community spirit, education and 

community wellbeing. We will also enrich our scholarship and research 

in a way that benefi ts both the University and our stakeholders.

OUR ASPIRATION

STRENGTHENING AND BUILDING OUR RELATIONSHIPS

We will work with our diverse communities within our multi-city 

campus footprint to build deep and enduring relationships. We will 

focus on developing knowledge, skills and innovations by providing 

education, professional development and research that meets the 

needs of our regional workforce and industry. We will value and 

engage with our stakeholders everywhere; draw on community and 

industry expertise and knowledge; encourage the active participation 

of all stakeholders; and acknowledge their contributions.

Our relationships will strengthen as we take on a more active role in 

promoting educational, social, cultural and economic wellbeing.

CONTRIBUTING TO GROWTH

We will develop regional, national and international partnerships that 

will contribute to the professional and educational growth of all our 

staff and students. We will support the development and recognition 

of outstanding academic, teaching and professional staff. We will 

establish research fellowships and support for new researchers at 

higher degree, postdoctoral and early career levels.

CREATING OPEN CAMPUSES

We will become a vital part of the life and culture of our communities 

by offering our campuses and facilities to stakeholders, educational 

partners, and community and industry groups for events and activities.

PARTICIPATING IN ENGAGED SERVICE

We will encourage staff and students to participate in both internal 

and external committees, boards and professional associations, 

and to volunteer for community and industry work. By sharing our 

knowledge, skills and innovations we aim to support the development 

of sustainable communities and a sustainable University.

ENGAGED LEARNING AND TEACHING

OUR GOAL

CQUniversity will attract and retain more students, helping them 

to achieve their educational goals regardless of their cultural and 

family background or their country of origin. We will offer a range 

of pathways for students to access tertiary education and skills 

development to reach their educational potential. We will provide 

a stimulating environment that promotes and supports learner 

engagement utilising appropriate technology and infrastructure.

OUR ASPIRATION

FACILITATING STUDENT ACCESS, PARTICIPATION 
AND SUCCESS

Our education opportunities will meet the needs of our diverse 

student profi le. We are focussed on making the University more 

accessible and relevant to all people, especially those from 

under-represented, Indigenous and culturally diverse backgrounds. 

We aim to incorporate international, intercultural and Indigenous 

perspectives into our qualifi cations and programs.

PROVIDING STUDENT SUPPORT

All our staff will focus on supporting the learning journey of our 

students and will provide prompt, effi cient and effective service. 

Our systems will facilitate the work of academics and teachers and 

the learning experiences of our students. We will offer preparatory 

programs and services to help students develop the skills they 

need to progress along their chosen learning pathway. We will 

provide equitable access to our qualifi cations, programs and learning 

opportunities that will enable our students to succeed.

By developing and offering a diverse range of educational pathways, 

and through engagement with our students, we will provide them 

with the support they need to reach their full potential. CQUniversity 

will have a reputation for producing workplace-ready graduates.

ACHIEVING TEACHING EXCELLENCE 

We will achieve teaching and learning excellence and leadership 

through the development of our staff across our multi-city campuses. 

We will optimise students’ learning journey across the span of the 

Australian Qualifi cations Framework by providing a stimulating and 

engaging environment that fosters their different learning styles. We 

will identify and reward leadership in learning and teaching. We will 

provide support to enable staff to engage in the scholarship of learning 

and teaching, develop innovative educational and skills development 

and assessment practices and build capacity in curriculum design.

COMMITMENT TO ENHANCEMENT 

We are committed to providing high quality learning experiences 

for all students by listening to their views and enhancing academic 

offerings through systematic evaluation and review of our 

qualifi cations and programs. We will benchmark our performance 

against other organisations in the sector and gather feedback from 

our industry and community partners to ensure we are building on 

current good practice.
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ENGAGED RESEARCH AND INNOVATION

OUR GOAL

CQUniversity will conduct both fundamental and applied research 

in selected priority areas. We will aim to help improve the 

economies of regions and communities by collaborating in research 

projects, developing knowledge, promoting innovation and being 

entrepreneurial.

OUR ASPIRATION

CHAMPIONING RESEARCH

We will engage with regional, national and international research 

communities and industry partners to increase our research activity 

and offer outstanding research qualifi cations for staff and students. 

We will attain research excellence by engaging and retaining research 

leaders in priority areas.

REWARDING AND SUPPORTING RESEARCH EXCELLENCE 

Through our research institutes and centres, we will support research 

excellence in those priority areas that contribute to the needs of 

industry and the communities we serve. We will encourage and 

support a culture of research by identifying and rewarding research 

leaders, promoting scholarly activities, mentoring emerging researchers 

and fostering an environment of active enquiry and innovation.

IMPROVING RESEARCH PERFORMANCE 

Through our research institutes and centres we will improve the 

University’s research funding and performance outcomes by 

developing strategic partnerships in our priority research areas. We 

will invest in critical areas of growth to achieve greater outcomes. In 

this way, we will improve our research ranking against other Australian 

and international universities.

DEVELOPING RESEARCH SKILLS 

By engaging with our research students and providing quality research 

supervision, we will enable our students to develop the knowledge 

and skills they need to achieve exceptional research outcomes.

ENGAGED ENTERPRISE

OUR GOAL

CQUniversity will have a positive culture which supports people and 

capability, manages performance, and values the University’s staff, 

students, communities and industry partners. We are committed to 

high standards of governance and a continuing quest for quality. Our 

fi nancial, physical, management and information technology systems 

and infrastructure supports the University’s core business.

OUR ASPIRATION

ENGAGING WITH OUR INTERNAL COMMUNITY 

Our people, services and systems will focus on supporting the 

students’ learning journey from commencement to graduation and 

beyond. We will provide quality library and information services, 

support qualifi cations, programs and counselling for all students of 

CQUniversity, regardless of their location or mode of study. We are 

committed to ensuring that students’ experiences are positive and 

rewarding. We are proud of our students and our graduates and will 

strive to develop lifelong partnerships and promote philanthropic 

relationships with our alumni.

Our employees are the key to delivering our promise to our 

stakeholders. Our workforce will conduct core business effectively and 

be appropriate for the size and complexity of the University. We will 

provide career development and leadership opportunities for all staff in 

the form of training, professional development, mentoring and support.

Through our service divisions we will provide innovative facilities, 

systems and equipment that compare well with other organisations 

in the university sector. Our physical infrastructure and systems for 

information and communication technology will provide an interactive 

learning and research experience for our students and staff.

We will provide a safe environment on all our campuses, centres and 

study hubs. We will create a culture of environmental sustainability 

that will be refl ected in our infrastructure, as well as our energy, water 

and waste management practices.

CQUniversity will have high standards of corporate governance 

that will lead the University in establishing quality assurance and 

improvement that is transparent, measurable and appropriate across 

the organisation.

ENGAGING WITH OUR EXTERNAL COMMUNITIES

We will support the economic growth of our regions across our 

multi-city campus footprint by sharing CQUniversity’s expertise and 

knowledge with our communities and by producing quality graduates 

across the full span of the Australian Qualifi cations Framework.

We will become a vital part of the life and culture of our communities 

by providing our stakeholders, educational partners, industry groups 

and community organisations with access to our campuses and 

facilities for their events and activities.

CQUniversity’s Conservatorium of Music held its 25th anniversary music 
theatre production Chicago in 2014.
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REVIEW OF OUR 
PERFORMANCE

ENGAGEMENT

OUR GOAL

We will engage in all areas of endeavour. Our interactions with 

our communities will drive our education and training, research 

and innovation, and enterprise. Through these interactions, we 

will identify and address the needs of our communities, industry 

and the University. They will deepen our students’ community 

spirit, education and community wellbeing. We will also enrich 

our scholarship and research in a way that benefi ts both the 

University and our stakeholders.

CONTRIBUTING TO GROWTH AND SUSTAINABILITY

Engagement at CQUniversity reached new heights in 2014, following 

the University’s landmark merger with CQ TAFE. CQ TAFE’s well 

established vocational education and training (VET) operations expanded 

CQUniversity’s already extensive engagement agenda and stakeholder 

base, particularly in the Central Queensland region. Through the merger, 

the University assumed not only a network of regional campuses, 

but also the role of public VET provider for the region, formerly the 

responsibility of the State Government, and with it the challenge of 

sustaining growth and stakeholder relationships into the future.

To support its growth in the region and across Australia, CQUniversity’s 

Regional Leadership and Campus Integration Model was launched 

to coincide with the merger. Developed primarily as a framework for 

managing and effectively integrating the University’s complex and 

diverse operations, the model also included initiatives to shape and 

enhance engagement strategy into the future. One such initiative was the 

appointment of an Associate Vice-Chancellor to each of the University’s 

new regions, with responsibility to oversee local functions, including 

internal and external engagement, in their region and to encourage 

diverse contributions to the University’s direction and operations. Details 

of the regional network are in the ‘Our Organisation’ chapter of this report.

CQUniversity plays an active role in supporting the development of 

economic, social and cultural sustainability within its many communities. 

While strengthening the strategic reach of engagement internally, the 

model also facilitated growth in the Regional Engagement Committee 

(REC) network. Existing committees in Wide Bay Burnett, Gladstone, 

Rockhampton, Central Highlands and Mackay–Whitsunday embraced the 

University’s new comprehensive structure, extending their membership 

and focus to incorporate VET operations. In 2015, broader community-based 

engagement will occur through newly established committees in the 

Victoria, New South Wales, South East Queensland, Townsville and North 

West Queensland, and the Cairns and Far North Queensland regions.

From the merger in July, the University began delivering the full range 

of post-secondary qualifi cations from Certifi cate I to Doctorate level, 

and liaised closely with secondary schools, industry and the wider 

community through the VET in Schools program, articulations and 

pathways, and the development of VET research. Developing governance 

models and strategies to create seamless pathways between high 

school, higher education and VET, the Academic Unifi cation team was 

pivotal in fostering engagement with the wider community to support 

the new comprehensive university structure. 

The project team facilitated meetings with schools and industry 

representatives to promote vocational education opportunities and 

pathways and lead internal stakeholder engagement to support the 

merger.

The 2014 Opal Awards for Excellence in Engagement recognised 18 

staff members and three students for their outstanding engagement 

and volunteer work with internal and external communities. Among the 

winners, and rewarded for excellence in engaged training and education, 

was the Biodiesel Plant project based at the CQUniversity Mackay Ooralea 

Trade Training Centre. Since its inception in 2010, this project has engaged 

more than 120 VET and high school students in Mackay’s Education and 

Training Reform for the Future program, and has been supported by at least 

12 industry and community partners. Once the plant receives Australian 

Quality Fuel Standard certifi cation, the University will make the biodiesel 

available to community organisations in the Mackay area. Details of all Opal 

Award winning projects are on CQUniversity’s website.

With a strong belief in creating value through people, the University 

offered capacity-building through professional development, as well 

as educational tools and resources on the Engagement Channel. The 

Engagement and Campuses Division delivered internal presentations 

and workshops, and partnered with Engagement Australia to host two 

visiting scholars in 2014. In March, Professor Angie Hart, Academic 

Director of the Community University Partnership Program (CUPP) based 

at the University of Brighton, trained staff and community members on 

methods of university–community engagement, resilience-based practice 

and engaged research. Dr Kerry Strand, Professor of Sociology at Hood 

College in the USA, addressed CQUniversity staff in July on the principles 

underlying community-based research, including its distinctively social 

change/social justice aims.

During 2014, the Development and Alumni Relations Directorate 

worked closely with community partners who, through their generous 

support, enriched student experience across a wide range of 

programs. From valued scholarship donors and prize-giving partners, 

the University received over $705 000 to recognise performance and 

create opportunities for many deserving students. Additional support 

from business, industry and the community benefi ted CQUniversity‘s 

education, research and service activities more directly through funding 

initiatives or purchasing equipment and resources for students.

To support growth and sustainability in the university sector more 

broadly, CQUniversity embraced opportunities throughout 2014 to 

share knowledge and best practice across the globe. The University’s 

engagement philosophy and practices were presented at national and 

international events including the Universities Australia Conference 

in Canberra; the launch of Engagement Thailand; the fi fth annual joint 

meeting of the three university councils: Suranaree University of 

Technology, Walailak University and Thepsatri Rajabhat University in 

Thailand; the Engagement Australia Conference in Wagga Wagga; and 

the second AsiaEngage Regional Conference in Bali. Through these 

interactions, CQUniversity continued to strengthen affi liations with 

infl uential engagement networks, leaders and other practitioners who 

collaborate on best practice in the sector.
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BUILDING AND STRENGTHENING COLLABORATIONS 

CQUniversity’s stakeholders play a crucial role in ensuring that its education, 

research and service delivery match the needs of students, business, 

industry and the community. Throughout the year, CQUniversity worked 

with multiple Indigenous organisations and education providers to enable 

80 students from eight Mackay region high schools to experience the 

unique collaborative education program, ‘Knukela Binbi Beerkou’ (see good 

tomorrow) program to receive work skills training and cultural education. 

Students undertook a Certifi cate II in Skills for Work and Training at 

CQUniversity Mackay City campus each week. Those who completed the 

program gained six points towards their Queensland Certifi cate of Education.

During 2014, CQUniversity’s engagement with industry continued to 

strengthen and focused on developing relationships to support future 

growth. Train@ CQUniversity collaborated with CQUniversity TAFE to embed 

optional work-based internships into all diploma-level VET qualifi cations to 

improve industry engagement and employment outcomes for students. 

Through positive industry engagement, the University’s vocational schools 

increased the qualifi cations offered, with industry supporting applications for 

certifi cates and diplomas in new areas such as logistics, instrumentation, 

information technology, engineering, digital media, veterinary nursing 

and Indigenous environmental health. CQUniversity was honoured to 

be recognised as a fi nalist in the Construction Skills Queensland Training 

Provider of the Year award, a category strongly focussed on meeting the 

needs of industry and ongoing industry engagement. TAFE students and 

staff were also recognised by industry through the Queensland Regional 

Training Awards. Nominations were received across fi ve categories, with 

two winners progressing to the State Finals.

The ongoing demand for health and health-related education, research 

and services resulted in a number of collaborative initiatives during the 

year. Partnering with ‘headspace’, a national foundation for mental health 

and wellbeing of young Australians, resulted in valued interaction and 

ongoing activities in the Mackay–Whitsunday and Rockhampton regions. 

Similarly, a partnership between the University and the Rotary Club 

of Rockhampton established the Rockhampton River Run Foundation 

for Prevention of Anxiety and Depression. Almost 3000 participants 

participated in the 2014 Rocky River Run held in May, raising thousands 

of dollars to help fund a study aimed at providing and evaluating services 

for anxiety-disordered youth and their families.

In a national fi rst, a partnership formalised in December with St John 

Ambulance, created a pathway for students from basic fi rst aid through to 

diploma and bachelor-level studies in paramedic science. The partnership 

with St John Ambulance will potentially benefi t hundreds of Queensland 

students every year and improve public safety and community resilience. 

Similarly, negotiations between the University and emergency service 

professionals in Australia and New Zealand informed the development of 

a new bachelor degree in emergency services. As well as providing an 

additional study pathway for fi re, State Emergency Service, police and 

ambulance workers, the qualifi cation is also suitable for emergency service 

volunteers and those in emergency roles in industry and the mining sector.  

As a key partner in the Health and Community Care Work Inspiration 

Partnership in Rockhampton, CQUniversity encouraged students to 

undertake further education and training to become the next generation 

of healthcare workers. This partnership, which also included government, 

education providers, Indigenous and other community groups, is 

facilitated by YouthInvest as part of Australia’s National Work Inspiration 

campaign. Highlighting the dedication of those involved, the partnership 

was selected as one of only 20 demonstration projects nationally to 

showcase best practice in partnering within a Work Inspiration model.

Throughout 2014, the University focussed on providing relevant 

education and qualifi cations required by local business and industry, and 

up-skilling local people for jobs in their communities. An MOU between 

the University and the Gladstone Regional Council signed in December 

highlights CQUniversity’s focus on education, training, research and 

employment opportunities in the local region. In addition, and following 

a 20-year tradition of industry participation in its Asset and Maintenance 

Management qualifi cations, the University delivered three such 

revamped qualifi cations during 2014, designed to assist trades-trained 

workers in taking their career into management. Attracting strong interest 

from students, this initiative resulted from close consultation with key 

industry partners nationally and across Central Queensland. 

As a provider of international education, international relations play an 

important role in CQUniversity’s core engagement activities. CQUniversity 

staff regularly interact with overseas counterparts and community groups 

in reciprocal knowledge exchange and collaborative initiatives. In 2014, 

CQUniversity researcher Professor Kevin Ronan forged links with United 

Nations (UN) Integrated Research on Disaster Risk initiatives in his role as 

project leader for the Bushfi re and Natural Hazards Cooperative Research 

Centre (BNHCRC). Joining the international conversation on disaster 

risk reduction, Professor Ronan represented BNHCRC at meetings in 

London, Paris and Geneva. In October, Professor Bronwyn Fredericks, 

CQUniversity’s Pro Vice-Chancellor (Indigenous Engagement) and BHP 

Billiton Mitsubishi Alliance (BMA) Chair in Indigenous Engagement 

attended the International Network of Indigenous Health Knowledge 

and Development Conference held at Winnipeg, Manitoba in Canada, 

delivering presentations on several related initiatives including development 

of the National Indigenous Research and Knowledge Network and health 

research activities.

Through a partnership with the Global Voices organisation, a number of 

CQUniversity students accessed fully-funded international travel and a 

voice on the global stage in 2014. Environmental Science student Lana 

Groves visited Kenya as part of the Global Voices Study Tour on UN 

Sustainable Development and Environmental Challenges, while Bachelor 

of Laws student Gregory Barry visited Washington for the Global Voices 

World Bank and IMF Australian Youth Delegation. To create additional 

international opportunities for students, CQUniversity joined the 

International Student Exchange Program (ISEP) network of universities. 

Through this program, CQUniversity expects to offer students exciting 

opportunities to study in over 300 institutions in 50+ countries for up to 

one academic year. Being a reciprocal arrangement, CQUniversity will 

receive the same number of inbound students as outbound, all of whom 

will be placed on the Rockhampton North campus initially.

CQUniversity promotes lifelong engagement with students through its 

alumni network and is proud of the achievements they are making in 

their world. Their accomplishments benefi t society and the University, 

advancing the common good and inspiring others. The second annual 

CQUniversity Alumni Awards recognised the outstanding achievements 

of four graduates who, while also representing their chosen fi eld, had 

proven themselves as inspiring forces for community development. 

Details of the Award winners are on CQUniversity’s website. The 

University regularly contacts approximately 55 percent of its current 

Alumni cohort.  With the addition of CQUniversity TAFE VET graduates 

from July 2014, future alumni numbers will continue to grow.

PROMOTING ACCESS, PARTICIPATION AND OPEN 
CAMPUSES

CQUniversity maintained its open campus philosophy during 2014, 

extending this to include its newly acquired TAFE campuses and facilities. 

The University actively promoted on-campus participation through open 

days, career information sessions, schools visits and special events. 

Stakeholders were also encouraged to use the University’s facilities and 

resources. CQUniversity Emerald opened its campus to students from 

11 African nations to showcase how Australian vocational education 

institutions forge partnerships with the resources industry through skills 

and trades development. In October, the Indian Association of Central 

Queensland celebrated Diwali Milan 2014, the Festival of Lights, with a 

colourful cultural event involving more than 800 people at the University’s 

Community Sports Centre on Rockhampton North campus. 

Strongly committed to the principles of social inclusion, CQUniversity 

invigorated its Widening Participation Program in 2014 following feedback 

sessions with secondary school principals and teachers across Central 
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Queensland. The program, which engages more than 160 state 

schools across Central Queensland, has delivered programs to more 

than 13 000 school students from low socio-economic, rural/remote and 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander backgrounds since 2011. In April, the 

University launched its Reach Out Central Queensland (ROC-Q) initiative 

at Glenmore State High School in North Rockhampton, at Calen District 

State College near Mackay, and at Bundaberg State High School. ROC-Q 

is about ‘seeding success’, motivating and inspiring students to be 

successful learners at school and also later at university or TAFE and in the 

workforce. The program targets Year 11 and 12 students, and is delivered 

at the schools by a ROC-Q team comprised of current CQUniversity 

students who once attended high school in the respective areas.

With almost half of CQUniversity’s students studying by distance, 

considered efforts were made throughout the year to improve 

engagement and interaction with this expansive group of students. 

Working towards this goal, the University established additional study 

hubs or centres in areas where they would generate the most benefi t 

to students and the broader community. To this end, the University’s 

International and Services Division worked throughout the year on 

negotiations with local stakeholders, fi t-out, and promotion of new sites 

in Townsville and Charters Towers in Queensland, Perth and Karratha in 

Western Australia, and Cooma in New South Wales. These sites were 

confi gured to offer students a combination of facilities and services 

including computer resources, access to live lecture broadcasts, and 

course advice. During 2014, the Facilities Management Directorate also 

successfully negotiated tenancy agreements at existing locations with 

several key industry partners including Conservation Volunteers Australia, 

who established an offi ce at the Gladstone Marina campus, as well as the 

Resource Industry Network, now based at the Mackay Ooralea campus. 

CQUniversity’s aim to increase Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander student 

participation led to extensive consultation on the needs of local communities. 

The University’s Offi ce of Indigenous Engagement developed information 

sessions and other aspirational activities within their Community Aspirations 

Program (CAP-ED). A number of groups took part in CAP-ED during the year, 

including the Aboriginal Community of Woorabinda and Girls Time Out. CAP-

ED is one of several programs at CQUniversity funded through the Australian 

Government Higher Education Participation and Partnerships Programme 

(HEPPP). The Offi ce also hosted an Indigenous Employment Seminar. Held 

in October, Indigenous Employment Coordinators from the Queensland 

University of Technology and the University of Newcastle attended the 

seminar to raise awareness of Indigenous employment issues and to share 

their experience and strategies with staff.

With such a geographically vast footprint, CQUniversity’s ability to 

grow sustainably and engage successfully relies signifi cantly on its 

infrastructure and technology. The University aims to attract more 

school leavers, and grow to 50 000 students by 2020, thus information 

technology and infrastructure is vital to CQUniversity’s engagement with 

students, staff, the community and diverse stakeholders. To improve 

engagement capability, the University agreed to deploy Eduroam across 

all its campuses as a service to staff, students and visitors. Eduroam 

will provide visiting staff and students with seamless, secure access 

to their ‘home’ networks at no cost. Eduroam’s roll out will continue 

into 2015. CQUniversity’s Information and Technology Directorate is a 

strong participant in the Queensland Regional Network Organisation, 

which comprises the Queensland universities and related research-

based organisations. In 2014, CQUniversity participated in a number of 

collaborative groups and projects, including QuestNet ICT Conference 

hosting a video workshop to provide advice on video-conferencing 

technologies and approaches in a multi-campus, remote locations context.

‘GIVING BACK’ THROUGH ENGAGEMENT AND SOCIAL 
INNOVATION

CQUniversity regards social innovation as essential to its broader 

engagement journey and actively promotes, facilitates and recognises 

staff and student contributions. In 2014, the University established a 

project team to embed ‘giving back’ and ‘social innovation’ into the 

curriculum and to develop opportunities for students at all levels to 

become involved in social innovation projects designed to strengthen 

student engagement, increase their intercultural intelligence and 

enhance their employability. This initiative will recognise curricular and 

non-curricular activities that have a positive social impact, including 

the introduction of a Graduate Certifi cate of Social Innovation, social 

innovation electives in a range of qualifi cations, overseas community 

health placements, socially responsible student exchange through 

CQUGlobal options, and internships in companies and organisations 

involved in social enterprise.

The University also took part in The Big Idea 2014, a competition for 

undergraduate students coordinated by The Big Issue—Australia’s longest 

standing and most signifi cant social enterprise that delivers solutions to help 

homeless, marginalised and disadvantaged people to positively change their 

lives. Competing against six other universities, the Shelter Project, submitted 

by CQUniversity engineering students Mr Angus Hughes, Ms Jessica Kahl 

and Ms Mattison Rose, was announced as the winning project in December. 

Involving the concept of reusing industrial pallets to provide temporary 

housing for disaster victims, the Shelter Project’s social enterprise would 

employ disadvantaged people to assist in construction. As part of their prize, 

the students will return to Melbourne in 2015 to further develop the idea.

Each year, CQUniversity’s Opal Awards recognise students for their 
outstanding contributions to engagement through collaborative work with 
community groups and/or organisations to address a genuine community 
need. In 2014, the University recognised several such student projects, 
including ‘Anything Olivistro: engaging nursing home residents’ by Alina 
Bonaventura (Bachelor of Arts Honours in Creative Writing); ‘Giving a Voice to 
Youth Mental Health’ by Kelly Attard (Bachelor of Psychology); and ‘Achieving 
Results Through Indigenous Education (ARTIE)’ by Paula McDonald (Bachelor 
of Learning Management). Project details are on CQUniversity’s website.

Also recognised in the 2014 Opal Awards for Excellence in Engagement, 
Options Day was hosted in September by CQUniversity Bundaberg in 
conjunction with R U OK? Day. Evolving each year since its inception 
in 2012, Options Day has grown into a community event, encouraging 
people who have a disability, or who know someone with a disability, 
to explore the many study options and skill pathways available in their 
community. The event was successful, with over 400 attendees, 19 
community organisations, numerous activities and Bundaberg regional 
councillors lending their support. Options Day is coordinated by a steering 
committee of six community organisations, and is a great example of 
university–community engagement at its best.

Through greater student participation with communities, CQUniversity 
aims to achieve successful and sustainable outcomes across education, 
research and service. Early in the year, Train@ CQUniversity sponsored six 
Diploma of Nursing students and two staff to engage in a life-changing 
volunteer experience with the Salaam Baalak Trust, a New Delhi based 
organisation that provides housing, education and health support 
services to orphans. CQUniversity has partnered with Salaam Baalak 
for a number of years to provide services to homeless street children 
in Indian communities. The success of this program has led to Train@ 
CQUniversity and the TAFE Directorate being awarded funding for 10 
Diploma of Nursing students to work with Salaam Baalak in 2015. 

In addition, the University was successful in securing Australian 
Government funding to support a number of overseas study 
opportunities in 2015 with a positive social impact, such as 30 students 
(including 20 VET students) from any discipline to volunteer on rebuilding 
projects in Tacloban City in the Philippines (the area devastated by the 
2013 storms); 20 Education students to go to Vietnam to work in a 
school near Ho Chi Minh City (includes funding for language and cultural 
training); and 10 Nursing students to go to Singapore to work in an Age 
Care facility. In Australia, the Academic Learning Services Unit continued 
to contribute volunteer work with the Exodus Foundation, a not-for-profi t 
organisation in Sydney that empowers Australians through community 
welfare, healthcare and education. This collaboration provided numerous 
students the opportunity to improve their reading and writing skills.

30 CQUNIVERSITY AUSTRALIA  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2014



R
E

V
IE

W
 O

F
 O

U
R

 P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E

ENGAGED LEARNING AND TEACHING

OUR GOAL

CQUniversity will attract and retain more students, helping them 

to achieve their educational goals regardless of their cultural and 

family background or their country of origin. We will offer a range 

of pathways for students to access tertiary education and skills 

development to reach their educational potential. We will provide 

a stimulating environment that promotes and supports learner 

engagement utilising appropriate technology and infrastructure.

FACILITATING STUDENT ACCESS, PARTICIPATION, AND 
SUCCESS 

CQUniversity aspires to provide education opportunities to meet the 

needs of its diverse student profi le. The University recognises the 

importance of cultural awareness and preparation for a global workforce 

and is focussed on making the University more accessible and relevant 

to all people, especially those from under-represented, Indigenous, and 

culturally diverse backgrounds. CQUniversity continues to incorporate 

international, intercultural, and Indigenous perspectives into its 

qualifi cations, and cross-cultural competence is formally recognised as 

one of CQUniversity’s seven core graduate attributes.

Student mobility funding of $120 000 was secured from the Commonwealth 

Government to enable four student–teacher trips to undertake work 

in orphanages in India, Vietnam, and China. The School of Nursing and 

Midwifery was awarded $90 000 to support 50 students to travel overseas 

on mobility projects: 10 students to Palau, 20 students to Singapore, and 

20 vocational education and training (VET) students to India. Former New 

York paramedic, Professor Brian Maguire, led a group of CQUniversity 

Paramedic Science students to New York to learn about the city’s Emergency 

Medical Services (EMS) system. Now a Professor of Paramedic Science at 

CQUniversity, Brian arranged for his students to accompany paramedics on 

New York ambulances. Students also spent a day at the New York City (NYC) 

EMS Academy and a day at the NYC Central Communications Headquarters 

(HQ), as well as visiting Bellevue Hospital and ‘Ground Zero’.

CQUniversity is further embedding internationalisation in its qualifi cations’ 

content. As an important aspect of internationalisation, students 

have been encouraged and are actively participating in short-term or 

full-semester outbound mobility. The International Directorate has made 

available generous scholarships to support students.

The University’s long-running access education programs, STEPS (Skills 

for Tertiary Education Preparatory Studies) and TEP (Tertiary Education 

Program), continue to attract students seeking to participate in university 

studies. On-campus delivery of STEPS in Central Queensland regional 

cities has been expanded to various metropolitan campuses and centres, 

and is also available by distance. Over 400 completing STEPS and TEP 

students will articulate to undergraduate programs in Term 1, 2015.

EMPLOYABILITY

To attract international students to the University in an increasingly 

competitive global environment, CQUniversity developed an 

internships program to equip its graduates with the skills, competence 

and connections needed to build a successful career. In 2014, the 

International Directorate worked with the Higher Education Division to 

embed credit-bearing internships, supported by professional workplace 

preparation, into CQUniversity’s most popular business, information 

technology, and engineering degrees. In 2015, internships will be offered 

in eight qualifi cations: Bachelor of Information Technology; Master of 

Information Technology; Master of Information Systems; Master of 

Management for Engineers; Master of Management (Human Resource 

Management); Master of Management (International Business); Master 

of Management (Marketing); and Master of Business Administration.

CQUNIVERSITY GLOBAL 

CQUniversity aims to make international study experiences accessible 

to all of its students by 2020. In 2014, Academic Board approved all 

campuses to accept inbound students and participate in outbound student 

programs. The Mobility Program was renamed CQUGlobal and its new 

website was offi cially launched (www.cqu.edu.au/cquglobal-outbound 

and www.cqu.edu.au/cquglobal-inbound). The University also joined the 

International Student Exchange Program (ISEP), which gives students 

access to study overseas for up to one academic year at more than 

300 institutions in over 50 countries. In 2014, 5.6% of the University’s 

undergraduate cohort took up an overseas study option, up from around 

1% in 2013. CQUniversity received $426 000 in student mobility grants, 

which supported 150 students to travel overseas; this was an increase 

of 173% from $156 000 in 2013. These grants included 30 students 

supported by the Government’s New Colombo Plan. CQUniversity funded 

26 students to study overseas with the assistance of Asia Bound VET 

(ABVET) and the International Student Exchange Program. 

PROVIDING STUDENT SUPPORT 

CQUniversity’s staff focus on supporting the learning journey of 

students and providing prompt, effi cient, and effective service. Systems 

are designed to facilitate the work of academics and teachers and 

the learning experiences of students, and the University has further 

developed its in-house capabilities during 2014 through the work of the 

EASICONNECT project.

CQUniversity offers access education programs, such as STEPS and TEP, 

and services to help students develop the skills they need to progress 

along their chosen learning pathway, and offers equitable access to its 

qualifi cations and learning opportunities to enable students to succeed. 

Over 1800 students were offered the opportunity to study via STEPS and 

TEP in 2014. By developing and offering a diverse range of educational 

pathways, and through engagement with students, they are given the 

support they need to reach their full potential.

Throughout 2014 CQUniversity’s Academic Learning Centre continued 

to provide resources and support for students. The centre provided 

11 861 services to undergraduate students seeking assistance with 

the communications, mathematics, science and computing aspects of 

their studies. These services included face-to-face consultations, online 

submissions, drop-in sessions, email inquiries, phone calls, query line, 

discussion forums in Moodle and workshop/presentations, ‘Collaborate’ 

sessions to the University’s higher education schools, and local schools 

engaging in the Engage Education program.

CQUniversity has a reputation for producing workplace-ready graduates 

and CQUniversity graduates continue to have one of the highest 

employment rates in the country. The annual Graduate Careers Australia 

(GCA) report states that the CQUniversity graduate full-time employment 

rate is 81.1%, almost 10% higher than the national rate. CQUniversity 

graduates of Electrical Engineering and Building qualifi cations had a 

100% employment rate.

ACHIEVING TEACHING EXCELLENCE 

CQUniversity seeks learning and teaching excellence and leadership 

through the development of staff across its multi-city campuses. One 

University strategy is for all new academic staff and all teaching scholars 

without a teaching qualifi cation or relevant experience in higher education 

to complete the fi rst course in the Graduate Certifi cate in Tertiary Education 

(GCTE). The course, the ‘Nature of Learning and Teaching’ covers the 

principles and practice of teaching at CQUniversity and is delivered entirely 

online, through Moodle. Forty-four staff undertook the course in Terms 1, 

2, and 3 in 2014. The second course in the Graduate Certifi cate, ‘Designing 

for Learning’, had 10 enrolments in 2014. The remaining courses in 
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the Graduate Certifi cate also ran successfully in 2014 with 23 enrolments in 

‘Assessment for Learning’, and eight enrolments in ‘Scholarship of Learning 

and Teaching Research’.

CQUniversity has optimised students’ learning journeys across the 

span of the Australian Qualifi cations Framework (AQF) by providing a 

stimulating and engaging environment, making the most of educational 

technologies to foster interaction of students with each other, with staff 

and with online resources. An example of how CQUniversity has opened 

pathways for students bridging higher education and VET qualifi cations, is 

the Bachelor of Education (Early Childhood), which has the competencies 

for the Diploma of Early Childhood Education and Care embedded 

within the fi rst year of the qualifi cation, assisting with employability and 

a shortage of qualifi ed child care workers in regional centres. This is the 

fi rst of a range of new developments and pathways that maximise the 

benefi ts of CQUniversity’s mid-year merger with CQ TAFE.

The University has identifi ed and rewarded leadership in learning and 

teaching through the Vice-Chancellor’s Awards for Good Practice and the 

Vice-Chancellor’s Awards for Outstanding contributions to Learning and 

Teaching. Thirteen academic staff were recognised in the 2014 Vice-

Chancellor’s Awards for Learning and Teaching. Representing six schools 

and departments, and located at six campuses across Australia, the staff 

were presented with their awards at the 2014 Staff Awards Ceremony 

in November. Professor Stephen Colbran was granted a national Award 

for Teaching Excellence as part of the Australian Awards for University 

Teaching 2014 for his excellent achievements in law, economics, 

business and related studies in the discipline of law. Professor Steve 

McKillup gained his second national citation in six years for Outstanding 

Contributions to Student Learning in the Australian Awards for University 

Teaching 2014. These awards recognise quality teaching practice and 

outstanding contributions to student learning, demonstrating that 

CQUniversity staff are among Australia’s most talented educators.

CQUniversity provided support to enable staff to engage in the 

scholarship of learning and teaching, develop innovative educational 

and skills development and assessment practices, and build capacity in 

curriculum design. The scholarship of learning and teaching is promoted 

through the activities of CQUniversity’s Learning and Teaching Education 

Research Centre, which has over 100 members with shared interests in a 

wide range of aspects of research and scholarship. A number of learning 

and teaching seminars were held in 2014 including presentations on 

teamwork, open online courses, and inclusive educational practices.

The University supports a number of communities of practice (COPs) 

that enable staff with shared interests to exchange ideas and formulate 

plans to achieve outcomes on topics that have a direct impact on 

learning and teaching, including aspects such as internationalisation, 

work-related learning, and learning through simulation and teamwork. 

A new community of practice was established for the University’s open 

online courses, while another was formed for new staff at CQUniversity. 

Currently 200 staff are active members of a community of practice. 

Work-integrated learning (WIL) is a distinctive feature of CQUniversity’s 

approach to education delivery in meeting the needs of students 

and industry. For some years, CQUniversity has been extending its 

application of WIL across multiple disciplines and qualifi cations to equip 

students with real-world experience and skills for future employment. 

The merger in 2014 presented new opportunities to extend WIL into 

VET qualifi cations to ensure all CQUniversity students to benefi t from 

WIL experiences. As CQUniversity has traditionally developed curriculum 

to meet higher education regulatory standards, and different standards 

apply to VET, the challenge has been to establish an effective, integrated 

process to manage all WIL activities that also complies with divergent 

education standards.

CQUniversity recognises and supports staff for their contributions to 

learning and teaching excellence and innovation through grants and 

awards. The University’s learning and teaching grants play an important 

role in enabling staff to develop and test new ideas, aiming to enhance 

learning and teaching practices to achieve better learning outcomes for 

students. They also serve as a springboard for external national grant 

applications. Six CQUniversity Scholarship of Learning and Teaching 

Grants were awarded in 2014, with a total value $29 719. CQUniversity 

was invited to submit a full proposal to Round 2 of the 2014 National 

Offi ce for Learning and Teaching Innovation and Development Grant. 

The University is also a collaborator on a funded Special Priority project 

with the University of the Sunshine Coast to focus on the experience 

of students at regional universities in Australia. CQUniversity’s chief 

investigators on this project are Professors Rob Reed and Denise Wood.

Professor Bronwyn Fredericks, Pro Vice-Chancellor (Indigenous Engagement) 

and BHP Billiton Mitsubishi Alliance (BMA) Chair in Indigenous Engagement, 

chairs CQUniversity’s Academic Board and has led work undertaken by the 

Offi ce of Indigenous Engagement in learning and teaching. In collaboration 

with other CQUniversity schools, Professor Fredericks has secured two 

learning and teaching grants and has contributed to further grant applications 

with CQUniversity and with other universities. The Offi ce of Indigenous 

Engagement has been undertaking work to indigenise the Tertiary Entry 

Program (TEP) courses, and is now writing new courses for its revitalised 

TEP program. In addition to delivering courses that form the Aboriginal 

and Torres Strait Islander Plan in the Bachelor of Arts, Offi ce of Indigenous 

Engagement staff have taught into the Bachelor of Social Work in 2014 and 

have contributed to development in several other areas.

COMMITMENT TO ENHANCEMENT 

The University participated in the Australian Graduate Survey (AGS) to 

monitor graduates’ perceptions of their learning experience, with an 

81% overall satisfaction rating for the most recent cohort of graduates. 

Evaluations of all courses each term are carried out through the Moodle 

learning management system. This ensures that the student voice is 

heard effectively, enabling staff to close the loop with students to explain 

how their feedback has helped courses to improve. The survey data is 

also used to recognise outstanding practice in learning and teaching, with 

‘Student Voice’ Awards for Overall, On-Campus, and Distance Educator 

of the Year awarded on the basis of course evaluation data. These awards 

were won by Philip Minca, Lorraine Oliveri and Associate Professor Wally 

Woods, respectively.

In 2014, the Academic Development team in CQUniversity’s Learning 

and Teaching Services section continued to work in partnership with 

academic staff to support the development of 18 new qualifi cations and 

their constituent courses, together with those qualifi cations undergoing 

fi ve-yearly reviews. The team also supported staff who wished to address 

strategic aspects and new approaches to learning and teaching, or to refresh 

their knowledge and skills through workshops and other professional 

development activities, including the introduction of Moodle 2, in 

collaboration with colleagues in the Information and Technology Directorate.

The University’s reporting systems continue to be developed through its 

academic ‘dashboards’, with revised features for qualifi cation and course/

unit performance, attrition, and course evaluations. An ongoing focus on 

attrition has been maintained through regular reporting to Academic Board 

and Council, with a number of projects at school and qualifi cation level 

focussed on improving retention and reducing attrition, funded through the 

Commonwealth Government’s Structural Adjustment Fund during 2014. 

Outcomes from these projects point to the importance of establishing 

positive staff–student communication to strengthen students’ sense of 

‘connectedness’ to the University, and an in-house system of Early Alert 

Student Indicators has been developed and deployed during 2014 to 

make it easy for staff to monitor levels of student engagement in their 

online courses, and to send personalised messages. Train@ CQUniversity 

delivered its Skills for Education and Employment (SEE) program at 

the Rockhampton North campus. The SEE program is an Australian 

Government initiative that partially funds the delivery of up to 800 hours 

of accredited training to provide participants with enhanced literacy and 

numeracy skills leading to a Certifi cate 1 in Access to Vocational Pathways 

qualifi cations.
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CQUniversity’s Learning and Teaching Services staff developed new 

resources in 2014 to support higher education staff in their learning 

and teaching practice including the ‘Great Guide’ series, with titles 

covering new staff at CQUniversity, course coordination, and writing 

effective learning outcomes. One-page resources were developed and 

promulgated to provide ‘Ten Top Tips’ on a range of topics, including using 

wikis, setting exams, and producing videos. Short video clips (‘Take 5’) 

were used for weekly professional development on a range of learning 

and teaching topics, including a ‘special’ series by Professor Steve 

McKillup. These and other multimedia and written resources were made 

available through the staff portal. 

During 2014, the Vocational Quality Unit implemented a Teacher Induction 

Program for new teachers with an associated mentoring program for 

TAFE teachers, which covers all aspects of training and assessing, 

and also includes a clinical placement component. Following the 

introduction of a new recognition of prior learning (RPL) process for VET, 

staff professional development training has been undertaken in parallel 

with Moodle training for TAFE teachers new to the University’s Moodle 

learning management system.

SUPPORTING LEARNING AND TEACHING THROUGH 
INFRASTRUCTURE AND TECHNOLOGY

With the impact of increased fi nancial constraint during a time of 

expansion, 2014 was a particularly challenging year. New or upgraded 

infrastructure and technology was introduced to meet the increased 

staff and student numbers resulting from the merger and CQUniversity’s 

decision to establish new centres to support distance learning. Some key 

projects undertaken in 2014 to support learning and teaching include:

 » Rockhampton North campus: established a new space for early 

childhood teaching

 » Brisbane and Sydney campuses: undertook refurbishment of the 

chiropractic laboratories for delivery of the chiropractic qualifi cations

 » Rockhampton North campus: redesigned building layouts for future 

initiatives and provided temporary spaces for learning and teaching 

activities to continue until refurbishment works were completed

 » Five new study centres/study hubs: Charters Towers study hub; 

Townsville study centre; Cooma Universities centre; Perth study 

centre; and Karratha study hub.

Specifi c information technology upgrades undertaken during 2014 to 

support learning and teaching included:

 » substantial investment in learning and teaching spaces, through 

Commonwealth Structural Adjustment Funding, to support online 

and supported distance education strategies, with intensive effort in 

planning, design, consultation with academic staff, development of 

prototypes and procurement of services and contractors

 » online video content (Echo360 application) was implemented, 

delivering lecture capture, content management and streaming/

download capabilities

 » the Moodle learning management system was implemented for 

TAFE Directorate staff and courses, and planning was undertaken 

to upgrade the Higher Education Moodle system in preparation for 

integration of both systems

 » two new databases for tracking student learning outcomes and 

progression were implemented for Academic Learning Centre and STEPS

 » a new online staff and student ‘handbook’ was implemented in 

conjunction with a staff reference group, encompassing student 

self-lookup, visibility into qualifi cations and courses/units, personal 

timetables, class lists, provision for student photographs and 

identifi cation cards, and

 » a work-integrated learning (student placement) system to facilitate 

effi cient work-placement for students, improve the student experience 

and satisfaction, and improve relationships with employers.

These projects, as well as upgrades to some lecture theatres, continue 

to provide consistent and cutting-edge technology to CQUniversity’s 

on-campus and distance students.
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The Indian Association of Central Queensland celebrated Diwali Milan 2014, 
the Festival of Lights, on October 18 with a colourful cultural event at the CQ 
Community Sports Centre on CQUniversity Rockhampton North campus.
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ENGAGED RESEARCH AND INNOVATION

OUR GOAL

CQUniversity will conduct both fundamental and applied 

research in selected priority areas. We will aim to help improve 

the economies of regions and communities by collaborating in 

research projects, developing knowledge, promoting innovation, 

and being entrepreneurial.

CHAMPIONING RESEARCH

CQUniversity engages with regional, national, and international research 

communities and industry partners to increase its research activity 

and offer outstanding research qualifi cations for staff and students. 

Throughout 2014 involvement continued with industry, funding agencies, 

government, regional communities, and other higher education 

institutions. CQUniversity entered into signifi cant new collaborations 

during 2014, which included becoming founding members of the 

Australasian Centre for Rail Innovation (ACRI), the Rail Manufacturing 

Cooperative Research Centre (CRC), and the Bushfi re and Natural 

Hazards CRC. Each membership will enable the University to foster and 

support high quality applied and fundamental research, particularly in the 

areas of rail engineering and human factors. The University is currently 

negotiating further partnerships with foci in areas of strength such as 

precision agriculture and environmental sustainability.

The Excellence in Research for Australia (ERA) initiative conducted across 

the Australian higher education sector by the Australian Research Council 

(ARC) in 2012 resulted in an outstanding outcome for CQUniversity 

in 2014, now ranked 21st among Australian research institutions. 

Preparation has begun for the next round in 2015.

In 2014, CQUniversity also focussed on developing a research agenda 

that leverages opportunities presented by the University’s merger with 

CQ TAFE. Traditionally, former CQ TAFE staff developed and maintained 

industry-relevance skills through professional development and industry 

release activities. CQ TAFE teachers were not required to undertake 

research as a core function of their teaching role or encouraged to compete 

for research funding or undertake funded research projects, as is common 

among academics in Australian universities. With its agenda to be a 

comprehensive university, offering the full range of AQF qualifi cations, 

CQUniversity aims to promote research in vocational education and training 

(VET) and to establish the means for all CQUniversity staff, including 

VET teachers, to become skilled and involved in research. To support 

this objective, Research Leader, Dr Susan Kinnear, was appointed to the 

Industry, Vocational Training and Access Education Division in early 2014 to 

enhance research outcomes across the Division through capacity-building 

and collaboration with colleagues in the Higher Education Division.

To inform CQUniversity of lessons learned, effective integration of 

vocational and higher education and to identify best practice approaches 

in academic integration across existing dual sector universities, the 

Academic Unifi cation project commissioned KPMG to undertake research 

into best practice in dual sector integration and governance. The research 

was used to provide direction for the Academic Unifi cation team to 

develop a new integrated model of academic governance across higher 

education, vocational education and training, and access education. The 

research was also used to inform the project on how new curriculum 

development models could be adopted to integrate AQF higher education 

and VET qualifi cations, based on the experience and lessons learned from 

existing dual sector universities for application at CQUniversity.

REWARDING AND SUPPORTING RESEARCH 
EXCELLENCE

CQUniversity supports research excellence in those priority areas that 

contribute to the needs of industry and the community. To achieve 

this, the University encourages and supports a culture of research by 

identifying and rewarding research leaders, promoting scholarly activities, 

mentoring emerging researchers, and fostering an environment of active 

enquiry and innovation. In 2014, CQUniversity offered practical support 

to its staff by investing in delivering opportunities for researchers to 

develop skills in submitting competitive research grant applications. These 

professional development and mentoring opportunities included formal 

programs for early career researchers, research leaders, and a new 

program for developing grant and fellowship applications for Category 1 

funding, which commenced in 2014. Although investment in these 

training and development programs may take a number of funding cycles 

to have a signifi cant and positive impact on the University’s research 

income, the programs have delivered immediate impact in supporting 

staff to develop improved research track records and assisting their 

competitiveness for future funding proposals.

CQUniversity also fosters research and innovation through its award and 

grants schemes. In November 2014, excellence in research was formally 

recognised at the annual Vice-Chancellor’s Awards, with the following 

staff receiving awards:

 » CQUniversity Excellence in Research Higher Degree Supervision: 

Professor Donna Lee Brien

 » Vice-Chancellor’s Award for Excellence in Research: Professor 

John Rolfe

 » Vice-Chancellor’s Award for Outstanding Researcher – Early Career 

Researcher: Dr Susan Davis

 » Vice-Chancellor’s Award for Outstanding Researcher – Early Career 

Researcher: Dr Amanda Rebar

 » CQUniversity Opal Award for Engaged Research and Innovation: 

Professor Kerry Walsh for his research on ‘Near Infrared Spectroscopy 

in Fruit Quality Assessment’.

New staff research grants were awarded for the fi rst time in 2014 to 

recent academic appointees to support them to establish their research 

profi le at the University:

 » Dr James Chapman was granted $14 691 for researching the 

development of superhydrophobic materials as a foul-release coating 

technology with multiple applications to static and dynamic marine 

structures

 » Dr Emma Jackson was granted $13 451 for examining sedimentation 

rates as a limiting factor for successful seagrass transplantation

 » Dr Richard Bradbury was granted $15 000 for researching a lyme or 

lyme-like disease in Queensland

 » Dr Crystal Kean was granted $14 962 for research into validity and 

reliability of physical activity monitors to measure energy expenditure 

in individuals with severe knee osteoarthritis

 » Dr Andrew Irving was granted $14 581 for research into identifying 

thresholds of freshwater impacts on marine foundation species

 » Dr Rebecca Vella was granted $14 999 for researching the effects of 

cholesterol lowering drugs on muscle wasting and organ failure and if 

novel pharmaceutical interventions treat the adverse effects, and

 » Dr Manyo Oyson was granted $13 700 for research into the impact of 

knowledge of foreign laws on small fi rm internationalisation.

In November 2014, an internal funding pool of $25 000 was also 

made available to support new research initiatives directly related to 

the University’s vocational training and access education activities. 
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Collaborative research projects involving staff from all education areas 

were invited across the priority areas of:

 » access education and training (including literacy, numeracy and 

student experiences in entering tertiary education)

 » vocational education and training (including VET policy, practice and 

professional development needs), and

 » the impacts of vocational training or access education on regional 

industry growth and/or community development.

Nine applications were received from across the University for a 

requested grant value of $44 864, with successful applicants each 

receiving up to $5000. In addition, Academic Learning Services staff, Ms 

Karen Seary and Ms Trixie James, received an Offi ce of Learning and 

Teaching grant aimed at designing practical strategies to increase STEPS 

students’ attendance at face-to-face on-campus classes.

IMPROVING RESEARCH PERFORMANCE 

CQUniversity has improved its research funding and performance 

outcomes by developing strategic partnerships in priority research areas 

and investing in critical areas of growth to improve research ranking 

against other Australian and international universities. The University’s 

Appleton Institute in Adelaide and the Mackay-based Centre for Family 

and Domestic Violence Research continued to lead research in two such 

priority areas in 2014. CQUniversity also plans to establish a number of 

new institutes and centres to begin operation in 2015.

CQUniversity increases its research intensity by developing initiatives 

to encourage and support researchers. In 2014, the Higher Education 

Division continued the Early Career Researcher Program, led by 

Professor Drew Dawson, to provide early career researchers with 

mentoring and support to develop their skills in research career planning, 

grant applications, writing publications, and developing collaborative 

opportunities. The NHMRC cohort is a joint initiative of the Health 

Collaborative Research Network (Health CRN) and the University’s Offi ce 

of Research Services, and offered program participants an opportunity to 

develop well-constructed and supported grant applications.

During 2014, CQUniversity staff submitted 25 proposals to the ARC 

across the Linkage Project, the Discovery Early Career Research Award, 

Discovery Projects, and Discovery Indigenous Fund schemes. Also, 

CQUniversity submitted 11 applications to the NHMRC for their project 

grants and Early Career Fellowship schemes, three of which were 

successful, resulting in a success rate of 27%. Overall, more than 64 

new research grants were awarded to the University from a variety 

of funding sources, including a number of fellowships and national 

competitive grants for projects that began in 2014, a sample of which are 

in Tables 3 and 4 below.

TABLE 3: FELLOWSHIPS AWARDED THROUGH NATIONAL COMPETITIVE GRANTS

Fellowship Recipient/s $ Value Details

Dr Mitchell Duncan $520 000
This National Heart Foundation Future Leader Fellowship is an extremely prestigious Category 1 grant, with fewer than 20 
fellowships awarded around Australia, and provides salary and support over four years.

Associate Professor Corneel 
Vandelanotte

$640 000
This National Health Foundation Future Leader Fellowship covers four years of Associate Professor Vandelanotte’s salary 
and research activities, and will enable further development of projects to tailor technology-based interventions for specifi c 
populations, including people with symptoms of depression, older people, children and sedentary offi ce workers.

Dr Amanda Rebar $154 720
This NHMRC Early Career Research Fellowship will fund Dr Rebar’s project entitled, ‘Walking out of the darkness: 
Developing physical activity habits in Australians with depressive symptoms’.

Dr Camille Short $309 436
This NHMRC Early Career Research Fellowship will fund Dr Short’s project entitled, ‘Advancing population approaches 
to physical activity promotion among cancer survivors: The development and evaluation of an innovative web-based 
intervention’.

Dr Anjum Naweed $240 000
This part-time Principal Research Fellowship with the Australasian Centre for Rail Innovation (ACRI) will enable 
development and management of research projects, provision of human factors guidance to the industry, and will ensure 
the scientifi c integrity of research endeavours. The project will run for three years.

TABLE 4: RESEARCH PROJECTS AWARDED THROUGH NATIONAL COMPETITIVE GRANTS

Grant Recipient/s $ Value Details
Professor Colin Cole, 
Professor Peter Wolfs, Dr 
Maksym Spiryagin and Dr 
Yan Sun

$31 000 000
Representatives of the University’s rail research group succeeded in their bid for the Rail Manufacturing Cooperative 
Research Centre (CRC), which will develop products, technologies and supply chain networks to increase the capability 
and globally competitive position of the rail industry.

Professorial Research Fellow 
Kevin Ronan

$822 000

Funded over three years by the Cooperative Research Centre (CRC) on Bushfi re and Natural Hazards, Professorial 
Research Fellow Ronan is leading the project, ‘Building Best Practice in Child-Centred Disaster Risk Reduction’. It will 
evaluate the extent that education can equip children and families to cope with natural disaster and the extent that children 
can help mobilise a community to prepare, respond and recover more effectively from some unanticipated event.

Professor Drew Dawson 
and Professor Sally 
Ferguson

$200 000

Appleton Institute researchers are leading a new Bushfi re CRC project synthesizing research and practice to enhance 
emergency incident management. The project, focused on the human factors in incident management, is a collaboration 
involving Dr Chris Bearman and Associate Professor Matthew Thomas, also of the Appleton Institute, and colleagues at La 
Trobe University, Deakin University, Victoria University, and the University of Tasmania.

Dr Chris Bearman $780 000
This project will provide regional and state level emergency responders with strategies to help them make better 
decisions during large and complex fi res and fl oods. Funded by the Bushfi re and Natural Hazards CRC, it is being 
undertaken with industry partners from fi re and emergency service agencies throughout Australia and New Zealand.

Professor Phil Brown and Dr 
Talitha Best

$483 000
Funded by the Horticulture Australia Limited (HAL) Transformational Research Fund, this project entitled, 'A value chain 
approach to horticultural product innovation' is led by CQUniversity and in collaboration with the Tasmanian Institute of 
Agricultural Research and the Queensland Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry.

Professor Brijesh Verma $232 132
This ARC Linkage project, in collaboration with Dr David Stockwell from Queensland Department of Transport and Main 
Roads, is developing a novel approach for identifying roadside fi re risks using pattern recognition and computational 
intelligence techniques.

Associate Professor 
Matthew Rockloff

$400 000
As chief investigator, Associate Professor Rockloff leads this 'Innovations' project, funded by Gambling Research Australia. 
Other members of the research team are Dr Matthew Browne, Dr Phillip Donaldson, and Dr En Li.

Dr Matthew Browne $300 000
Chief investigator, Dr Browne, leads the 'Gambling Harms' project funded by the Victorian Responsible Gambling 
Foundation, in collaboration with research team members Associate Professor Matthew Rockloff, Ms Erika Langham, 
Dr Talitha Best, and Dr Phillip Donaldson.

Professor Sally Ferguson $236 700
This Discovery Project funding from the ARC will progress Professor Ferguson’s research entitled, ‘Sleeping with one ear 
open: the impact on sleep and waking function’.

Associate Professor Greg 
Roach and Dr Charli Sargent

$720 000
This NHMRC funded project is entitled, ‘It’s the amount that counts: The impact of seven days of sleep restriction on 
predictors of Type 2 Diabetes’.
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Grant Recipient/s $ Value Details
Professor Bronwyn 
Fredericks, Dr Susan 
Kinnear, Ms Julia Mann, Dr 
Pamela CroftWarcon

$57 823

CQUniversity researchers, in collaboration with Professor Steve Larkin (Charles Darwin University) and Ms Bonnie Chew 
(Federation University Australia) were awarded funding from the Student Equity in Higher Education Research Grants 
Program, National Centre in Student Equity in Higher Education. The project is entitled ‘Best practice bridging programs: 
facilitating Indigenous participation at regional comprehensive universities’.

Associate Professor Trudy 
Dwyer

$176 000
In collaboration with Ms Michelle Gardner and Mr Darren Holzberger (Queensland Health), Associate Professor Dwyer will 
evaluate nurse lead models of care.

Professor Bronwyn 
Fredericks

$50 000

With researchers from the University of Melbourne, James Cook University, Monash University, Apunipima Cape 
York Health Service, and the Cairns Base Hospital and Diabetes Centre, Professor Fredericks will undertake a project 
funded by Diabetes Queensland that follows Monash University research (NHMRC 2011–2013). The project is entitled, 
‘Understanding barriers and facilitators to postpartum care for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women with gestational 
diabetes’.

Professor Kerry Walsh, 
Dr Surya Bhattarai and 
Professor David Midmore

$272 000
Funded through an Accelerate Partnerships grant, CQUniversity researchers are partnering with CSIRO, Mara Seeds, and 
Carbon Farmers of Australia, in a project on ‘Carbon smart fertilizer: Green Chicken’.

Professor Margaret 
McAllister and Professor 
Bruce Knight

$203 273
Funded through an Accelerate Partnership grant, CQUniversity researchers are undertaking a project in partnership with 
Curtin University of Technology, Queensland Mental Health Commission and Education Queensland on ‘Building resilience 
in regional schools’.

CQUniversity’s Offi ce of 
Indigenous Engagement 
and IVTAE Division

$45 194
Funded by CQ Medicare Local, the project is on ‘Exploring Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander knowledge, experiences 
and perceptions of chronic disease conditions in the greater Rockhampton region’.

Professor Kevin Ronan $400 000

Funded by the Department of Justice and Attorney General, Professor Ronan is leading a project entitled ‘Treatment of 
children and youth at risk for long-term anti-social outcomes in hard to reach families’ over three years in collaboration with 
Youth Justice and the Department of Justice and Attorney General. The project represents a next step in evaluating a new 
intervention model for families with complex problems.

Dr Yan Sun $315 000

The CQUniversity researcher is co-chief investigator on this ARC Discovery Project for a project entitled, ‘Mitigating 
the severity of level crossing accidents and derailments’ with host institution, Queensland University of Technology. 
The project will formulate theories for reducing crash energy and effective wheel constraints to prevent derailment by 
modifying the levels of road and rail crossings and providing guard rails in the recesses of these modifi ed level crossings.

Professor John Rolfe $370 600
Professor Rolfe will be part of a project entitled ‘Designing for uncertainty in conservation auctions’, funded by the 
Australian Research Council.

DEVELOPING RESEARCH SKILLS

In 2014 CQUniversity continued to invest signifi cant resources to support 

research higher degree (RHD) candidates, and appointed academic leader, 

Associate Professor Susan Kinnear, as Dean of Graduate Studies in 

October. Twenty new research higher degree scholarships were awarded, 

providing living allowance stipends for full-time doctoral candidates and 

two providing tuition coverage. These new awards were among 115 

candidates (more than one quarter of the University’s RHD students) who 

received a scholarship in 2014, and 30 of these scholarships were funded 

through partnerships between CQUniversity and external agencies, 

including the Coal Minesite Rehabilitation Trust Fund, the Poultry CRC, 

and Australian Agricultural Technologies. In addition, CQUniversity funded 

19 Summer Scholarships to 2nd, 3rd and 4th year undergraduates to 

undertake short-term eight-week projects with leading researchers across 

the University. The Summer Scholarship initiative was successful in 

promoting interest in research among undergraduate students, with many 

intending to continue into a CQUniversity Masters or Doctorate degree.

In 2014 the University reintroduced a research training program for 

research higher degree candidates. Fully-funded by the Offi ce of Research 

Services, the program delivered 39 workshops to 455 participants across 

a wide range of topics, including ‘Four Wheel Drive Training’, ‘R–Ordination 

Modelling’, ‘SPSS’, and ‘Defeating Self Sabotage’. The program also 

funded travel costs for remote and regional research higher degree 

candidates to participate in face-to-face offerings of these workshops, 

offered at nine of CQUniversity’s regional and metropolitan campuses.

The Health CRN is a productive partnership between four universities: 

Curtin University, Queensland University of Technology, The University 

of Queensland and CQUniversity. Within the network, researchers 

establish quality, sustainable collaborations focused on achieving 

stronger performance outcomes in health-related research by developing 

research capacity at CQUniversity. The Health CRN’s inclusiveness 

attracted researchers in mental health and psychosocial disciplines, while 

remaining within the prescribed key performance indicator descriptors. It 

operated a no-walls model deliberately targeting all health and wellbeing 

researchers from the newest doctoral scholar to the highest levels of 

the University’s executive. The network has enriched many researchers 

through individual mentoring and peer-reviews of publications and 

grant applications, and attendance at numerous research methods 

workshops and writing and grant writing retreats. The CRN has been 

instrumental in shaping the University’s supervisor training package by 

designing an innovative, advanced one-year grant writing support group 

aimed at securing NHMRC and ARC grants. The Health CRN exceeded 

its milestones and key performance indicators a year early, and its 

culmination in early 2015 is expected to embed quality into a sustainable 

research model for the University.

CQUniversity’s Professor Bronwyn Fredericks is a chief investigator, node 

leader, and network member of the National Indigenous Research and 

Knowledges Network (NIRAKN). Administered through the Queensland 

University of Technology (QUT), NIRAKN has been established as a 

multidisciplinary ‘hub and spokes’ model of Indigenous researchers at 

various stages of their career from over 24 collaborating universities 

and fi ve partner organisations, along with the Australian Institute of 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies, of which CQUniversity is a 

collaborating institution. Partner organisations include the United Nations 

University, the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Healing Foundation, 

the National Congress of Australia’s First Peoples, Ninti One Limited, and 

Waminda Indigenous Women’s Organisation. The network is establishing 

a coterie of skilled, qualifi ed Indigenous researchers, creating pathways 

from undergraduate to postgraduate studies to establish a regenerative 

pipeline of new researchers across institutions and fi elds of critical 

research importance. CQUniversity is directly involved in the health and 

wellbeing node activities and, where possible, also facilitates access 

to these activities for Indigenous RHD students. For example, several 

Indigenous RHD students attended various national NIRAKN capacity-

building activities, and an Indigenous undergraduate student was 

awarded a national essay prize.

During 2014, the University’s Offi ce of Indigenous Engagement was 

awarded two competitive research grants, the fi rst being from the 

National Centre for Student Equity and Higher Education to explore 

Indigenous access education, resulting in a national roundtable attracting 

participants from Australia and New Zealand. The other was from CQ 

Medicare Local Ltd to undertake a study with Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander people in Central Queensland and will work towards 

closing the gap in Indigenous health. Five small grants were awarded 

through NIRAKN and work has begun on this suite of projects. The 

Offi ce of Indigenous Engagement also worked with other CQUniversity 

directorates to ensure research opportunities include Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander people. This has resulted in several applications 

being developed between CQUniversity researchers from schools, 

directorates, and community organisation partners in the fi elds of aged 
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care, housing, community development, and issues of concern for 

young people along with retention and attrition of the present student 

cohort. This work is developmental and has positioned the Offi ce of 

Indigenous Engagement to partner with other areas of the University to 

establish a new research institute that will build on regional strengths and 

opportunities.

Research activities in the Industry, Vocational Training and Access 

Education (IVTAE) Division were focused on promoting an awareness 

of research opportunities, and providing support to divisional staff to 

build research capacity and increase participation in research initiatives, 

particularly through collaboration with academic staff in the Higher 

Education Division. To this end, the Division staged the 2014 OctoberVET 

event, ‘Starting the research conversation’, supported by the Australian 

Vocational Education and Training Research Association. This event was 

an opportunity for staff to better understand the University’s research 

operations, build connections with colleagues, and identify opportunities 

for research topics relevant to their teaching and learning practices, 

including a keynote presentation by Ms Berwyn Clayton of Victoria 

University. The Division also delivered an externally funded research 

project, worth $20 752, called the ‘Capricornia Business Dashboard’ for 

the Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure and 

Planning. This project examined the challenges and opportunities facing 

small to medium enterprises within the Capricornia region, including their 

skilling and training needs.

In 2014 the International Directorate and Research Services teams 

redesigned the admissions process for international student RHD 

applications resulting in an increase in the number of applications and 

acceptances. In 2014 approximately 300 applications were received, 

equating to an approximate 30% increase from 2013.

TABLE 5: INTERNATIONAL STUDENT RESEARCH 
APPLICATIONS AND ACCEPTANCES BY INTAKE YEAR

Year No. of Applications No. of Acceptances
2011 132 13

2012 174 16

2013 238 19

2014 253 22

RESEARCH INCOME AND PERFORMANCE 

CQUniversity continued to strengthen its research income and 

performance throughout the year. Initiatives begun in previous years 

were continued and strengthened, including a commitment to 

performance-based management for research delivery, the continued 

provision of a strong research training platform, the growth of research 

higher degree (RHD) enrolments, and on-time completions. In terms of 

total income, CQUniversity’s research revenue increased by 16% in 2013. 

The University’s efforts to improve its research standing include success 

in securing nationally competitive income, represented by a 7% increase 

in Category 1 income, and an increase in Category 2 (38%) and Category 

4 (61%) income. Category 3 (7%) income showed a slight decrease.

TABLE 6: RESEARCH INCOME 2014 

HERDC Category External 
Research Grants

$ Amount 
(Reported in 2014)

1 Australian Competitive $1 741 491

2 Other Public Sector $3 149 278

3 Industry and Other  $2 925 691

4 Cooperative Research Centre  $1 359 207

Total Research Funding  $9 175 667

Source: CQUniversity data 2014.

TABLE 7: RESEARCH PERFORMANCE 2014

HERDC Category Reported in 2014
Weighted Research Publications 417.27

Total HDR Student Load (EFTSL) 254.75

Total HDR Award Completions 45

Source: Higher Education Research Data Collection (HERDC) in 2014.

TABLE 8: COMMONWEALTH RESEARCH BLOCK GRANT 
FUNDING 2014

Research Block Grant Categories $ Amount 
Research Training Scheme $2 196 039

Research Infrastructure Block Grant $224 146

Australian Postgraduate Awards $980 623

International Postgraduate Research Scholarship Scheme $67 098

Sustainable Research Excellence $407 730

Joint Research Engagement $1 481 705

Joint Research Engagement: Cadetships $14 178

Total $5 371 519

Source: CQUniversity data 2014.
Rio Tinto Yarwun Electrical and Instrumentation apprentice, Ms Kayla 
Rua (pictured left), won the Queensland Training Awards 2014 Harry 
Hauenschild Apprentice of the Year for Central Queensland, and did her 
training blocks at CQUniversity Gladstone City.
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SUPPORTING RESEARCH AND INNOVATION THROUGH 
INFRASTRUCTURE AND TECHNOLOGY

Research and innovation at CQUniversity continued to be strongly 

supported through new or upgraded infrastructure and technology to 

meet the University’s growth in this area. Some key projects undertaken 

in 2014 to support research and innovation include:

 » Gladstone Marina campus: new covered area and installation of 

specialist equipment for the seagrass research project

 » Central Queensland Innovation and Research Precinct (CIRP): new 

plant growth facilities, including a new glasshouse with power, water, 

hardstand areas, and a preparation and storage space equivalent to 

existing facilities on the Rockhampton North campus

 » CQIRP: stage 1 refurbishment of the large animal research shed for 

the Plant and Science Research Team

 » Rockhampton North and Bundaberg campuses: research higher 

degree students’ space audit and improved space utilisation.

Specifi c information technology activities and upgrades undertaken 

during 2014 to support research and innovation included:

 » training provided to 15 new users of the High Performance Research 

Computing (HPC) system: the University operates a ‘Silicon Graphics’ 

HPC cluster to support research computing needs, and although the 

number of unique users remained steady compared to 2013, jobs 

completed increased by 22% and actual processing hours increased 

by 27%.

 » a major upgrade of ResearchMaster, the University’s research 

management information system, was completed, implementing 

the eForms module of ResearchMaster with in-built workfl ow 

functionality commenced in 2014, and completion due in 2015.

 » research data storage was moved from shared data storage to 

dedicated research storage in 2014, with 100 terabytes provisioned in 

the fi rst stage.

 » Excellence in Research for Australia (ERA) reporting which began in 

2014 involving establishment of databases, migration of publication 

data, and compilation of reports.

 » Symplectic, a system that automatically captures research publication 

metadata, began in 2014 and is due to fi nish in 2015, will streamline 

processes in the Offi ce of Research Services and assist researchers 

to maintain accurate publication information that will support ERA 

reporting requirements.

CQUniversity has a proud history of supporting and sponsoring various 
local sporting activities across its regional footprint, and is the naming 
rights sponsor of the Cairns Taipans NBL team in the 2014–2015 season.
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ENGAGED ENTERPRISE

OUR GOAL

CQUniversity will have a positive culture which supports 

people and capability, manages performance, and values the 

University’s staff, students, communities and industry partners. 

We are committed to high standards of governance and a 

continuing quest for quality. Our fi nancial, physical, management 

and information technology systems and infrastructure supports 

the University’s core business.

STUDENT OUTCOMES

INCLUSION AND ACCESSIBILITY SERVICES

In 2014, CQUniversity developed a more holistic model for students 

with disability, which included the appointment of two full-time Disability 

Advisors to the Inclusion and Accessibility team and the development 

of disability awareness resources for staff and students. A total of 260 

students registered with the Inclusion and Accessibility team and received 

ongoing support throughout the year. The team implemented student 

accessibility plans, working collaboratively with academic and professional 

staff to make reasonable adjustments for 260 students in examination 

conditions. A further 30 students received over 545 hours of academic 

skills support in relation to time management, organisation and study 

skills. In addition to reasonable adjustments, the service provided a range 

of assistive technologies to registered students including transcriptions, 

software and other specialist equipment.

COUNSELLING AND WELLBEING SERVICE

The Student Counselling and Wellbeing team provided individual 

counselling (face-to-face, telephone, email and skype/jabber) during 

2014 to 830 students experiencing personal diffi culty. An additional 

2923 students were supported through wellbeing support groups, e.g. 

lectures, workshops and debriefi ng sessions facilitated by the team, and 

the online course ‘Get Optimistic about Study’. Also, 100 CQUniversity 

staff members participated in workshops, provided by the Counselling 

Service, including those in confl ict resolution and fi rst response student 

support, which is designed to equip staff with the skills to respond 

appropriately to students who present as being distressed.

SCHOLARSHIPS AND FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

The CQUniversity Equity Scholarships and Financial Assistance program 

provided vital support to fi nancially disadvantaged CQUniversity students. 

In 2014, over 1500 students received an equity-based fi nancial award, 

while another 87 students received an interest-free loan of up to $1000 

from the University. Annual survey feedback from students that have 

received fi nancial support confi rms the positive impact that fi nancial 

assistance plays in retaining students at CQUniversity. Table 9 provides 

details of fi nancial assistance to students in 2014.

TABLE 9: STUDENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE IN 2014

Scholarships, Awards 
and Grants

Details
Number 
Awarded

Expenditure

Equity Technology Award 
laptops

$1 000 per unit 60 $60 000

Equity Study Supplement
$1 000 max. per term of 
full-time study

628 $1 100 000

Indigenous Commonwealth 
Scholarship

ICECS payments: $2 492 
ICAS payments: $4 985 
IAS payments: $4 702

108 $479 314

Equity Bookshop Voucher 
Bonus

$250 579 $144 750

CQUniversity 
Accommodation 
Scholarship

Full board at 
CQUniversity residences 
valued up to $9 700

35 $306 010

CQUni Connect
$250 CQUniversity 
Bookshop vouchers

117 $29 250

Student Loans Up to $1 000 87 $75 673

CQUni Cares Grants $500 17 $8 500

START UNI NOW PROGRAM

The SUN program is an initiative that enables Year 11 and 12 high school 

students to study CQUniversity undergraduate courses. In 2014, 73 

students from 39 schools participated in the SUN program with a total 

of 101 course enrolments throughout the year. There are currently 96 

undergraduate courses available to SUN students.

WIDENING PARTICIPATION – PARTNERSHIPS

Strongly committed to the principles of social inclusion, CQUniversity 

invigorated its Widening Participation program in 2014 following feedback 

sessions held with secondary school principals and teachers across 

Central Queensland. This initiative, which engages more than 160 state 

schools across Central Queensland, has delivered programs to more 

than 21 000 school students from low socio-economic, rural/remote and 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander backgrounds since 2011.

In April, the University launched its ‘Reach Out Central Queensland’ 

(ROC-Q) initiative aimed at ‘seeding success’, motivating and inspiring 

students to be successful learners at school. The initiative targets Year 

11 and 12 students and is delivered at the schools by an ROC-Q team 

comprising current CQUniversity students who once attended high 

schools in the respective areas.

MONITORING ACADEMIC PROGRESS (MAP)

In 2014, the MAP program identifi ed 824 international students 

academically at-risk, of which 419 students were individually interviewed 

and 292 action plans submitted. These interactions were recorded via 

the University customer relationship management (CRM) system, and 

interviews were conducted by the Academic Progression Offi cer.

ALLY PROGRAM

The Ally program is dedicated to creating a safe and supportive 

University culture for lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and intersex 

students by raising awareness and countering discriminatory attitudes 

and behaviours. In 2014, the student-led program was delivered to 10 

students and fi ve staff. Since this program began in 2012, a total of 78 

students and staff have completed either face-to-face, ISL or the online 

interactive training via the Ally Network Moodle site and Blackboard 

Collaborate. This year the program was recognised with an Opal Award 

for internal engagement. Improvements will continue in 2015 with plans 

to make resources more accessible to students and staff.
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EQUITY PROJECTS

In 2014, Higher Education Participation and Partnerships Programme 

(HEPPP) funding was directed towards essential projects and services to 

support low socio-economic status (SES) students. Various projects were 

facilitated by HEPPP funding, including:

 » ‘Succeed at CQUniversity’, a bespoke retention service predicated 

around early intervention with students deemed to be at risk of 

attrition (based on a number of demographic and behavioural triggers), 

with these interventions including recommendations or referrals to 

CQUniversity student support services where necessary.

 » development of a project aimed to effi ciently manage placement 

activities for students and staff operating in all programs with a 

work-integrated learning component. The project was designed 

to ensure that vocational education and training (VET) and higher 

education students use a consistent interface and similar procedures 

regarding placement. The project resulted in the introduction of 

effi cient processes that provide students with a greater engagement 

in their placement experience.

 » the purchase of innovative software to direct program funding to low 

SES students to improve support as well as monitor the effectiveness 

of programs and improve reporting mechanisms.

 » the appointment of a Professor of Learning, Equity, Access and 

Participation to provide a clear focus for activities across the Higher 

Education Division to support students from low SES backgrounds 

through a range of projects and activities designed to increase student 

retention and success. The appointment is a continuing position, with 

HEPPP only providing initial seed funding.

 » continuation of assistance to fi rst-year CQUniversity students to 

achieve their educational goals by providing a formal course structure, 

qualifi cations information and sound advice.

 » delivery of an outreach program, Australian Indigenous Mentoring 

Experience (AIME), for CQUniversity’s Rockhampton North campus to 

191 Indigenous high school students. AIME engaged and trained 16 

CQUniversity students as mentors in the AIME Outreach program.

SUPPORT SERVICES

FIRST-YEAR EXPERIENCE 

During 2014, approximately 190 students were active in the Student Mentor 

program, providing support and advice to more than 630 fi rst-year students.

Also in 2014 on-campus orientations were well attended by students, 

and large numbers of students accessed Orientation Online with 

engagement peaking in the months of February (Term 1: 78 532 views 

and 11 480 posts) and June (Term 2: 35 683 views and 4218 posts). 

Orientation Online underwent a major refresh for Term 2. The site 

now includes six short ‘Quick Guide’ videos on topics such as ‘Being a 

Distance Student’, ‘An Introduction to Course and Program Information’, 

‘An Introduction to Financial Matters’ and ‘Time Management’. 

STUDENT ADVICE AND CONVERSION

The Student Advice team responded to approximately 14 500 requests 

during 2014 for advice on CQUniversity qualifi cations/programs. These 

enquiries were varied and mainly related to course enrolment, credit 

transfer, and eligibility to graduate.

The Student Advice team successfully managed the conversion of more 

than 4412 fi rst-year students into their qualifi cation. This assistance 

provided students with guidance on how to accept and enrol in 

their qualifi cation as well as navigating their way through the various 

information, websites and contact points.

These interactions and communications were recorded and tracked 

through a CRM system, allowing Student Advisors to provide tailored 

support to students during their fi rst steps at CQUniversity.

PROGRAM AND CAREERS SERVICES

A total of 66 fi rst-year planners and full program planners were created 

for each undergraduate qualifi cation and were made available to students 

online. On request individual study plans were developed for students so 

that their degree was designed specifi cally to suit their requested study 

load and to fi t in with their particular lifestyle or circumstances.

The 2014 annual Careers Fair was held at the Rockhampton North campus, 

providing an opportunity for 463 students to engage with prospective 

employers and learn more about the graduate qualifi cation opportunities 

available to them. Career displays were placed on nine campuses allowing 

more student access to career information. In addition to these displays, 

an online career instrument, ‘Career Voyage’ was implemented and utilised 

with prospective and current students and ‘Pop Up’ Career Services were 

introduced across some campus locations. The Careers Moodle site was 

also utilised by students, as well as academic staff.

STUDENT GOVERNANCE 

STUDENT RECORDS, EXAMS AND TIMETABLING

Over 4000 offi cial transcripts were produced during 2014 in response to 

requests received directly from students via the new online application 

system. Over 230 student requests for withdrawal without academic 

penalty, and almost 600 student requests for removal of fi nancial liability 

were also assessed and processed. Since the merger in July, more than 

3000 statements of attainment have been issued to VET students.

Over 41 000 offi cial end-of-term examinations were administered across 

more than 280 exam centres worldwide, involving 23 798 students. The 

diversity of CQUniversity’s students is always evident by the locations in 

which examinations are administered, and this was no exception in 2014 with 

new locations including the Multicultural Force and Observers Army camp 

(an international peacekeeping force in Egypt), and Hyderabad, the common 

capital city for the southern Indian states of Andhra Pradesh and Telangana.

Over 4600 classes were timetabled for higher education students in 

2014, and almost 3500 ad hoc booking requests were processed. A new 

timetabling system was implemented for VET students in late 2014 in 

preparation for 2015 classes.

STUDENT RESIDENCES

In response to the University’s growth in 2014, Student Residences 
expanded its accommodation packages offered to students studying 
on campus, those attending block training for vocational education, 
and distance students attending residential schools. Also, student 
accommodation rates were reviewed to offer the best value for students, 
and these changes resulted in an overall 6% rise in student numbers 
in residence. Student Residences was also home away from home for 
University staff visiting from other campuses, as well as sporting groups 
and external guests including the Singapore Armed Forces and visitors 
attending the Chancellor’s Cup.

The Student Residences’ ‘Earning While Learning’ program also 
expanded in its second year of operation.  Fifty student residents took 
up opportunities to work in different areas such as the CQUniversity 
Book Shop, Facilities Management Directorate, Corporate Events and 
Graduation, Student Admission, Advice and Retention Centre, and the 
CQUniversity Community Sports Centre throughout the year, and plans 
are in place to expand this fl agship program across more campuses in 
2015.

In a fi rst for the Student Residences, a CQUniversity student resident, 
Matthew Newsome, completed the industry placement component of his 
qualifi cation with the Residences from January to June 2014, proving to 
be a great experience and opportunity for the student and CQUniversity. 
In Matthew’s words, ‘…my time completing this placement was a great 
learning experience. Being able to apply my knowledge in a professional 
offi ce setting really boosted my confi dence for my future career in information 
technology. Everyday presented me with various different tasks and 
challenges which required different skills …to overcome. I would recommend 
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any resident or student who is required to complete a placement for the 
completion of their course [to] contact the CQUniversity Student Residences’.

COMPLAINTS MANAGEMENT 

The University’s Student Complaints Policy and Procedures outline how 

students can make complaints and how these are recorded and resolved. 

The University is committed to a complaint-handling process based on the 

principles of good decision-making, visibility and access, responsiveness, 

assessment and action, feedback and monitoring effectiveness. Complaints 

are managed impartially, effectively, fairly and economically, and dealt with 

confi dentially to ensure complainants are not subject to any form of reprisal 

for making a complaint. Students may also lodge complaints directly with 

their Dean of School, the Vice-Chancellor and President and members of the 

University’s senior executive.

Complaints from VET students from 1 July were also processed on the above 

principles, and in accordance with the transferred policy. A comprehensive 

complaints management process is under development for 2015.

GRADUATION CEREMONIES 

The University conducted 11 graduation ceremonies during the year 

at Brisbane, Bundaberg, Gladstone, Mackay, Melbourne, Noosa, 

Rockhampton and Sydney. A total of 5257 graduates were conferred with 

awards in 2014, comprising 42 doctoral awards, 3365 higher education 

awards and 1850 vocational education and training awards.

TABLE 10: HONORARY AWARDS CONFERRED AND TITLES 
AWARDED IN 2014

Awards/Titles Recipient

Doctor of the University
Dr Hilary Mercer, MBBS Qld, MCRP, 
FRACP

Emeritus Fellow
Mr Ken Kwong, HighDipElectEng 
Hong Kong Polytech, BEng(Hons), PhD 
Newcastle, GIEE, GIERE

Emeritus Professor
Professor Phillip Clift, BEcon(Hons) Qld, 
MSc Edinburgh, FSS, FAIM

Honorary Doctor of Business Mr Yoshitaro Iwasaki, BEc Keio

Honorary Doctor of Business
Mr Frank McGuiness, BEc(Acct) Adelaide, 
GradDipAcct, MFinMgt CQU, FCPA, FCSA

Honorary Doctor of Education
Mr Rex Metcalfe, DipEd, BA Auckland, 
MA(Hons) Macquarie

Honorary Doctor of Engineering
Mr Neil Lowry, BEng(Elec), GradDipMgt 
CIAE, RPEng

Honorary Doctor of Engineering Mr Cyril Golding (posthumous award)

Honorary Doctor of Performing Arts Ms Leanne Benjamin OBE

Laureate Professor
Professor Qing-Long Han, BSc SNU, MEng, 
PhD ECUST

TABLE 11: GRADUATION CEREMONY GUEST SPEAKERS

Location Guest Speaker
Gladstone 
12 February

Mr Mike Dunstan, BMechEng Canterbury, MBA Deakin
General Manager, Queensland Alumina Limited

Rockhampton
6 March

The Honourable Michael Kirby AC, CMG, BA, LLB, BEc, LLM 
Sydney, HonDUni CQU
Former Justice of the High Court of Australia

Bundaberg
15 April

Superintendent (retired) Rowan Bond, DipPubSafety(Policing) 
QPS, ADipBus(JusticeAdmin) TAFE, GradCertAppMgt CSU
Adjunct Associate Professor, CQUniversity

Noosa 
3 July

Associate Professor Richard Walker, PhD Sydney
Faculty of Education and Social Work, The University of Sydney

Brisbane
31 July

His Honour Judge Alexander Horneman-Wren SC, BBus CIAE, 
LLB QUT
Judge of the Queensland District Court, Deputy President 
of the Queensland Civil and Administrative Tribunal, and 
CQUniversity Alumnus

Sydney
25 August

Mr Caxton Pang, MCom Macquarie, CPA
Principal Founder, Linton Solutions

Mackay
24 September

Professor Gracelyn Smallwood, DipIndigMH, MScPubH, PhD JCU 
Adjunct Professor, James Cook University

Melbourne
8 October

Mr Desmond Pearson AO, BBus, GradDipMgt, HonDBus CQU, 
FCPA, FIPAA, FAIM, FCA, FISEAM
Former Auditor-General, University Council member and 
CQUniversity Alumnus

Sydney
24 November

Professor Andrew Vann BEng (Hons) NTU, PhD Bristol, 
GradCertBusAd USC, FAIM, FAICD, FIEAust
Vice-Chancellor and President, Charles Sturt University

Rockhampton
9 December 
(two ceremonies)

Dr Hilary Mercer, MBBS Qld, MCRP, FRACP
Paediatrician

Mr Graham Scott, BEng(Civil) CQU
Local businessman and Councillor, and CQUniversity Alumnus

R
E

V
IE

W
 O

F
 O

U
R

 P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E

Rockhampton author and CQUniversity staff 
member, Greg Chapman, launched his fi fth 

book with the release of his debut short story 
collection, Vaudeville and Other Nightmares, 

at the Rockhampton North bookshop.
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UNIVERSITY MEDALLISTS

The University may award University Medals to students who 

have achieved an exceptionally high level of performance in 

their studies in certain qualifi cations. The recipients for 2014 

were:

Wendy Enchelmaier 

Bachelor of Arts (Honours) GPA 7.0

Eugenie Franzinelli  

Bachelor of Information Technology (Honours) GPA 7.0

SCHOOL MEDALLISTS 

School Medals are awarded to the graduating student with the 

highest academic achievement in a bachelor degree in each of 

the schools in the Higher Education Division. To be eligible for 

a School Medal, graduates must have achieved a Distinction 

level in a three-year degree or a First Class Honours level in a 

four-year degree. The recipients for 2014 were:

School of Business and Law

Sarah Bainbridge 

Bachelor of Business (Human Resources Management) with 

Distinction GPA 6.833

School of Education and the Arts 

Susan Dowse 

Bachelor of Learning Management (Primary Education) with 

Distinction GPA 6.882

School of Engineering and Technology

Evan Bayliss 

Bachelor of Engineering (Electrical) (Co-op) with First Class 

Honours and a Diploma of Professional Practice (Engineering)

 GPA 6.914

School of Human, Health and Social Sciences 

Monique Healy  

Bachelor of Health Promotion with Distinction GPA 6.813

School of Medical and Applied Sciences 

Deborah Power 

Bachelor of Medical Science (Nutrition) 

with Distinction GPA 6.917

School of Nursing and Midwifery 

Stephanie Woodburn  

Bachelor of Nursing with Distinction GPA 6.913

ALUMNI AWARDS

CQUniversity takes great pride in the achievements that its 

alumni are making in their world. Their accomplishments 

benefi t society and the University, advancing the common 

good and inspiring others. The annual Alumni Awards 

acknowledge and celebrate these achievements by outstanding 

alumni in their professional fi eld or community service 

activities.

Distinguished Alumni Award 

Ms Carolyn Hardy

This award is conferred in recognition of outstanding 

leadership qualities and a commitment to excellence.

Industry Contribution Alumni Award 

Ms Judi Newman

This award is conferred in recognition of achievement to a 

high standard, or an exceptional contribution to an industry or 

profession.

Young Achiever Alumni Award 

Mr Blake Harvey

This award is conferred in recognition of signifi cant 

early-career achievement.

Volunteer Alumni Award
Mr Tim Griffi n OAM

This award is conferred in recognition of signifi cant voluntary 

contribution to CQUniversity and the community.
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INTERNATIONAL SERVICES

The University exceeded its enrolments in 2014 compared to 2013 which 

include English language (ELICOS) enrolments (Table 12).

TABLE 12: INTERNATIONAL ENROLMENTS IN 2013 AND 2014

Students
Forecast 2 2014 
Target

2013 Actual 
Enrolments

2014 Actual 
Enrolments

New to university 2099 2137 2155

New to university and to 
qualifi cation

2923 2959 3117

Growth of 2014 Actual 
Enrolments

vs. Forecast 2 
2014 Target

vs. 2013 Enrolments

New to university 2.6% 0.8%

New to university and to 
qualifi cation

6.6% 5.3%

New to university enrolments continued to be driven by postgraduate 

qualifi cations at the metropolitan campuses, whilst demand for 

undergraduate qualifi cations softened. ELICOS experienced growth of 

2.6% compared to 2013, which provided a valuable internal pipeline for 

new to qualifi cation academic enrolments.

The value of this pipeline was evident when comparing growth against 

2013 for academic qualifi cations. New to university enrolments were 

up 0.7% compared to 2013; however, when combined with new to 

qualifi cation enrolments, growth was 5.8% due to students progressing 

into degrees from the English language programs.

In 2014 CQUniversity experienced a signifi cant milestone for total (new 

and continuing) international students, with the total number of academic 

international students and EFTSL up against the previous year for the fi rst 

time in fi ve years. 

PEOPLE AND CULTURE

CQUniversity must attract, develop, reward and retain staff of the 

highest quality and provide a working environment that enables them 

to maximise their capacity to contribute to the University achieving its 

mission. The People and Culture Directorate has implemented actions 

and plans to move the University forward in the areas of workplace 

health and safety, employee and industrial relations, Indigenous 

employment, equity, salaries, superannuation, systems and professional 

development. Increasing the Directorate’s capacity and ability to meet 

the current and future needs of the organisation is the primary focus.

STAFF PROFILE

A detailed University staff profi le is available in Table 13.

For 2014, the University’s permanent retention rate was 90.87% and 

its permanent separation rate was 9.13%. The merger with CQ TAFE 

resulted in 420 additional positions to the University’s staff profi le.

WORKPLACE PLANNING FRAMEWORK

The University has in place a Workforce Planning Framework, which 

includes the following key components: accessing planning data 

and plans; analysing current operations; scenario planning and 

forecasting; identifying planning initiatives and strategies; approval and 

implementation of plans; and post-implementation review and evaluation. 

A high-level University plan was developed and consulted on in 2014 and 

strategies determined.

WORKFORCE ATTRACTION AND RETENTION STRATEGIES

University conditions of employment were signifi cantly improved in 

the 2012 Enterprise Agreement (certifi ed by the Fair Work Commission 

in January 2013) as a strategy for attracting and retaining skilled 

workers. Improvements included substantial salary increases to move 

CQUniversity’s salaries more in line with other universities and the 

granting of an extra seven days of paid annual leave per year. 

The academic staff workload allocation model was also enhanced to 

allow academic staff to specialise within fi ve categories of appointment 

ranging from Research-Intensive to Teaching-Focussed, based on their 

workload. 

The University’s recruitment processes were streamlined, and the use 

of psychometric testing for all shortlisted applicants for positions was 

implemented. Profi les for roles were also implemented to ensure inherent 

behaviours were matched. The People Capability Framework was also 

introduced to reinforce behavioural expectations for each level in the 

organisation. This framework is incorporated into all people-related activities.

Market loadings are paid on occasion to retain high-quality employees.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 

A review of the performance management framework, Performance 

Review and Professional Development (PRPD), was conducted in 2014. The 

People and Culture Directorate facilitated sessions to assist supervisors to 

effectively undertake unsatisfactory performance discussions and to handle 

confl ict in the workplace at the lowest possible level. All staff conducting or 

participating in PRPD must fi rst have received appropriate training.

INDUCTION

The University’s online induction process was enhanced, with Employee 

Relations Advisors personally contacting new staff members within a few 

weeks of commencement as a follow-up to their appointment. All academic 

staff members attend orientation sessions specifi c to academic matters 

within the fi rst two terms of employment. A community of practice for new 

staff was also instigated.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

CQUniversity continued its emphasis on the professional development of 

staff with a number of conferences and development activities conducted 

during 2014. The Senior Leadership Conference brought together 60 

senior members of staff to discuss leadership development, strategic 

initiatives and the future direction of CQUniversity. Personal coaching and 

mentoring is provided to staff, as needed. New academic staff members 

who do not have a teaching qualifi cation in higher education take the fi rst 

course in the Graduate Certifi cate in Tertiary Education (GCTE) as part of 

their preparation for a teaching role, and are encouraged to continue their 

study in the GCTE or equivalent. All staff were invited, with 170 people 

attending the 2014 CQUniversity Staff Conference ‘Student Success is 

Everyone’s Business’.

STAFF RECOGNITION

The University recognises outstanding achievements of staff through 

its Staff Award program. Staff are recognised for their achievement in 

a range of categories, including but not limited to the following areas: 

learning and teaching, research, research higher degree supervision, 

service, engagement and professional staff contribution.

In 2014, 19 successful academic promotions were awarded as follows:

 » Professor (Academic Level E): 2 staff (1 male, 1 female)

 » Associate Professor (Academic Level D): 2 staff (1 male, 1 female)

 » Senior Lecturer (Academic Level C): 11 staff (5 male, 6 female)

 » Lecturer (Academic Level B): 4 staff (2 male, 2 female).

Of the three applications for the University’s Outside Studies Program in 

2014 for the 2015 university year, one was supported and approved, one 

was unsupported, and the other was ineligible.
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INDIGENOUS EMPLOYMENT

CQUniversity continued to highlight the importance of Indigenous 

employment issues within and external to the University. Through 

its Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Employment and Career 

Development Strategy and Indigenous Employment Reference Group, 

the University continued its efforts to promote Indigenous employment. 

The Offi ce of Indigenous Engagement provided valuable mentoring to 

the People and Culture Directorate in its efforts to increase the number of 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander employees at CQUniversity. In 2014, 

there were 24 professional staff, three teaching staff and six academic 

staff who identifi ed as Indigenous Australians.

FLEXIBLE WORKING ARRANGEMENT AND WORK – LIFE 
BALANCE 

The University encourages fl exible working arrangements and the 

achievement of work-life balance by allowing staff to work fl exible hours 

of work in accordance with the operational needs of the particular work 

area and the relevant provisions of the Enterprise Agreement. Staff 

members are able to work off campus in certain circumstances, and 

part-time and job-sharing opportunities are encouraged. The University 

has a ‘fl ex-time’ scheme in place for its professional staff employees. 

The Enterprise Agreement provides fl exibility to ensure opportunities 

for staff with parenting responsibilities at CQUniversity. In addition to 52 

weeks parental leave, which includes 26 weeks paid maternity leave, 

CQUniversity offers its staff up to 20 weeks primary care-givers leave; 

up to a further 52 weeks child-rearing leave available to staff for the care 

of preschool aged children; the option of an additional four weeks annual 

leave per year (fl exible work year scheme 48/52); annualised hours, 

fl exi-time, job share, part-time work, and 5.4 weeks annual leave for all 

staff covered by the agreement.

The University Rehabilitation program continued to be proactive in 

managing both work and non-work related injuries and illness. The fi nancial 

year ending 2014 resulted in a further reduction in the WorkCover Industry 

rate against the previous year.

CQUniversity supports the Queensland Carers Charter in the Carers 

(Recognition) Act 2008, through the fl exible work practices and remote 

access facilities available to staff. The University also ensures staff 

are provided with relevant information and support as required. The 

University’s policies are regularly reviewed and if changes are initiated 

they are disseminated to all staff for their information.

CQUniversity also provides access to an Employee Assistance program for 

all staff and their immediate families. This service includes access to free 

counselling sessions via face-to-face meetings, email and telephone. All staff 

with work-related and non-work-related injuries and conditions are provided 

with support and assistance via the People and Culture Directorate.

INDUSTRIAL AND EMPLOYEE RELATIONS FRAMEWORK

The University’s Joint Consultative Committee meets at least every two 

months, at which management consults with staff unions on industrial 

and human resource issues. This is an active, robust and productive forum, 

which contributes to the effective management of industrial relations issues.

VOLUNTARY EARLY RETIREMENT, VOLUNTARY SEPARATION 
AND REDUNDANCY

No offers for voluntary early retirement were paid during this period. 

During the period, six employees received redundancy packages at a cost 

of $679 035. 

SAFETY 

The Safety team implemented a number of improved processes to 

reduce high-risk operations. Improvements implemented included 

ongoing support and advice to the University’s occupational health and 

safety committees.

In 2014 a new occupational health and safety framework was 

implemented, including a three-year Occupational Health and Safety 

Strategy, Occupational Health and Safety Policy and Occupational Health 

and Safety Operational Plan. In addition, system upgrades include the 

occupational health and safety portal, a centralised risk assessment 

database, a ‘Risks in Research’ project, and communication via the ‘BE 

Safe’ newsletter. 

FACILITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE

CQUniversity strives to provide well-maintained buildings, infrastructure 

and information technology systems to support learning and teaching, 

and research environments and other supported community activities. 

With CQUniversity’s merger with CQ TAFE, the Facilities Management 

Directorate undertook in excess of 50 minor projects with expenditure 

exceeding $4 500 000. These projects were delivered across the majority 

of CQUniversity campuses and vary immensely in scope from research 

and chiropractic facilities to a major campus relocation in Melbourne.

Key building, infrastructure and information technology projects include:

 » various contracts worth an estimated $7.4 million

 » refurbishment of the Mackay City campus 

 » construction of the Rockhampton Allied Health Complex Stage 2 

 » refurbishment of Rockhampton North campus building 34 

 » development of a Strategic Asset Management Plan (SAMP)

 » establishment of new study centres at Perth, Karratha, Cooma, 

Charters Towers and Townsville 

 » fi nalisation of a lease agreement for the Men’s Shed Inc. at the 

Rockhampton North campus and Conservation Volunteers Australia at 

the Gladstone Marina campus

 » implementation of the new student management system, 

StudentOne, for VET student administration

 » upgrades to Wireless and Eduroam systems

 » installation of an uninterruptable power supply, and 

 » integration of telephones and student call centres.

SUSTAINABILITY

The Facilities Management Directorate assumed responsibility 

for environmental management across the University in 2014 and 

implemented a consultative process to develop an Environmental 

Sustainability Policy. The policy promotes the adoption and 

implementation of sustainability practices by creating a culture of 

environmental sustainability that will be refl ected in CQUniversity’s 

infrastructure, energy, water and waste management practices.

Sustainability projects included:

 » installation of solar panels on A Block (Mackay), B Block (Gladstone), C 

Block (Emerald)  and E Block (Rockhampton) 

 » installation of rain water harvesting on campuses at Biloela, Emerald, 

Gladstone, Mackay, Rockhampton and Yeppoon, and

 » introduction of electric buggies for the Rockhampton North campus. 
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TABLE 13: STAFF PROFILE 2014
FEMALE MALE

TOTAL FTE
FTE Percentage FTE Percentage

A
C

A
D

E
M

IC

Fixed-Term Academic Level A 6.50 86.67% 1.00 13.33% 7.50
Academic Level B 8.10 72.97% 3.00 27.03% 11.10
Academic Level C 3.00 40.00% 4.50 60.00% 7.50
Academic Level D 1.90 54.29% 1.60 45.71% 3.50
Academic Level E 3.20 30.33% 7.35 69.67% 10.55
ELICOS Category B 2.00 40.00% 3.00 60.00% 5.00
Academic Salary Package 6.00 38.96% 9.40 61.04% 15.40
Fixed-Term Total 30.70 29.85 60.55

Continuing Academic Level A 27.63 76.47% 8.50 23.53% 36.13
Academic Level B 79.10 58.29% 56.60 41.71% 135.70
Academic Level C 48.22 48.26% 51.70 51.74% 99.92
Academic Level D 11.90 33.15% 24.00 66.85% 35.90
Academic Level E 7.00 35.00% 13.00 65.00% 20.00
ELICOS Category B 0.00 0.00% 1.00 100.00% 1.00
Academic Salary Package 0.00 0.00% 2.00 100.00% 2.00
Continuing Total 173.85 156.80 330.65

Academic Total 204.55 186.65 391.20

R
E

S
E

A
R

C
H

Fixed-Term Research Worker Level 3 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.00
Research Worker Level 4 2.00 100.00% 0.00 0.00% 2.00
Research Worker Level 5 2.40 77.42% 0.70 22.58% 3.10
Research Worker Level 6 2.80 100.00% 0.00 0.00% 2.80
Research Worker Level 7 2.75 73.33% 1.00 26.67% 3.75
Professorial Research Fellow 1.00 50.00% 1.00 50.00% 2.00
Senior/Principal Research Fellow 1.80 41.86% 2.50 58.14% 4.30
Senior Postdoctoral Research Fellow 2.60 50.98% 2.50 49.02% 5.10
Research Offi cer/Postdoctoral Research Fellow 5.30 54.08% 4.50 45.92% 9.80
Research Fellow 3.25 41.94% 4.50 58.06% 7.75
Senior Research Offi cer 4.20 49.24% 4.33 50.76% 8.53

Fixed-Term Total 28.10 21.03 49.13
Continuing Professorial Research Fellow 0.00 0.00% 1.00 100.00% 1.00

Research Offi cer/Postdoctoral Research Fellow 0.80 100.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.80
Continuing Total 0.80 1.00 1.80

Research Total 28.90 22.03 50.93

TA
F

E
 T

E
A

C
H

E
R

Fixed-Term Tutor 0.70 100.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.70
TAFE Teacher 18.50 75.20% 6.10 24.80% 24.60
Fixed-Term Total 19.20 6.10 25.30

Continuing Tutor 0.95 48.72% 1.00 51.28% 1.95
TAFE Teacher 34.82 36.72% 60.00 63.28% 94.82
Leading Vocational Teacher 13.00 31.33% 28.50 68.67% 41.50
Continuing Total 48.77 89.50 138.27

TAFE Teacher Total 67.97 95.60 163.57

O
T

H
E

R

Fixed-Term Management 26.54 43.84% 34.00 56.16% 60.54
Fixed-Term Total 26.54 34.00 60.54

Continuing Management 0.00 0.00% 0.50 100.00% 0.50
Continuing Total 0.00 0.50 0.50

Other Total 26.54 34.50 61.04

P
R

O
F

E
S

S
IO

N
A

L

Fixed-Term HEW Level 1 0.25 100.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.25
HEW Level 3 10.25 100.00% 0.00 0.00% 10.25
HEW Level 4 26.99 80.35% 6.60 19.65% 33.59
HEW Level 5 15.64 86.22% 2.50 13.78% 18.14
HEW Level 6 11.80 75.64% 3.80 24.36% 15.60
HEW Level 7 16.97 78.67% 4.60 21.33% 21.57
HEW Level 8 5.90 66.29% 3.00 33.71% 8.90
HEW Level 9 4.00 57.14% 3.00 42.86% 7.00
HEW Level 10 0.80 100.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.80
OO Level 2 6.00 70.59% 2.50 29.41% 8.50
OO Level 3 2.00 100.00% 0.00 0.00% 2.00
Fixed-Term Total 100.60 26.00 126.60

Continuing HEW Level 2 3.00 100.00% 0.00 0.00% 3.00
HEW Level 3 12.47 39.70% 18.94 60.30% 31.41
HEW Level 4 80.95 86.16% 13.00 13.84% 93.95
HEW Level 5 109.14 88.20% 14.60 11.80% 123.74
HEW Level 6 84.57 74.14% 29.50 25.86% 114.07
HEW Level 7 54.72 69.51% 24.00 30.49% 78.72
HEW Level 8 30.04 55.67% 23.92 44.33% 53.96
HEW Level 9 18.83 62.08% 11.50 37.92% 30.33
AO Level 2 24.07 92.33% 2.00 7.67% 26.07
AO Level 3 21.70 87.85% 3.00 12.15% 24.70
AO Level 4 20.20 74.27% 7.00 25.73% 27.20
AO Level 5 4.00 50.00% 4.00 50.00% 8.00
AO Level 7 6.00 70.59% 2.50 29.41% 8.50
AO Level 8 3.00 75.00% 1.00 25.00% 4.00
OO Level 2 8.00 51.95% 7.40 48.05% 15.40
OO Level 3 2.00 25.00% 6.00 75.00% 8.00
OO Level 6 1.00 33.33% 2.00 66.67% 3.00
TO Level 1 0.40 100.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.40
TO Level 2 0.60 100.00% 0.00 0.00% 0.60
PO Level 3 1.00 100.00% 0.00 0.00% 1.00
Continuing Total 485.69 170.36 656.05

Professional Total 586.29 196.36 782.65

REPORT TOTAL 914.25 535.14 1449.39

* Data does not include casual employees
** Report run as at 31 December 2014 45CQUNIVERSITY AUSTRALIA  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2014



KEY STATISTICS

2014 FULL YEAR DATA: HIGHER EDUCATION
Note: Totals in the tables below do not always match precisely the sum of values in 
the rows and columns due to rounding. Also, the grand totals in the tables below do 
not match because the funding category for some students were not assigned by the 
report date. Source: Data is extracted from the CQUniversity Data Warehouse

 31 December 2014.

TABLE 14: TOTAL STUDENT LOAD (EFTSL) BY FUNDING TYPE 
2012–2014

Funding type
2012 2013 2014

EFTSL EFTSL EFTSL
Australian Fee Paying 494.2 521.1 463.7

Australian Funded Load 7 059.4 7 812.9 8 371.1

International Student 4 168.7 3 118.3 3 439.7

Grand Total 11 722.3 11 452.3 12 274.5

Research Training Scheme 160.0 169.3 178.3

TABLE 15: TOTAL STUDENT LOAD (EFTSL) BY LEVEL OF 
PROGRAM/QUALIFICATION 2012–2014

Program/Qualifi cation
2012 2013 2014

EFTSL EFTSL EFTSL

N
ON

-A
W

AR
D Enabling 741.6 760.5 827.3

Non-award 43.9 59.8 39.3

Postgraduate (Cross-instuitional) 14.3 10.0 8.6

Undergraduate (Cross-institutional) 24.5 25.1 19.5

Total 824.3 855.4 894.7

PO
ST

GR
AD

UA
TE

Graduate Certifi cate 163.3 148.5 150.8

Graduate Diploma (Extended) 42.8 29.1 26.0

Graduate Diploma 697.2 565.6 577.2

Masters (Coursework) 1 593.7 1 676.2 2 375.3

Doctorate (Coursework) 0.5 0.0 0.0

Total 2 497.6 2 419.5 3 129.3

RE
SE

AR
CH Masters (Research) 45.0 41.3 42.8

Doctorate (Research) 196.6 202.7 204.2

Total 241.6 243.9 246.9

UN
DE

RG
RA

DU
AT

E Associate Degree 39.4 91.3 124.9

Associate Diploma 0.0 0.0 2.6

Bachelor (Honours) 181.7 177.8 197.0

Bachelor 7 635.0 7 507.1 7 589.8

Diploma 302.8 157.4 93.1

Total 8 158.8 7 933.5 8 007.4
Grand Total 11 722.3 11 452.3 12 278.3

TABLE 16: TOTAL STUDENT LOAD (EFTSL) BY GENDER AND 
LEVEL OF PROGRAM/QUALIFICATION 2014

Program/Qualifi cation
Female Male Summary
EFTSL EFTSL EFTSL

N
ON

-A
W

AR
D Enabling 518.9 308.4 827.3

Non-award 26.3 12.9 39.3

Postgraduate (Cross-institutional) 3.0 5.7 8.6

Undergraduate (Cross-institutional) 11.8 7.8 19.5

Total 559.9 334.8 894.7

PO
ST

GR
AD

UA
TE Graduate Certifi cate 65.1 85.7 150.8

Graduate Diploma (Extended) 10.0 16.0 26.0

Graduate Diploma 288.6 288.6 577.2

Masters (Coursework) 849.0 1 526.3  2 375.3

Total 1 212.7 1 916.6 3 129.3

RE
SE

AR
CH Masters (Research) 25.3 17.5 42.8

Doctorate (Research) 96.1 108.1 204.2

Total 121.3 125.6 246.9

UN
DE

RG
RA

DU
AT

E Associate Degree 20.6 104.3 124.9

Associate Diploma 2.6  0.0 2.6

Bachelor (Honours) 171.4 25.6 197.0

Bachelor 4 891.4 2 698.4 7 589.8

Diploma 49.5 43.6 93.1

Total 5 135.5 2 871.9 8 007.4
Grand Total 7 029.5 5 248.8 12 278.3

TABLE 17: TOTAL STUDENT LOAD (EFTSL) BY STUDY MODE AND TYPE OF ATTENDANCE 2012–2104

Study Mode/Type of 
Attendance

Australian Fee Paying (EFTSL)
Australian Funded Load 
(EFTSL)

International Student (EFTSL) Total (EFTSL)

2012 2013 2014 2012 2013 2014 2012 2013 2014 2012 2013 2014

DI
ST

AN
CE

Full-time 52.0 55.9 54.2 1 801.8 2 131.1 2 480.5 8.8 8.8 5.1 1 862.6 2 195.8 2 539.9

Part-time 342.5 376.3 352.3 2 235.9 2 409.6 2 527.9 28.5 31.2 27.7 2 606.8 2 817.1 2 907.9

Distance Total 394.5 432.2 406.5 4 037.6 4 540.7 5 008.5 37.3 40.0 32.8 4 469.4 5 012.9 5 447.8

IN
TE

RN
AL

Full-time 27.8 31.6 19.3 865.5 958.5 888.4 2 833.1 1 845.5 2 285.9 3 726.4 2 835.6 3 193.6

Part-time 52.5 38.7 20.0 295.6 303.5 291.6 1 124.1 1 070.4 947.0 1 472.1 1 412.6 1 258.6

Internal Total 80.3 70.3 39.4 1 161.1 1 261.9 1 180.0 3 957.1 2 916.0 3 232.9 5 198.5 4 248.2 4 452.7

M
UL

TI
-M

OD
AL Full-time 10.4 8.5 10.2 1 607.5 1 721.8 1 872.5 155.2 134.5 141.3 1 773.0 1 864.8 2 023.9

Part-time 9.1 10.1 7.6 253.2 288.5 310.2 19.1 27.8 32.7 281.4 326.5 350.5

Multi-modal Total 19.5 18.6 17.8 1 860.7 2 010.3 2 182.6 174.3 162.3 174.0 2 054.4 2 191.3 2 374.4

Grand Total 494.2 521.1 463.7 7 059.4 7 812.9 8 371.1 4 168.7 3 118.3 3 439.7 11 722.3 11 452.3 12 274.4
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2014 FULL YEAR DATA: VOCATIONAL EDUCATION AND TRAINING 
(TAFE: ACTIVE STUDENTS)
Note: Totals in the tables below do not always match precisely the sum of values in 
the rows and columns due to rounding. Also, the grand totals in the tables below do 
not match as the number of students may be counted across multiple categories. 
Source: Data is extracted from the CQUniversity Data Warehouse 31 December 2014.

TABLE 18: TOTAL ACTIVE STUDENTS BY FUNDING TYPE 
2013–2014

Funding Type
2013 2014
No. of Students No. of Students

Certifi cate 3 Guarantee 362 2 191

Fee for Service 4 124 3 440

High Level Subsidy 135 1 325

International 382 357

Other 436 419

User Choice 4 056 3 617

VET in Schools 1 622 1 201

VET Revenue General 6 208 1 551

Grand Total 17 325 14 101

TABLE 19: TOTAL ACTIVE STUDENTS BY COURSE LEVEL 
2013–2014

Course Level
2013 2014
No. of Students No. of Students

Advanced Diploma 144 92

Certifi cate I 758 651

Certifi cate II 4 532 2 859

Certifi cate III 9 641 7 003

Certifi cate IV 1 913 1 163

Diploma 1 570 1 562

Education 
(not elsewhere classifi ed)

0 295

Non-award course 343 605

Statement of Attainment 
(not identifi able by level)

210 193

Grand Total 19 111 14 423

TABLE 20: TOTAL ACTIVE STUDENTS BY COURSE LEVEL BY 
GENDER 2014

Course Level
Female Male Other Total
No. of 
Students

No. of 
Students

No. of 
Students

No. of 
Students

Advanced Diploma 31 61  0 92

Certifi cate I 230 420 1 651

Certifi cate II 827 2 031 1 2 859

Certifi cate III 2 912 4 088 3 7 003

Certifi cate IV 763 367 33 1 163

Diploma 1 334 195 33 1 562

Education (not 
elsewhere 
classifi ed)

94 199 2 295

Non-award course 381 224  0 605

Statement of 
Attainment (not 
identifi able by level)

99 93 1 193

Grand Total 6 671 7 678 74 14 423

TABLE 21: TOTAL ACTIVE STUDENTS BY FUNDING TYPE, STUDY MODE AND TYPE OF ATTENDANCE 2013–2014

Study Mode/Type 
of Attendance

Cert 3 
Guarantee

Fee for 
Service

High Level 
Subsidy

International Other User Choice
VET in 
Schools

VET Revenue 
General

Total

2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014

BL
EN

DE
D 

LE
AR

N
IN

G

Full-time 107 286 153 201 45 289 7 7 0 7 1 024 967 141 157 877 224 2 333 2 081

Part-time 97 749 224 308 53 624 11 17 18 30 14 32 377 282 2 628 642 3 338 2 523

Not entered   1 1 0 3       17 1 28 8 45 10

Total 204 1 035 378 510 98 916 18 24 18 37 1 038 999 535 440 3 533 874 5 716 4 614

EM
PL

OY
ER

-B
AS

ED
 

(V
ET

 P
RO

VI
DE

RS
 

ON
LY

)

Full-time   2 368 475   28 0 82 0 129 31 128 148   2 727 654

Part-time   12 131 0 1     9 0   1 0 22 132

Not entered   8 0             8 0

Total   2 388 606 0 1 28 0 82 0 138 31 128 148 1 0 2 757 786

EX
TE

RN
AL

Full-time 34 38 10 71 2 26 0 1   8 13 24 31 125 78 203 252

Part-time 22 288 63 478 10 269   0 7 2 1 100 126 188 104 383 1 253

Not entered   3 1 0 1       1 0 2 0 6 2

Total 56 326 76 550 12 296 0 1 0 7 10 14 125 157 315 182 592 1 507

IN
TE

RN
AL

Full-time 27 362 841 612 10 56 343 334 68 90 3 311 2 921 433 340 1 575 347 6 280 4 856

Part-time 69 637 432 1 252 7 107 9 11 273 300 5 48 864 301 1 557 331 3 129 2 873

Not entered   30 16       1 0   10 1 41 17

Total 96 999 1 303 1 880 17 163 352 345 341 390 3 317 2 969 1 297 641 3 142 679 9 450 7 746

RP
L/

RC
C/

CR
ED

IT Full-time 8 8 46 146 9 20     86 46 1 0 397 42 540 258

Part-time 0 3 17 6 0 37         187 15 196 60

Not entered               10 0 10 0

Total 8 11 63 152 9 57     86 46 1 0 594 57 746 318

Grand Total 364 2 371 4 208 3 698 136 1 433 398 370 441 434 4 589 4 059 2 086 1 386 7 585 1 792 19 261 14 971
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2014 FULL YEAR DATA: VOCATIONAL EDUCATION AND 
TRAINING (TAFE: STUDENT COMPLETIONS)
Note: Totals in the tables below do not always match precisely the sum of values 
in the rows and columns due to rounding. Source: Data is extracted from the 
CQUniversity Data Warehouse 13 January 2015.

TABLE 22: TOTAL STUDENT LOAD (EFTSL) COMPLETIONS BY 
FUNDING TYPE 2013–2014

Funding Type 
2013 2014

EFTSL EFTSL
Cert 3 Guarantee 25.2 365.5

Fee for Service 137.0 241.2

High Level Subsidy 2.2 75.1

International 226.7 209.1

Other 49.7 29.3

User Choice 162.9 181.1

VET in Schools 188.5 191.2

VET Revenue General 732.9 198.9

Grand Total 1525.0 1491.4

TABLE 23: TOTAL STUDENT LOAD (EFTSL) COMPLETIONS BY 
COURSE LEVEL 2013–2014

 Course Level
2013 2014

EFTSL EFTSL
Advanced Diploma 3.6 6.2

Certifi cate I 61.5 56.8

Certifi cate II 339.7 491.0

Certifi cate III 707.0 695.8

Certifi cate IV 125.3 74.5

Diploma 287.8 157.7

Education (not elsewhere classifi ed)  0.0 9.4

Grand Total 1525.0 1491.4

TABLE 24: TOTAL STUDENT LOAD (EFTSL) COMPLETIONS BY 
COURSE LEVEL 2014

 Course Level
Female Male Other Total
EFTSL EFTSL EFTSL EFTSL

Advanced Diploma 4.5 1.7  6.2

Certifi cate I 11.7 45.1  56.8

Certifi cate II 101.3 389.7  491.0

Certifi cate III 236.0 458.8 0.9 695.8

Certifi cate IV 52.7 21.8  74.5

Diploma 139.9 17.9  157.7

Education 
(not elsewhere classifi ed)

1.6 7.7 0.1 9.4

Grand Total 547.7 942.7 1.0 1491.4

TABLE 25: TOTAL STUDENT LOAD (EFTSL) COMPLETIONS BY FUNDING TYPE, STUDY MODE AND TYPE OF ATTENDANCE 
2013–2014

Study Mode/Type 
of Attendance

Cert 3 
Guarantee

Fee for 
Service

High Level 
Subsidy

International Other User Choice
VET in 
Schools

VET Revenue 
General

Total

2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014

BL
EN

DE
D 

LE
AR

N
IN

G

Full-time 23.0 35.9 3.2 14.8 0.5 16.3 0.0 0.2   52.2 67.4 4.2 12.2 41.6 24.0 124.6 170.9

Part-time 1.3 169.2 21.2 14.5 0.3 41.2 1.7 2.4 2.7 5.8 0.2 1.4 25.1 59.2 285.9 78.2 338.5 371.8

Not entered             4.2 0.4 1.5  5.7 0.4

Total 24.3 205.1 24.4 29.4 0.8 57.5 1.7 2.6 2.7 5.8 52.4 68.8 33.5 71.8 329.0 102.2 468.8 543.1

EM
PL

OY
ER

-B
AS

ED
 

(V
ET

 P
RO

VI
DE

RS
 O

NL
Y) Full-time   59.1 25.3     26.1  8.2 0.6 17.3 35.1   110.6 61.0

Part-time    8.4       0.2    0.2  0.4 8.4

Not entered   1.0              1.0  

Total   60.1 33.8     26.1  8.4 0.6 17.3 35.1 0.2  112.0 69.4

EX
TE

RN
AL

Full-time   0.2 1.0  0.2       2.5 1.8 6.4 4.8 9.2 7.8

Part-time 0.2 47.1  6.1  1.0       1.5 4.6 3.2 3.5 4.8 62.3

Total 0.2 47.1 0.2 7.1  1.2       4.0 6.4 9.6 8.3 14.1 70.1

IN
TE

RN
AL

Full-time 0.1 45.4 10.0 64.2  5.0 223.7 201.4 0.6 2.8 93.7 107.6 33.5 30.5 102.3 37.7 463.9 494.6

Part-time 0.2 66.0 28.7 25.0  5.0 1.3 5.2 20.3 20.8  0.5 100.3 47.5 57.0 35.0 207.7 205.0

Not entered   2.7 0.0           0.2 0.1 2.9 0.1

Total 0.3 111.4 41.5 89.3  10.0 225.0 206.6 20.8 23.6 93.7 108.1 133.7 78.0 159.5 72.8 674.5 699.7

RP
L/

RC
C/

CR
ED

IT Full-time 0.4 1.8 10.3 81.6 1.4 4.1     8.4 3.6   198.7 13.4 219.2 104.6

Part-time  0.1 0.5   2.2         33.3 2.3 33.9 4.5

Not entered               2.6  2.6  

Total 0.4 1.9 10.8 81.6 1.4 6.3     8.4 3.6   234.6 15.6 255.6 109.1

Grand Total 25.2 365.5 137.0 241.2 2.2 75.1 226.7 209.1 49.7 29.3 162.9 181.1 188.5 191.2 732.9 198.9 1525.0 1491.4
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2014 FULL YEAR DATA: VOCATIONAL EDUCATION AND 
TRAINING (TAFE: COMMENCING STUDENTS)
Note: Totals do not always match precisely the sum of values in the rows and 
columns due to rounding. Source: Data is extracted from the CQUniversity Data 
Warehouse 31 December 2014.

TABLE 26: TOTAL COMMENCING STUDENT LOAD (EFTSL) BY 
FUNDING TYPE 2013–2014

Funding Type 
2013 2014

EFTSL EFTSL
Cert 3 Guarantee 61.97 818.86

Fee for Service 573.09 661.68

High Level Subsidy 19.05 738.92

International 261.92 320.67

Other 144.99 113.95

User Choice 1507.50 1301.29

VET in Schools 537.83 450.60

VET Revenue General 1860.11 342.51

Grand Total 4966.45 4748.48

TABLE 27: TOTAL COMMENCING STUDENT LOAD (EFTSL) BY 
COURSE LEVEL 2013–2014

 Course Level
2013 2014

EFTSL EFTSL
Advanced Diploma 35.11 12.31

Certifi cate I 143.48 136.64

Certifi cate II 956.70 844.69

Certifi cate III 2812.47 2383.32

Certifi cate IV 361.39 261.95

Diploma 619.36 1007.31

Education (not elsewhere classifi ed)  24.36

Non-award course 0.46 2.81

Statement of Attainment 
(not identifi able by level)

37.49 75.10

Grand Total 4966.45 4748.48

TABLE 28: TOTAL COMMENCING STUDENT LOAD (EFTSL) BY 
COURSE LEVEL BY GENDER 2014

 Course Level
Female Male Other Total
EFTSL EFTSL EFTSL EFTSL

Advanced Diploma 3.58 8.72  12.31

Certifi cate I 46.66 89.28 0.69 136.64

Certifi cate II 232.69 611.30 0.69 844.69

Certifi cate III 825.42 1556.67 1.23 2383.32

Certifi cate IV 192.33 69.62  261.95

Diploma 919.22 75.72 12.38 1007.31

Education (not elsewhere 
classifi ed)

4.81 19.49 0.06 24.36

Non-award course 1.78 1.03  2.81

Statement of Attainment 
(not identifi able by level)

46.33 28.67 0.10 75.10

Grand Total 2272.83 2460.50 15.16 4748.48

TABLE 29: TOTAL COMMENCING STUDENT LOAD (EFTSL) BY FUNDING TYPE, STUDY MODE AND TYPE OF ATTENDANCE 
2013–2014

Study Mode/
Type of 
Attendance

Cert 3 
Guarantee

Fee for Service
High Level 
Subsidy

International Other User Choice VET in Schools
VET Revenue 
General

2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014

BL
EN

DE
D 

LE
AR

N
IN

G

Full-time 32.38 73.06 16.64 68.27 7.30 130.88 3.47 0.82  1.68 254.41 249.13 39.52 31.52 132.98 38.70

Part-time 8.48 253.89 22.15 94.88 6.10 382.48 4.13 9.49 10.13 2.65 3.86 10.04 101.01 87.53 650.17 125.76

Not entered   0.04 0.07  0.79       8.01 0.36 5.10 1.66

Total 40.86 326.95 38.83 163.22 13.40 514.15 7.60 10.31 10.13 4.33 258.27 259.17 148.53 119.40 788.25 166.12

EM
PL

OY
ER

-B
AS

ED
 

(VE
T P

RO
VID

ER
S O

NL
Y) Full-time   375.35 92.79   5.83  42.60  15.94 2.22 26.82 48.03   

Part-time   0.92 21.98  0.90     0.33      

Not entered   1.22              

Total   377.49 114.77  0.90 5.83  42.60  16.27 2.22 26.82 48.03   

EX
TE

RN
AL

Full-time 2.06 4.35 1.22 8.80 0.15 4.14  0.86   0.24 1.39 5.78 6.05 18.40 14.61

Part-time 1.92 81.45 1.13 55.55 0.74 127.68    1.39 0.11 0.74 14.83 28.58 22.29 12.83

Not entered   0.15   0.06       0.24  0.48  

Total 3.97 85.80 2.51 64.35 0.89 131.88  0.86  1.39 0.35 2.13 20.85 34.63 41.17 27.44

IN
TE

RN
AL

Full-time 5.95 137.54 77.65 143.60 1.01 20.64 246.04 303.13 21.31 23.33 1192.92 1005.80 97.59 162.60 431.37 83.13

Part-time 6.06 267.32 45.08 80.18 0.81 30.18 2.44 6.37 70.96 84.90 0.33 15.51 243.55 85.93 334.24 57.09

Not entered   2.98 0.02       0.08    1.03  

Total 12.01 404.86 125.72 223.80 1.81 50.82 248.49 309.50 92.26 108.23 1193.34 1021.31 341.15 248.54 766.63 140.22

RP
L/

RC
C/

CR
ED

IT Full-time 5.13 0.64 27.64 94.87 2.94 6.06     39.27 16.45 0.48  205.08 7.73

Part-time  0.60 0.91 0.67  35.12         56.26 1.01

Not entered               2.72  

Total 5.13 1.24 28.55 95.54 2.94 41.17     39.27 16.45 0.48  264.06 8.74

Grand Total 61.97 818.86 573.09 661.68 19.05 738.92 261.92 320.67 144.99 113.95 1507.50 1301.29 537.83 450.60 1860.11 342.51
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OUR FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE

RESULTS FOR 2014

CQUniversity is reporting an end-of-year surplus of $149.86 million for 

2014. This result incorporates $120.2 million in revenue from the transfer 

of CQ TAFE assets to the University on the 1 July 2014. The underlying 

operating surplus for the merged entity for 2014 is $34 million, which 

demonstrates the University’s strong fi nancial position. CQUniversity 

effectively continues to carry no real debt, and ended the year in a strong 

working capital position of just over $126 million.

Overall revenue, extracting the TAFE asset transfer, increased by 11.5%, 

with expenditure increasing by 11.1%. This can further be broken down 

to an increase in higher education revenue of 4.1%, and a revenue 

contribution by TAFE of $141 million. The increase in expenditure was 

primarily due to the transfer of the TAFE operations in the second half 

of the year. Extracting the TAFE expenditure that transferred to the 

University, the change in expenditure was 1%.

REVENUE PERFORMANCE: DOMESTIC LOAD 
(HIGHER EDUCATION)

Commonwealth Grant Scheme income increased by 8.8% to $85.246 

million, refl ecting a continued increase in domestic student load. 

Domestic student enrolments increased by 577.96 EFTSL from 2013, 

representing growth of 7.57%. The result was an additional $13.093 

million in revenue, and total revenue of $142.654 million (refer to 

Table 30).

TABLE 30: COMPARISON OF ACTUAL AUSTRALIAN FUNDED 
LOAD EFTSL AND DOLLARS (EXCLUDING RESEARCH STUDENTS)

 Funding 2013 Actual 2014 Actual Variance
Percentage 
Variance

Australian funded load 
EFTSL

7630.21 8208.17 577.96 7.57%

Australian funded load 
revenue

$129.562m $142.654m $13.093m 10.11%

REVENUE PERFORMANCE: FEE-PAYING STUDENT 
LOAD (AUSTRALIAN AND INTERNATIONAL) (HIGHER 
EDUCATION)

Revenue from fees and charges showed a solid increase in 2014, 

compared to a decline in the previous year. Student numbers increased 

by 263.35 EFTSL, representing growth of 7.36%. This turnaround was 

due to a strong increase in international student numbers, which in the 

previous year had been in decline. The result was an additional $7.947 

million in revenue, and total revenue of $68.08 million (refer to Table 31).

TABLE 31: COMPARISON OF ACTUAL FEE-PAYING STUDENT 
LOAD EFTSL AND DOLLARS (EXCLUDING RESEARCH 
STUDENTS)

Funding 2013 Actual 2014 Actual Variance
Percentage 
Variance

Fee-paying student load 
EFTSL

3578.71 3842.06 263.35 7.36%

Fee-paying student 
revenue

$60.133m $68.080m $7.947m 13.22%

TAFE REVENUE

As the CQ TAFE operations transferred to CQUniversity on 1 July 2014, 

the fi nancial statements include six months of TAFE revenue. Total 

revenue for the University’s TAFE operations during this period was 

$141.69 million. Revenue was below the pre-merger projected budget as 

CQ TAFE student numbers had declined signifi cantly prior to the merger. 

With 20 new courses planned for 2015, there will be a major focus on 

vocational education and training revenue in the next 12 months, as the 

Base Cost Grant from the State Government will continue to decrease.

EXPENDITURE PERFORMANCE

Total expenditure increased by 11.1% in 2014, primarily driven by 

Enterprise Bargaining Agreement increases and transfer of the TAFE 

operations. Extracting the TAFE operations, the expenditure increased 

by 1%, demonstrating that the strong cost controls put in place in 2013 

were effective.

BALANCE SHEET

The University has held a current ratio in excess of 2 for the whole of 2014. 

All investments have been funded from working capital, and the University 

effectively holds no debt, other than $3 million in TAFE working capital 

transferred as part of the merger for a three-year period. Assets increased 

by 45.8%, from $372.827 million in 2013 to $543.694 million in 2014.

OTHER MATTERS

This 2014 report follows the University’s Repositioning Plan a year after 

its implementation in 2013. As part of this process, the University put 

in place very conservative budgets and estimates for 2014, and the 

fi nal result far exceeded expectations. The University is now seeing the 

results of these actions, turning the organisation into one that is more 

stable and sustainable.

The 2014 merger with CQ TAFE also enabled the University to reach its 

goal of becoming the fi rst ‘comprehensive university’ in Queensland, 

offering higher education degrees and vocational education and 

training. This has further allowed CQUniversity to diversify its income 

streams and provide greater choice and opportunity for prospective and 

current students.
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COUNCIL MEMBERS’ REPORT

GOVERNING BODY MEMBERS

Chancellor
Sydney WAust

Vice-Chancellor and President
CollRadiog, City&Guilds GuildHall USC

OpenUK,

President, Academic Board
Creative Connections, GladTrainServ

BCAE QUT UTas CQU

Members appointed by the Governor-in-Council
RMIT CQU London

Syd UOW UOWD 

CQU

DDIAE USQ, Qld,

Qld, Pennsylvania

Qld QUT

Additional members appointed by Council
CIAE CQU,

Macq Sydney Oxon

QIT QUT

CQU

JCU CQU QUT

CQU
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COUNCIL MEMBERS’ REPORT
Elected Members

Adel ECU

QUT

CQU

MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

Committee Abbreviations

Committee Council PRC ACRC AB CHAC CC
Member A B A B A B A B A B A B
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COUNCIL MEMBERS’ REPORT

Review of Operations

Matters Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year

Insurance of Officers
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For the year ended 31 December 2014

ABN 39 181 103 288

General Purpose Financial Report

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities
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Consolidated
2014 2014

$'000 $'000

Income from continuing operations

128,181 128,181
58,950 58,654
6,018 6,018
7,967 7,967

96,707 95,977
4,492 4,452

5 5
8,494 8,494
3,901 3,901
1,555 1,555
4,835 4,606

Total revenue from continuing operations 321,105 319,810
120,200 120,200

1 1
Total income from continuing operations 441,306 440,011

Expenses from continuing operations
168,733 166,771
15,292 15,243
12,487 12,486

539 511
222 222

22,067 23,176
6,757 6,683

20,735 20,661
3,160 3,143
6,785 6,807

325 325
2,802 2,802
2,122 2,122
2,781 2,633
2,923 2,923

23,799 23,639
Total expenses from continuing operations 291,529 290,147

(78) -

Net result from continuing operations before income tax 149,699 149,864

11 -

Net result from continuing operations after income tax 149,710 149,864

Net result attributable to members of Central Queensland 
University from continuing operations 149,710 149,864

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Income Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Parent
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Consolidated
2014 2014

$000 $000

Net result from continuing operations after income tax 149,710 149,864

Other comprehensive income

430 470

430 470

- -
- -
9 9
9 -

18 9

Total comprehensive income 150,158 150,343

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
- -

Total comprehensive income attributable to members of Central 
Queensland University 150,158 150,343

and Controlled Entities
Statements of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2014

Parent

Central Queensland University
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2014 2014
$'000 $'000

ASSETS
Current assets

117,826 115,409
17,380 17,235
2,038 2,038

1 -
11,145 11,145

529 529
Total current assets 148,919 146,356

Non-current assets
2,121 3,540

135 -
5,155 5,155

381,072 381,032
7,611 7,611

215 -
Total non-current assets 396,309 397,338
Total assets 545,228 543,694

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

15,816 15,389
34,090 33,974
21,980 21,930

Total current liabilities 71,886 71,293

Non-current liabilities
9,598 9,597
2,846 2,846

13,482 13,482
Total non-current liabilities 25,926 25,925
Total liabilities 97,812 97,218

Net assets 447,416 446,475

EQUITY

93,525 93,351
353,891 353,124
447,416 446,475

Total equity 447,416 446,475

Consolidated Parent

and Controlled Entities
Central Queensland University

Statements of Financial Position 
as at 31 December 2014
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2014 2014
$'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities
185,067 184,771

7,813 7,813
5,981 5,981

142 142
110,840 110,193

3,682 3,638

(264,629) (263,581)
(35) (35)
452 -

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 49,313 48,922

Cash flows from investing activities
337 337
73 73

- -
7,336 7,336

(52) (52)
(13,970) (13,792)
(5,493) (5,493)

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (11,769) (11,591)

Cash flows from financing activities

3,000 3,000
- -

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 3,000 3,000

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 40,544 40,331

77,282 75,078

- -

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year 117,826 115,409

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Statements of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Consolidated Parent
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014 

OBJECTIVES AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Note 1:  Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation

Central Queensland University Act 1998

Higher Education Support Act 2003 
Central Queensland University Act 1998

Financial Accountability Act 2009

Date of authorisation for issue

Historical cost convention

Critical accounting estimates

(b) Principles of consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries

parent entity’
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014 

(ii) Associates

(iii) Non-controlling interests

(c)       Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

(ii) Transactions and balances
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014 

(iii) Group companies

(d) Revenue recognition

(i) Government grants

(ii) HELP payments

(iii) Investment income

(iv) Fees and charges 

(v) Sale of goods

(vi) Consultancy and contract revenue

(vii) Revenue received prior to delivery

(viii) Lease income
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014 

(e) Income tax

Income Tax Assessment Act
1997 .

.

.

(f) Leases

(g) Acquisition of assets
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014 

(h) Impairment of assets

(i) Special payments
  

(j) Cash and cash equivalents

(k) Receivables

Commercial and general debtors 

Student debtors

(l) Inventories
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014 

(m) Investments and other financial assets

Classification

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(ii) Loans and receivables

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments

(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets

Subsequent measurement

Fair value

Impairment
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014 

(n) Fair value measurement

(o) Investment properties

(p) Property, plant and equipment
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014 

Assets 2014 2013

(q) Intangible assets

Purchased software 

Research

Goodwill
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014 

(r) Trade and other payables

(s) Borrowings

(t) Provisions 

(u) Employee benefits 

(i) Short-term obligations

(ii) Other long-term obligations

(iii) Sick leave

(iv) Time off in lieu 
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014 

(v) Superannuation plans

Superannuation Guarantee Administration Act 1992

Employee Benefits

(vi) Key management personnel and remuneration 

, 

(vii) Termination benefits

(v) Financial instruments 

Recognition

Classification

(w) Council member benefits

(x) Rounding of amounts
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014 

(y) Goods and services tax (GST)

(z) Comparative amounts

(aa) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations issues but not yet operative as at 31 December 2014
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Note 2.  Disaggregated information (dual sector and operations outside Australia)

Industry - Parent Entity

Income Statement

Higher 
Education

VET Total 
Parent 
Entity

2014 2014 2014
$'000 $'000 $'000

Income from continuing operations

128,181 - 128,181
58,654 - 58,654
4,943 1,075 6,018

225 7,742 7,967
83,715 12,262 95,977
4,158 294 4,452

5 - 5
8,494 - 8,494
3,901 - 3,901
1,555 - 1,555
4,491 115 4,606

Total revenue from continuing operations 298,322 21,488 319,810
- 120,200 120,200
1 - 1

Total income from continuing operations 298,323 141,688 440,011

Expenses from continuing operations
150,038 16,733 166,771
13,138 2,105 15,243
11,704 782 12,486

456 55 511
222 - 222

22,002 1,174 23,176
5,865 818 6,683

20,653 8 20,661
2,947 196 3,143
6,545 262 6,807

325 - 325
2,802 - 2,802
2,084 38 2,122
2,633 - 2,633

6 2,917 2,923
22,604 1,035 23,639

Total expenses from continuing operations 264,024 26,123 290,147

Net result attributable to members of Central Queensland 
University from continuing operations 34,299 115,565 149,864

for the year ended 31 December 2014

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Note 2. Disaggregrated information (dual sector and operations outside Australia) (cont.)
Industry - Parent Entity

Higher 
Education

VET Total 
Parent 
Entity

Statement of Comprehensive Income 2014 2014 2014
$'000 $'000 $'000

Net result from continuing operations after income tax 34,299 115,565 149,864

Other comprehensive income

470 - 470
470 - 470

- - -
- - -
9 - 9
9 - 9

Total comprehensive income attributable to members of 
Central Queensland University 34,778 115,565 150,343

Statement of Financial Position

ASSETS
Current assets

105,598 9,811 115,409
13,292 3,943 17,235
2,038 - 2,038

11,145 - 11,145
529 - 529

Total current assets 132,602 13,754 146,356

Non-current assets
3,540 - 3,540

975 4,180 5,155
270,072 110,960 381,032

7,574 37 7,611
Total non-current assets 282,161 115,177 397,338
Total assets 414,763 128,931 543,694

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

14,242 1,147 15,389
26,017 7,957 33,974
21,702 228 21,930

Total current liabilities 61,961 9,332 71,293

Non-current liabilities
8,409 1,188 9,597

- 2,846 2,846
13,482 - 13,482

Total non-current liabilities 21,891 4,034 25,925
Total liabilities 83,852 13,366 97,218
Net assets 330,910 115,564 446,475

EQUITY

93,351 - 93,351
237,559 115,565 353,124

Total equity 330,910 115,565 446,475

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014
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Statement of Changes in Equity

Reserves Retained 
earnings

Total 
Higher 

Education
Reserves Retained 

earnings Total VET

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 January 2013
Net result from continuing operations after 
income tax
Other comprehensive income

Balance at 31 December 2013

Balance at 1 January 2014 92,872 203,260 296,132 - - - 296,132
Net result from continuing operations after 
income tax - 34,299 34,299 - 115,565 115,565 149,864
Other comprehensive income

9 - 9 - - - 9

470 - 470 - - - 470
Balance at 31 December 2014 93,351 237,559 330,910 - 115,565 115,565 446,475

Provisions

Other liabilities

Intangible assets

Borrowings

Higher Education VET
Total 

Parent 
Entity

Note 2. Disaggregrated information (dual sector and operations outside Australia) (cont.)
Industry - Parent Entity

Receivables

Other financial assets

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other payables

Investment properties

Other assets

Property, plant and equipment
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Note 2. Disaggregrated information (dual sector and operations outside Australia) (cont.)
Industry - Parent Entity

Higher 
Education

VET Total 
Parent 
Entity

Statement of Cashflows 2014 2014 2014
$'000 $'000 $'000

Cashflows from operating activities
184,771 - 184,771

7,813 - 7,813
5,981 - 5,981

142 - 142
100,057 10,136 110,193

3,562 76 3,638
(252,845) (10,736) (263,581)

(35) - (35)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 49,446 (524) 48,922

Cashflows from investing activities
337 - 337
73 - 73

- - -
- 7,336 7,336

(52) - (52)
(13,792) - (13,792)
(5,493) - (5,493)

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (18,927) 7,336 (11,591)

Cashflows from financing activities
- 3,000 3,000

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities - 3,000 3,000

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 30,519 9,812 40,331

75,078 - 75,078

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 105,597 9,812 115,409

Geographical - Consolidated Entity

2014 2014 2014
$'000 $'000 $'000

441,305 149,916 545,022
- (139) 206

441,305 149,777 545,228

Total Revenue
Net Results before 

tax Total Assets

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014
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2014 2014
$'000 $'000

(a) Commonwealth Grants Scheme and Other Grants
85,246 85,246

870 870
3,552 3,552

51 51
104 104

- -
- -

3,165 3,165
2,534 2,534

- -
95,522 95,522

(b) Higher Education Loan Programs
51,958 51,958
3,850 3,554
1,075 1,075
2,067 2,067

58,950 58,654

(c) Scholarships
981 981
67 67

374 374
95 95

132 132
1,648 1,648

(d) EDUCATION Research
1,496 1,496
2,196 2,196

224 224
408 408

4,324 4,324

Note 3.  Australian Government financial assistance including Australian 
Government loan programs (HELP)

Parent Entity

Central Queensland University

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Consolidated

and Controlled Entities
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2014 2014
$'000 $'000

Parent Entity

Central Queensland University

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Consolidated

and Controlled Entities

(e) Other Capital Funding
24,252 24,252
24,252 24,252

(f) Australian Research Council
(i) Discovery

240 240
240 240

(ii) Linkages
236 236
236 236

475 475

(g) Other Australian Government financial assistance

1,555 1,555
266 266

- -
1,821 1,821

139 139
139 139

1,961 1,961

Total Australian Government financial assistance 187,131 186,835

Reconciliation
128,181 128,181
51,958 51,958
3,850 3,554
1,075 1,075
2,067 2,067

Total Australian Government financial assistance 187,131 186,835
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2014 2014
$'000 $'000

Parent Entity

Central Queensland University

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Consolidated

and Controlled Entities

(h) Grants and Other Contributions 
24,252 24,252
24,252 24,252

(i) Australian Government Grants received - cash basis
94,837 94,837
57,570 57,274
1,648 1,648
4,324 4,324

24,252 24,252
240 240
236 236

1,961 1,961

Total Australian Government Grants received - cash basis 185,067 184,771

142 142

Total Australian Government funding received - cash basis 185,208 184,912

Non-Capital
Higher Education

19 19
225 225

- -
- -

VET
6,375 6,375

416 416
389 389
154 154

7,578 7,578

Note 4.  State and Local Government financial assistance
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2014 2014
$'000 $'000

Parent Entity

Central Queensland University

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Consolidated

and Controlled Entities

Capital
VET

389 389

389 389

Total State and Local Government financial assistance 7,967 7,967

Course fees and charges
67,353 67,353

- -
1,241 282
3,068 3,068

7 7
404 404

2,384 2,384
8,461 8,461
1,296 1,296

84,214 83,255

Non-course fees and charges
1,205 1,205
1,921 1,891

9 2
29 29

5,585 5,585
2,419 2,419

276 276
- 266

261 261
35 35

193 193
561 560

12,494 12,722

Total fees and charges 96,707 95,977

Note 5.  Fees and charges

Note 4.  State and Local Government financial assistance (cont.)
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2014 2014
$'000 $'000

Parent Entity

Central Queensland University

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Consolidated

and Controlled Entities

39 11
3,639 3,627

426 426
388 388

Total investment revenue 4,492 4,452

Net investment income 4,492 4,452

8,424 8,424
8,424 8,424

70 70
70 70

Total consultancy and contracts 8,494 8,494

(a) Gross sales
3,888 3,888

13 13
3,901 3,901

(b) Cost of sales
2,687 2,687

10 10
2,697 2,697

Gross profit on sale of goods 1,204 1,204

Other revenue
777 777

1,840 1,840
445 211
219 219

1,249 1,249
157 162
148 148

Total other revenue 4,835 4,606

Note 9.  Other revenue 

Note 8.  Sale of books and related student material

Note 7.  Consultancy and contracts

Note 6.  Investment revenue and income
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2014 2014
$'000 $'000

Parent Entity

Central Queensland University

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Consolidated

and Controlled Entities

120,200 120,200

Academic
67,186 66,048
10,225 10,099
3,958 3,934

179 179
2,355 2,355
6,907 6,882

69 68
90,879 89,565

Non-academic
56,771 56,184
8,606 8,574
3,163 3,144

143 142
2,318 2,313
6,707 6,705

146 144
77,854 77,206

Total employee related expenses 168,733 166,771

1651 1633

Note 11.  Employee related expenses

Note 10.  Gain on assets acquired at less than fair value
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2014 2014
$'000 $'000

Parent Entity

Central Queensland University

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Consolidated

and Controlled Entities

Depreciation
6,711 6,711
1,071 1,071
2,187 2,143

616 614
700 700

2,534 2,531
13,819 13,770

Amortisation
1,473 1,473
1,473 1,473

Total depreciation and amortisation 15,292 15,243

1,724 1,724
2,057 2,064
3,101 3,096
2,850 2,850

489 489
2,266 2,263

Total repairs and maintenance 12,487 12,486

770 1,483
591 586

5,626 5,626
607 607

1,572 1,568
1,335 1,335
6,749 7,250
4,817 4,721

Total management and other fees 22,067 23,176

Note 14. Management and other fees

Note 13.  Repairs and maintenance

Note 12.  Depreciation and amortisation
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2014 2014
$'000 $'000

Parent Entity

Central Queensland University

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Consolidated

and Controlled Entities

1,599 1,599
296 296
886 738

Total recovery of grants 2,781 2,633

4,410 4,410
5,703 5,695
2,322 2,252

190 166
(95) (95)

1,301 1,261
607 595

5,232 5,230
2,990 2,990

276 276
259 259
604 600

Total other expenses 23,799 23,639

Note 16.  Other expenses

Note 15.  Recovery of grants
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2014 2014
$'000 $'000

(11) - -
(26) - -

25 - -
(11) - -

(11) - -
(11) - -

(26) - -
- - -

(26) - -

     (b)  Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable

(85) - -

(26) - -

- - -
(10) - -

23 - -
2 - -
- - -

(10) - -
(1) - -

Income tax (benefit)/expense (11) -

     (c)  Tax loss carry-back adjustment
- - -

Note 18.  Cash and cash equivalents

3,477 1,157
114,252 114,252

97 -
Total cash and cash equivalents 117,826 115,409

(a)  Cash at bank and on hand

(b)  Deposits at call

Note 17.  Income tax expense

Parent Entity

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements

Consolidated

for the year ended 31 December 2014

Tax and Superannuation Laws Amendment 
(2013 Measures No. 1) Act 2013 which received royal assent on 28 June 2013.
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

2014 2014
$'000 $'000

Note 19.  Receivables

Current

5,226 4,938
3,188 3,188

49 49
40 40

8,503 8,215

(859) (840)
(157) (157)
7,486 7,218

7 5
7,865 7,865
2,022 2,147

Total current receivables 17,380 17,235

Total receivables 17,380 17,235

Impaired receivables

2,740 2,688
196 190
191 162

3,127 3,040

732 732
603 584

(293) (293)
(26) (26)

1,016 997

Consolidated Parent Entity
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

2014 2014
$'000 $'000

Note 20.  Inventories

Current
Merchandise

2,037 2,037
1 1

2,038 2,038

Total inventories 2,038 2,038

Note 21.  Income tax assets

Note 22.  Available for sale financial assets

Current
11,145 11,145
11,145 11,145

Non-current

- -
- 521
- -
- 692
- 206
- -
- -

2,003 2,003
1 1

116 116
1 1
- -
- -

2,121 3,540

Total available for sale financial assets 13,266 14,685

Parent Entity

Investment Funds

Consolidated
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Note 22.  Available for sale financial assets (cont.)

Subsidiaries

Unlisted Securities

2014 2014
$'000 $'000

Note 23.  Other non-financial assets

Current
43 43

486 486
Total other non-financial assets 529 529

Parent EntityConsolidated
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

2014 2014
$'000 $'000

Note 24.  Investments accounted for using the equity method

135 -

Reconciliation
213 -
(78) -

Balance at 31 December 135 -

Name  of Entity Description
50%

Financial Position
553 -
285 -

Net assets 268 -
Share of associates' net assets 135 -

Financial Performance
28 -

(157) -
Share of associates' profit/(loss) (78) -

Note 25. Investment properties

At fair value
1,300 1,300
(325) (325)
4,180 4,180

- -
5,155 5,155

(a) Amounts recognised in profit and loss for investment properties

58 58
(32) (32)

Total recognised in profit and loss 26 26

(b) Valuation basis

(c) Leasing arrangements

Ownership interest

Consolidated Parent Entity

89CQUNIVERSITY AUSTRALIA  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2014



N
ot

e 
26

.  
Pr

op
er

ty
, p

la
nt

 a
nd

 e
qu

ip
m

en
t

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
in

 p
ro

gr
es

s
Fr

ee
ho

ld
 la

nd
Fr

ee
ho

ld
 

bu
ild

in
gs

Pl
an

t a
nd

 
eq

ui
pm

en
t

Le
as

eh
ol

d 
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
O

th
er

 w
or

k 
in

 
pr

og
re

ss
Li

br
ar

y 
&

 
co

lle
ct

io
ns

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
To

ta
l

C
on

so
lid

at
ed

$'
00

0
$'

00
0

$'
00

0
$'

00
0

$'
00

0
$'

00
0

$'
00

0
$'

00
0

$'
00

0
At

 1
 J

an
ua

r y
 2

01
3

Ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
3

At
 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
3

Ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
4

70
1

42
,4

00
18

5,
94

8
10

,7
83

10
,3

65
86

2
3,

31
3

12
,6

97
26

7,
06

9
-

-
-

-
-

-
9

-
9

8,
38

8
12

,3
40

83
,7

59
6,

83
3

33
2

4,
80

0
7

14
,6

05
13

1,
06

4
-

-
(2

,9
17

)
(2

66
)

-
-

(7
7)

-
(3

,2
60

)
-

-
(6

,7
11

)
(3

,8
41

)
(2

,1
87

)
-

-
(1

,0
71

)
(1

3,
81

0)
(1

,0
73

)
-

25
1,

46
2

-
(1

,4
46

)
-

1,
03

2
-

8,
01

6
54

,7
40

26
0,

10
3

14
,9

71
8,

51
0

4,
21

6
3,

25
2

27
,2

63
38

1,
07

2

At
 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
4

8,
01

6
-

-
41

,0
42

23
,2

11
4,

21
6

-
-

76
,4

85
-

54
,7

40
38

3,
45

7
-

-
-

3,
25

2
49

,8
67

49
1,

31
6

-
-

(1
23

,3
53

)
(2

6,
07

1)
(1

4,
70

1)
-

-
(2

2,
60

4)
(1

86
,7

29
)

8,
01

6
54

,7
40

26
0,

10
3

14
,9

71
8,

51
0

4,
21

6
3,

25
2

27
,2

63
38

1,
07

2

C
en

tr
al

 Q
ue

en
sl

an
d 

U
ni

ve
rs

ity
an

d 
C

on
tr

ol
le

d 
En

tit
ie

s
N

ot
es

 to
 th

e 
Fi

na
nc

ia
l S

ta
te

m
en

ts
fo

r t
he

 y
ea

r e
nd

ed
 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
4

90 CQUNIVERSITY AUSTRALIA  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2014



C
en

tr
al

 Q
ue

en
sl

an
d 

U
ni

ve
rs

ity
an

d 
C

on
tr

ol
le

d 
En

tit
ie

s
N

ot
es

 to
 th

e 
Fi

na
nc

ia
l S

ta
te

m
en

ts
fo

r t
he

 y
ea

r e
nd

ed
 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
4

N
ot

e 
26

.  
Pr

op
er

ty
, p

la
nt

 a
nd

 e
qu

ip
m

en
t (

co
nt

.)
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

in
 p

ro
gr

es
s

Fr
ee

ho
ld

 la
nd

Fr
ee

ho
ld

 
bu

ild
in

gs
Pl

an
t a

nd
 

eq
ui

pm
en

t
Le

as
eh

ol
d 

im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

O
th

er
 w

or
k 

in
 

pr
og

re
ss

Li
br

ar
y 

&
 

co
lle

ct
io

ns
In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

To
ta

l
Pa

re
nt

 e
nt

ity
$'

00
0

$'
00

0
$'

00
0

$'
00

0
$'

00
0

$'
00

0
$'

00
0

$'
00

0
$'

00
0

At
 1

 J
an

ua
ry

 2
01

3

Ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
3

At
 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
3

Ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
4

70
1

42
,4

00
18

5,
94

8
10

,7
64

10
,2

97
86

2
3,

31
3

12
,6

97
26

6,
98

2
-

-
-

-
-

-
9

-
9

8,
38

8
12

,3
40

83
,7

59
6,

83
3

33
2

4,
80

0
7

14
,6

05
13

1,
06

4
-

-
(2

,9
17

)
(2

66
)

-
-

(7
6)

-
(3

,2
59

)
-

-
(6

,7
12

)
(3

,8
38

)
(2

,1
43

)
-

-
(1

,0
71

)
(1

3,
76

4)
(1

,0
73

)
-

25
1,

46
2

-
(1

,4
46

)
-

1,
03

2
-

8,
01

6
54

,7
40

26
0,

10
3

14
,9

55
8,

48
6

4,
21

6
3,

25
3

27
,2

63
38

1,
03

2

At
 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
4

8,
01

6
-

-
40

,9
95

23
,0

78
4,

21
6

-
-

76
,3

05
-

54
,7

40
38

3,
45

7
-

-
-

3,
25

3
49

,8
67

49
1,

31
7

-
-

(1
23

,3
53

)
(2

6,
04

0)
(1

4,
59

2)
-

-
(2

2,
60

4)
(1

86
,5

89
)

8,
01

6
54

,7
40

26
0,

10
3

14
,9

55
8,

48
6

4,
21

6
3,

25
3

27
,2

63
38

1,
03

3

91CQUNIVERSITY AUSTRALIA  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2014



Note 27.  Intangible assets

Computer 
Software

Computer 
Software Work 

in Progress Goodwill Total
Consolidated $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At 1 January 2013

Year ended 31 December 2013

At 31 December 2013

Year ended 31 December 2014
2,764 455 373 3,592

73 5,419 - 5,492
- - - -

(1,473) - - (1,473)
5,534 (5,534) - -

6,898 340 373 7,611

At 31 December 2014
23,697 340 373 24,410

(16,799) - - (16,799)

6,898 340 373 7,611

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Note 27.  Intangible assets (cont.)

Computer 
Software

Computer 
Software Work 

in Progress Goodwill Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Parent

At 1 January 2013

Year ended 31 December 2013

At 31 December 2013

Year ended 31 December 2014
2,764 455 373 3,592

73 5,419 - 5,492
- - - -

(1,473) - - (1,473)
5,534 (5,534) - -

6,898 340 373 7,611

At 31 December 2014
23,697 340 373 24,410

(16,799) - - (16,799)

6,898 340 373 7,611
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Note 28.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Consolidated

2014 2014 2014
$'000 $'000 $'000

6 - 6
- (43) (43)

31 - 31
50 - 50
1 - 1

29 - 29
50 - 50
91 - 91

258 (43) 215

Movement in temporary differences during the year:

Movement in temporary differences during the year: Balance Recognised Recognised Balance
1-Jan-14 in income in equity 31-Dec-14

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
2 5 - 7

(1) (43) - (44)
39 (1) - 38
25 18 - 43

(10) 11 - 1
- 29 - 29
- 50 - 50
- - - -

101 (10) - 91
157 59 - 215

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Assets Liabilities Net
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Consolidated Parent Entity
2014 2014

$'000 $'000
Note 29.  Trade and other payables

Current
143 143

12,187 11,760
123 123

3,363 3,363

15,816 15,389

Total trade and other payables 15,816 15,389

Note 30.  Provisions

Current provisions expected to be settled within 12 months
766 766

Employee benefits
15,105 15,049
4,072 4,012

253 253

Current provisions expected to be settled after 12 months
Employee benefits

803 803
13,091 13,091

Total current provisions 34,090 33,974

Non-current
4,656 4,656

Employee benefits
4,942 4,941
9,598 9,597

Total provisions 43,688 43,571

(a)  Movements in provisions

 Grant 
Recovery 

2014
Consolidated & parent $'000
Current 

1,280
708

(1,222)
766

Grant recovery
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Note 30.  Provisions (cont.)
(a)  Movements in provisions (cont.)

Make Good
2014

Consolidated & parent $'000
Non-current 

4,137
30

-
489

4,656

Leasehold improvements - make good

Consolidated Parent Entity
2014 2014

$'000 $'000
Note 31.  Borrowings

Non-current

2,846 2,846

2,846 2,846

Total borrowings 2,846 2,846

(a) Fair value

2,846 -
2,846 -

(b) Risk exposures

2014 2013
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Consolidated Parent Entity
2014 2014

$'000 $'000
Note 32.  Other liabilities

Current
18,083 18,083

15 15
1,931 1,931

346 346
1,605 1,555

21,980 21,930

Non-current
13,482 13,482
13,482 13,482

Total other liabilities 35,462 35,412

Note 33.  Reserves and retained surpluses

(a)  Reserves
85,659 85,659
7,816 7,692

50 -

Total reserves 93,525 93,351

Total reserves attributable to parent entity 93,525 93,351

Movements:
Property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus

85,650 85,650

- -
- -
- -
9 9

85,659 85,659
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Consolidated Parent Entity
2014 2014

$'000 $'000
Note 33.  Reserves and retained surpluses (cont.)

Available for sale financial assets reserve
7,385 7,222

430 470
7,815 7,692

Foreign currency translation reserve
41 -
9 -

50 -

(b)  Retained surplus

204,181 203,260
149,710 149,864

- -
353,891 353,124

(c)  Nature and purpose of reserves
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Note 34.  Key Management personnel and remuneration

(a)  Names of responsible persons and key executive management personnel

Official members Governor in Council appointed members

Additional Council appointed members

Elected member - Professional Staff

Elected member - Student
Elected member - Academic Staff

Subsidiaries
CQU Travel Centre Pty Ltd Health Train Education Services Pty Ltd

CQU Institute of Higher Learning Pte Ltd
C Management Services Pty Ltd

Central Queensland University Health Train Education Services Pty Ltd

C Management Services Pty Ltd

Key Executive Management Personnel 

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Members of the Council and Board Members of the consolidated entity
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Note 34.  Key Management personnel and remuneration (cont.)
(b)  Council and Board Members

University Council Members

CQU Travel Centre Pty Ltd Board Members

Australian International Campuses Pty Ltd Board Members

C Management Services Pty Ltd Board Member

Health Train Education Services Pty Ltd Board Members

CQU Institute of Higher Learning Pte Ltd Board Members
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Note 34.  Key Management personnel and remuneration (cont.)

(b) Council and Board Members (cont.)

  C Management Services Pty Ltd Board Members

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Position Contract classification 
and appointment 

authority 

Date appointed to position 
(Date resigned from position)

Responsibilities

Current Incumbents
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Note 34.  Key Management personnel and remuneration (cont.)

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

(b) Council and Board Members (cont.)

  C Management Services Pty Ltd Board Members (cont.)

(c) Remuneration of Council and Board Members

2014 2013
$ $
-
-
-
-
-

C Management Services Pty Ltd
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Note 34.  Key Management personnel and remuneration (cont.)

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

(c) Remuneration of Council and Board Members (cont.)

2014     C Management Services Pty Ltd
Long 
Term 

Employee 
Benefits

Post 
Employment 

Benefits

Termination 
Benefits

Total 
Remuneration

Base      
$'000

Non-
Monetary 
Benefits   

$'000

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

- - - - - -

2013     C Management Services Pty Ltd
Long 
Term 

Employee 
Benefits

Post 
Employment 

Benefits

Termination 
Benefits

Total 
Remuneration

Base      
$'000

Non-
Monetary 
Benefits   

$'000

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2014 2013 2014 2013
No. No. No. No.
21 19
- -

Total remuneration of Council Members and Board 
Members (excluding Key Executive Management 
Personnel)

Position

Short term Employee 
Benefits

Parent EntityConsolidated

Short term Employee 
Benefits

Position
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Note 34.  Key Management personnel and remuneration (cont.)

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

(d)  Key Executive Management Personnel 

ResponsibilitiesPosition Contract classification 
and appointment 

authority 

Date appointed to position 
(Date resigned from position)

Central Queensland University
Current Incumbents
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Note 34.  Key Management personnel and remuneration (cont.)

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

(d)  Key Executive Management Personnel (cont.)

Central Queensland University (cont.)
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Note 34.  Key Management personnel and remuneration (cont.)

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

(d)  Key Executive Management Personnel (cont.)

Date appointed to position 
(Date resigned from position)

Contract classification 
and appointment 

authority 

Responsibilities

C Management Services Pty Ltd
Current Incumbents

Position
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Note 34.  Key Management personnel and remuneration (cont.)

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

(d)  Key Executive Management Personnel (cont.)

(e)  Remuneration of Key Executive Management Personnel

Position Responsibilities

Current Incumbents

Contract classification 
and appointment 

authority 
Date appointed to position

Health Train Services Pty Ltd
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Note 34.  Key Management personnel and remuneration (cont.)

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

(e)  Remuneration of Key Executive Management Personnel (cont.)

2014 2014
$ $

2,313,132 2,104,761
58,018 53,269

357,169 325,238
- -

2,728,319 2,483,268

Long 
Term 

Employee 
Benefits

Post 
Employment 

Benefits

Termination 
Benefits

Total 
Remuneration

Base      
$'000

Non-
Monetary 
Benefits   

$'000

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

569

388

395

387

293

152

299

1,932 173 53 325 2,483

2014     Central Queensland University

Short term Employee 
Benefits

Position

Consolidated Parent Entity
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Note 34.  Key Management personnel and remuneration (cont.)

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

(e)  Remuneration of Key Executive Management Personnel (cont.)

Long 
Term 

Employee 
Benefits

Post 
Employment 

Benefits

Termination 
Benefits

Total 
Remuneration

Base      
$'000

Non-
Monetary 
Benefits   

$'000

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

-

Long 
Term 

Employee 
Benefits

Post 
Employment 

Benefits

Termination 
Benefits

Total 
Remuneration

Base      
$'000

Non-
Monetary 
Benefits   

$'000

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

91

154

200 8 5 32 245

Long 
Term 

Employee 
Benefits

Post 
Employment 

Benefits

Termination 
Benefits

Total 
Remuneration

Base      
$'000

Non-
Monetary 
Benefits   

$'000

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

576

373

Position

2014     Health Train Education Services Pty Ltd

Short term Employee 
Benefits

2013     Central Queensland University

Position

Short term Employee 
Benefits

Short term Employee 
Benefits

Position

2014     C Management Services Pty Ltd
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Note 34.  Key Management personnel and remuneration (cont.)

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

(e)  Remuneration of Key Executive Management Personnel (cont.)

Long 
Term 

Employee 
Benefits

Post 
Employment 

Benefits

Termination 
Benefits

Total 
Remuneration

Base      
$'000

Non-
Monetary 
Benefits   

$'000

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

381

353

353

457

107

441

289

1,950 201 61 388 731 3,331

2013     Central Queensland University (cont.)

Position

Short term Employee 
Benefits
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Note 34.  Key Management personnel and remuneration (cont.)

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

(e)  Remuneration of Key Executive Management Personnel (cont.)

Long 
Term 

Employee 
Benefits

Post 
Employment 

Benefits

Termination 
Benefits

Total 
Remuneration

Base      
$'000

Non-
Monetary 
Benefits   

$'000

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

-

-

-

281

-

223

285

488 14 54 233 789

Long 
Term 

Employee 
Benefits

Post 
Employment 

Benefits

Termination 
Benefits

Total 
Remuneration

Base      
$'000

Non-
Monetary 
Benefits   

$'000

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

213

Short term Employee 
Benefits

2013     C Management Services Pty Ltd

Position

2013     Health Train Education Services Pty Ltd

Position

Short term Employee 
Benefits
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Note 34.  Key Management personnel and remuneration (cont.)

(e) Remuneration of Key Executive Management Personnel (cont.)

2014 2013 2014 2013
No. No. No. No.
2 - - -
2 - 1 -
- 2 - -
- 2 - -
2 1 2 1
- 2 - 2
- 1 - 1
2 1 2 1
1 - 1
- 1 - 1
- 1 - 1
1 - 1 -
- 1 - 1

Consolidated Parent Entity

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014
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2014 2014
$ $

Note 35.  Remuneration of auditors

Assurance Services
1. Audit Services

300,700 256,500
Total remuneration for audit services 300,700 256,500

Note 36.  Contingencies

Contingent Liabilities

Consolidated Parent Entity

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Financial 
Accountability Act 2009
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(a) Capital commitments

2014 2014
Property, Plant and Equipment $'000 $'000

31,082 31,082
- -
- - - -

31,082 31,082
Intangible assets

144 144
- -
- - - -

144 144

Total capital commitments 31,226 31,226

(b) Lease commitments
Operating leases

421 421
563 563

- -
984 984

23,645 23,592
79,478 79,438
62,944 62,944

166,067 165,974

5,228 5,228
7,334 7,334

- -
12,562 12,562

Total operating lease commitments 153,505 153,413

(c) Other expenditure commitments

9,505 9,505
- -
- -

Total other expenditure commitments 9,505 9,505

Central Queensland University

for the year ended 31 December 2014
Notes to the Financial Statements

and Controlled Entities

Note 37.  Commitments

Consolidated Parent Entity
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Note 38.  Related Parties

(a) Parent entity

(b) Subsidiaries

(c) Key management personnel

(d) Transactions with related parties

2014 2014
$ $

Revenue received from controlled entities
- -
- 283,614

Expenses paid to controlled entities
- -
- 89,304
- 228,000
- 1,111,699
- -

Assets and liabilities transferred from controlled entities
- -
- -

(e) Outstanding balances

- 7,615

84,799 -

- - 8,636

(f) Guarantees

(g) Terms and conditions

Consolidated Parent

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014
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Note 39.  Business combinations and non-controlling interests

(a) Non-controlling interests
(i) Acquisition of additional interest

2014
$'000

-
-
-

Parent Entity

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

116 CQUNIVERSITY AUSTRALIA  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2014



Note 40.  Subsidiaries

Country of 
incorporation

Class of 
shares

2014

Note 41.  Events occurring after the balance sheet date

Equity holding

Name of entity and principal activities

CQU Travel Centre Pty Ltd

Australian International Campuses Trust

CQU Institute of Higher Learning Pte Ltd

Australian International Campuses Pty Ltd

Mask-Ed International Pty Ltd

C Management Services Pty Ltd

Health Train Education Services Pty Ltd

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

117CQUNIVERSITY AUSTRALIA  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2014



2014 2014
$'000 $'000

Note 42.     Reconciliation of net result after income 
tax to net cash provided by / (used in) operating 
activities                   

149,710 149,864
15,292 15,243

42 42
(354) (354)
(26) (26)
325 325

- -
(120,200) (120,200)

2,923 2,923
- -

78 -

(6,292) (5,811)
(90) (90)
499 -
(58) -

(2,185) (2,189)
4,670 4,498

(9,008) (9,052)
13,987 13,749
49,313 48,922

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the financial statements
31 December 2014

Consolidated Parent
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Note 43.  Financial risk management

(a)  Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

(ii) Price risk

(iii) Equity market risk

(iv) Interest rate risk

Summarised sensitivity analysis
Consolidated

Parent

(b)  Credit risk

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014
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Note 43.  Financial risk management (cont.)

(c)  Liquidity risk

Consolidated 
Fixed interest maturing in:

2014
Floating 
interest 

rate

1 year or 
less

Over 1 to 
2 years

Over 2 to 
3 years

Over 3 to 
4 years

Over 4 to 
5 years

Over 5 
years

Non-
interest 
bearing

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Financial assets

117,783 - - - - - - 43 117,826
- - - - - - - 17,380 17,380

- - - - - - - 11,145 11,145
- - - - - - - 2,121 2,121

- - - - - - - 135 135
117,783 - - - - - - 30,824 148,607

Financial liabilities
- - - - - - - 15,816 15,816
- - - - - - - 2,846 2,846
- - - - - - - 18,662 18,662

117,783 - - - - - - 12,162 129,945

2013

Financial assets

Financial liabilities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Weighted 
average 
interest 

rate

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities
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Note 44.  Fair value measurements

Consolidated

(a)  Fair value measurements

Financial assets

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities

Total financial liabilities

(b)  Fair value hierarchy

2,846

17,380

Fair Value

15,816

148,607

18,662

15,816

18,662

Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

17,380

Carrying Amount

$'000
2014

2,121

117,826

2014
$'000

135135

117,826

11,14511,145

148,607

2,846

2,121
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Note 44.  Fair value measurements (cont.)

Consolidated

Notes
Financial assets

Total financial assets

Non-financial assets

Total non-financial assets

Financial assets

Total financial assets

Non-financial assets

2,121 - - 2,121
135

3,252 -

Recurring fair value measurements

2,256

4,180 346,334

-27,263

-

2013

350,514

314,844

3,252
5,155 - 4,180 975

27,263
-
-

-

$000

(ii) Disclosed fair values

-135 -

-

11,145

11,145

$'000
2014

-

(i) Recognised fair value measurements

314,844

13,401

11,145 -
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Note 44.  Fair value measurements (cont.)

(b)  Fair value hierarchy (cont.)

(c)  Valuation techniques used to derive level 2 and level 3 fair values

(i) Recurring fair value measurements

(ii) Disclosed fair values (cont.)
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Note 44.  Fair value measurements (cont.)

(c)  Valuation techniques used to derive level 2 and level 3 fair values (cont.)

(d) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

Level 3 Fair value measurements 2014

Level 3 Fair value measurements 2013

(i) Transfers between levels 2 and 3 and changes in valuation techniques

219
348,591

247,782
-

111,768
(2,993)

135

6,524

7
(76)

(325)
219

6,349

111,761
(2,917)

241,045
-

Other level 3 
assets

Investments 
using the equity 

method

213
-
-
-

$'000 $'000 $'000

Total

$'000

(ii) Non-recurring fair value measurements

Land & Buildings 
& Infrastructure

-
342,107

(7,782) (78)
-

(8,185)

(i) Recurring fair value measurements (cont.)
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

(d) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3) (cont.)

(ii) Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value

(iii) Valuation processes
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Central Queensland University
and Controlled Entities

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

45.7  Australian Research Council Grants (cont.)

     (ii) Linkages

2014 2014
$'000 $'000

236 236

- -
236 236

129 129
365 365

(148) (148)
216 216

Projects Total

Note 45.  Acquittal of Australian Government financial assistance (cont.)

Note 45.  Acquittal of Australian Government financial assistance (cont.) 

2014
$'000

45.8 OS-HELP

169
(27)
142

1
143

45.9 Student Services and Amenities Fee

2,466
2,067
1,205
5,737

(1,433)
4,305

Parent Entity

Parent Entity
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GLOSSARY

ACRI Australian Centre for Rail Innovation
AGS Australian Graduate Survey
AIME Australian Indigenous Mentoring Experience
AM Member of the Order of Australia
AQF Australian Qualifi cations Framework
ARC Australian Research Council
BHP Broken Hill Proprietary Company Limited
BMA Billiton Mitsubishi Alliance
BNHCRC Bushfi re and Natural Hazards CRC
CAP-ED Community Aspirations Program
CBD Central Business District
COP Communities of practice
CQ Central Queensland
CQIRP Central Queensland Innovation and Research Precinct 
CQ TAFE Central Queensland TAFE
CQUNI CQUniversity
CRC Cooperative Research Centre
CRM Customer relationship management
CRN Collaborative Research Network
CVS Colour Vision Systems
CWLTH Commonwealth
DESC Distance education study centre
EFTSL Equivalent full-time student load
ELICOS English language intensive courses for overseas students
EMS Emergency medical service
ERA Excellence in Research for Australia
ESOS Education Services for Overseas Students Act 2000
FTE Full-time equivalent
GCA Graduate Careers Australia
GCTE Graduate Certifi cate in Tertiary Education
GPA Grade point average
HDR Higher degree by research
HEPPP Higher Education Participation and Partnerships Programme

HERDC Higher Education Research Data Collection
HEUG Higher Education User Group
IAS Indigenous Access Scholarship
ICAS Indigenous Commonwealth Accommodation Scholarship
ICECS Indigenous Commonwealth Education Costs Scholarship
ICT Information and communication technology
IMF International Monetary Fund
ISEP International Student Exchange Program
ISL Interactive system-wide learning
IT Information technology
IVTAE Industry, Vocational Training and Access Education
MAP Monitoring academic progress – monitors academically at-risk students
NHMRC National Health and Medical Research Council
NIRAKN National Indigenous Research and Knowledge Network
OAM Medal of the Order of Australia
OBE Order of the British Empire
PhD Doctor of Philosophy
PRPD Performance review and professional development
QTAC Queensland Tertiary Admissions Centre
QUT Queensland University of Technology
REC Regional Engagement Committee
RHD Research higher degree
ROC-Q Reach Out Central Queensland initiative
RTO Registered training organisation
SEE Skills for Education and Employment program
SES Socio-economic status
STEPS Skills for Tertiary Education Preparatory Studies
SUN Start Uni Now
TAFE Technical and Further Education
TEP Tertiary Entry Program
UN United Nations
VET Vocational education and training
WIL Work-integrated learning
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